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Corporate Information

NagaCorp Ltd. (“NagaCorp” or the “Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is the 
largest hotel, gaming and leisure operator in Cambodia, and the Company has been listed on The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 2006. NagaCorp was the first 
company with operations in Cambodia to become a public listed entity and the first gaming-
related company traded on the Stock Exchange. Our flagship, NagaWorld, is Phnom Penh’s only 
integrated hotel-casino entertainment complex and we enjoy a 70-year casino licence that will 
run until 2065, as well as a 41-year monopoly within a 200-km radius of Phnom Penh (except 
the Cambodia-Vietnam border area, Bokor, Kirirom Mountains and Sihanoukville) that expires in 
2035.
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Investor Relations

We acknowledge the importance of maintaining communication with our shareholders 
and investors through channels like annual reports, interim reports, press releases and 
announcements. Our annual reports contain details of financial and other information about the 
Company’s activities. We welcome enquiries about the Company’s activities and will handle them 
in a timely fashion.

Listing
The Company’s shares of US$0.0125 each (the 
“Shares”) have been listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange since 19 October 2006.

2016 Annual Report
This annual repor t,  in both English and 
Chinese, is available in printed form and on 
the Company’s website – www.nagacorp.com

Stock Code
3918

Registered Office
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business in 
Cambodia
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Phnom Penh, 12301
P.O. Box 1099 Phnom Penh
Kingdom of Cambodia
Tel: +855 23 228822 Fax: +855 23 217532
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Hong Kong
Suite 2806, 28/F
Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2877 3918 Fax: +852 2523 5475

Principal Share Registrar and 
Transfer Office
Codan Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
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Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Branch Share Registrar and 
Transfer Office
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services 
 Limited
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Chief Executive Officer
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Investor Relations (Asia Pacific) & 
Corporate Finance
Gerard Chai, Vice President

Investor Relations (North America)
Kevin Nyland, Vice President

Investor Relations (Europe, Middle 
East & Africa)
David Ellis

Company Website
www.nagacorp.com



4 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Financial Highlights
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Chairman’s Statement

million visitors in 2016 compared to 2015, with 
arrivals through Phnom Penh International 
Airport increasing by 10%. Visitors originating 
from Vietnam (19%), China (17%) and Thailand 
(8%), together accounted for 44% of total 
arrivals to Cambodia. Visitors from China 
increased by 20% year-on-year to 830,003 
visitors in 2016 (Source: Ministry of Tourism, 
Cambodia). Visitor growth continues to be one 
of the growth drivers of the Group’s business.

The increase in international arrivals into 
Ca m b o d i a wa s d r i ve n by t h e co u nt r y ’s 
political stability, an abundance of business 
opportunities in an emerging market, and 
increasing appeal as a travel destination.

The Cambodian economy also continued to 
register stable growth during the Year. The 
International Monetary Fund is projecting 
real growth in Cambodia’s Gross Domestic 
Product (“GDP”) of 7.0% in 2016 and 6.9% in 
2017 along with inflation of 3.1% and 2.7%, 
respectively.

Dear Shareholders,
We are pleased to report that NagaCorp 
continued to generate positive operational 
and financial results for shareholders during 
2016 with net profit of US$184 million, a 7% 
increase over last year. Gross Gaming Revenue 
(“GGR”) for the year ended 31 December 
2016 (the “Year”) increased by 4% to US$501 
million, compared to a 3% decline for Macau. 
Our positive results were attributed to a 
combination of solid business strategy and 
acumen, operational and execution efficiency, 
and an increasingly vibrant tourism market 
in a politically stable country, leading to 
an increase in business volume across all 
segments of the gaming business. Today we 
operate the largest integrated leisure and 
gaming entertainment destination in the 
Mekong Region.

Steady Tourism and Local Economic 
Growth
Visitation to Cambodia continued to grow with 
international arrivals increasing by 5.0% to 5.0 

Timothy Patrick McNally
Chairman
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Strategic Positioning for Regional 
Leadership
The Group continued to achieve growth 
in the Mass Market segment where Public 
Floor Tables buy-ins and electronic gaming 
machines (“EGM”) bills-in increased by 12% 
and 9%, respectively. This business volume 
growth is attributable to tourism growth 
into Cambodia, generating increased footfall 
into NagaWorld. During the Year, Public Floor 
Tables revenue grew by 7%, as a result of 12% 
increase in buy-ins. EGM revenue grew by 6%, 
as a result of a 9% increase in bills-in and the 
receipt of a fee of US$60.0 million (“2016 EGM 
Fee”) from an investor for the placement and 
operation of EGM in NagaWorld.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s loyalty 
program, the Golden Edge Rewards Club had 
approximately 16,041 active Mass Market 
members (31 December 2015: 15,500). The 
Group continues its efforts to understand its 
members’ profile, create targeted marketing 
promotions and rollout player development 
initiatives to increase the number of visitors 
and the amount of gaming spending.

The Group’s VIP Market comprises players 
brought in by junkets, who are either under a 

commission or incentive program, and direct 
players without an intermediary. The overseas 
junket incentive program introduced in March 
2013 has since enabled the Group to increase 
existing table limits while managing volatility 
and credit risk. VIP rollings increased by 11% 
to US$8.7 billion with a win rate of 2.6%. 
Since January 2016, the Group had revised its 
overseas junket incentive program to improve 
its margins.

Non-gaming revenue increased by 33% to 
US$30.7 million, primarily resulting from 
higher occupancy and average rates as well 
as better performance across all the food and 
beverage (“F&B”) outlets.

During the Year, we continued our efforts to 
provide internationally recognized products 
and services to both gaming and non-gaming 
patrons while continuing to grow market share 
through our unique position in the region. 
The opening of NagaCity Walk in August 2016 
marked a significant step in the Company’s 
development. NagaCity Walk will enhance the 
overall retail experience available to guests 
and further strengthen NagaWorld’s appeal 
to both the VIP and Mass markets. China Duty 
Free Group (“CDFG”), the largest duty-free 
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Chairman’s Statement

Maintaining Competitive Dividend 
Yield
As a top-performing gaming stock on the 
Stock Exchange, NagaCorp continues to deliver 
profitability and business volume growth at 
an impressive level compared to other gaming 
operations in the region.

The board of directors of the Company (the 
“Board”) has resolved to declare payment of a 
final dividend and distribution of US cent 0.82 
per Share/Conversion Share (or equivalent to 
HK cents 6.36 per Share/Conversion Share) for 
the Year (the “Final Dividend and Distribution”). 
The proposed Final Dividend and Distribution, 
together with the inter im dividend and 
distribution, the sum of which is US cents 3.59 
per Share/Conversion Share (or equivalent 
to HK cents 27.82) represents a dividend and 
distribution payout ratio of 60%, based on 
the net profit generated for the Year. The final 
dividend will be paid on Monday, 15 May 2017, 
subject to the approval of the shareholders 
of the Company (the “Shareholders”) at the 
annual general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 
25 April 2017 (the “2017 AGM”).

operator in China, has leased about 3,800 
square meters in NagaCity Walk to operate 
duty-free shopping on the premises.  In 
addition, the expected opening of the TSCLK 
complex in 2017 is expected to enhance 
NagaWorld’s appeal to both the VIP and Mass 
markets across the region.

NagaCity Walk was completed and acquired 
by t h e Co m p a ny o n 1 7 M ay 2 0 1 6 .  Th e 
TSCLK Complex (also known as Naga2) was 
completed and acquired by the Company on 
30 December 2016. It is undergoing fit-out and 
is expected to be operational in 2017.

Based on the current state of development, 
our gaming and resort development project 
in Vladivostok, Russia remains broadly on 
schedule for operation by 2019. We have 
established an office at the city center and a 
number of key personnel have been appointed 
to monitor various aspects of the progress of 
the project. We believe our strategy to diversify 
our business geographically and expand into 
new casino markets will drive revenue growth 
in the long term.

Chairman & CEO’s Statement
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Environmental and Social 
Responsibility 
For many years, NagaCorp has been recognized 
for its leadership in environmental and social 
responsibility. This year was no different. We 
will continue our journey of being a good 
corporate citizen and striving for excellence to 
uphold our responsible position in the country.

Corporate Governance
NagaCorp has engaged an independent 
professional party to review the internal 
co nt ro l s  o f  t h e G ro u p w i t h a  fo c u s o n 
anti-money laundering. The independent 
professional party has issued its findings in a 
report, details of which are enclosed in this 
annual report. The Company has also engaged 
another professional par ty, Polit ical and 
Economic Risk Consultancy, Ltd., to assess the 
investment risks in Cambodia and its findings 
are set out in this annual report.

Our Appreciation
T h e B o a rd wo u l d l i k e  t o  e x p re s s  t h e i r 
appreciation to our employees for their hard 
work and dedication, and to our Shareholders, 
customers, and suppliers for their continued 
support.

Timothy Patrick McNally
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Market Review
The Cambodian economy continued to register 
stable growth. The International Monetary 
Fund is projecting real growth in Cambodia’s 
GDP of 7.0% in 2016 and 6.9% in 2017 along 
with inflation of 3.1% and 2.7%, respectively.

Visitation to Cambodia continued to grow 
with international arrivals increasing by 5.0% 
in 2016 to 5.0 million visitors, with arrivals 
through Phnom Penh International Airport 
increasing by 10%. Visitors originating from 
Vietnam (19%), China (17%) and Thailand (8%), 
together accounted for 44% of total arrivals 
to Cambodia. Visitors from China increased by 
20% year-on-year to 830,003 visitors in 2016 
(Source: Ministry of Tourism, Cambodia). Visitor 
growth continues to be one of the growth 
drivers of the Group’s business.

N a g a W o r l d ,  w h i c h  i s  s i t u a t e d  i n  t h e 
Cambodian capital c ity of Phnom Penh, 
recorded GGR growth of 4%, compared to 
a 3% decline for Macau. For the Year, the 
Group’s net profit increased by 7% to US$184.2 
million. The positive results were attributable 
to an increase in business volume across all 
segments of the gaming business. In addition, 
the Group earned a fee of US$60.0 million 
from electronic gaming in 2016 which was 
recorded as EGM revenue for the Year. As at 31 
December 2016, NagaWorld had 241 gaming 
tables and 1,648 EGM in place.



11NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Business Review
Table 1: Performance Highlights
For the Year and comparative prior year:

2016 2015 Increase
US$’000 US$’000 %

Mass Market: Public Floor Tables
– Buy-ins 617,799 550,177 12

 

– Win rate 21.0% 22.0%
 

– Revenue 129,669 120,821 7
 

– No. of tables at end of year 87 87
 

Mass Market: EGM
– Bills-in 1,498,874 1,370,652 9

 

– Win rate 8.2% 9.8%
 

– Revenue 145,513 136,834 6
 

– No. of machines at end of year 1,648 1,656
 

VIP Market
– Rollings 8,714,097 7,875,918 11

 

– Win rate 2.6% 2.8%
 

– Revenue 225,655 222,945 1
 

Gross Gaming Revenue 500,837 480,600 4
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Mass Market (Public Floor Tables and EGM)
The Group continued to achieve growth in 
the Mass Market segment where Public Floor 
Tables buy-ins and EGM bills-in increased 
by 12% and 9%, respectively. This business 
volume growth is attributable to tourism 
growth into Cambodia, generating increased 
footfall into NagaWorld.

During the Year, Public Floor Tables revenue 
grew by 7%, as a result of 12% increase in buy-
ins. EGM revenue grew by 6%, as a result of a 
9% increase in bills-in and the receipt of the 
2016 EGM Fee.

The Group, via its Golden Edge Rewards Club 
loyalty program, continues to understand its 
members’ profile, create targeted marketing 
promotions and rollout player development 
initiatives to increase the number of visitors 
and the amount of gaming spending.

VIP Market
The Group’s VIP Market comprises players 
brought in by junkets, who are either under a 
commission or incentive program, and direct 
players without an intermediary. The overseas 
junket incentive program introduced in March 
2013 has since enabled the Group to increase 
existing table limits while managing volatility 
and credit risk.

VIP rollings increased by 11% to US$8.7 billion 
with a win rate of 2.6%. In January 2016, the 
Group revised its overseas junket incentive 
program to improve its margins.

Non-Gaming – Hotel, Food & Beverage and 
Entertainment
Non-gaming revenue increased by 33% to 
US$30.7 mill ion, primarily resulting from 
higher occupancy and average rates as well as 
better performance across all the F&B outlets.

Revenue and Gross Profit Analysis
Table 2(a)

Revenue Gross Profit Gross Profit Margin
2016 US$’m % US$’m % %

Mass Market 275.2 52 270.5 74 98
VIP Market 225.7 42 72.0 19 32
Non-Gaming 30.7 6 24.3 7 79

     

Total 531.6 100 366.8 100 69
     

Table 2(b)

Revenue Gross Profit Gross Profit Margin
2015 US$’m % US$’m % %

Mass Market 257.7 51 248.7 76 97
VIP Market 222.9 44 60.9 19 27
Non-Gaming 23.1 5 18.2 5 79

Total 503.7 100 327.8 100 65
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The Group recorded a gross profit increase of 
12% to US$366.8 million for the Year. Overall 
gross profit margin increased to 69% (2015: 
65%). VIP gross profit increased by 18% as VIP 
rollings increased by 11%. The increase in gross 
profit of the Mass Market by 9% to US$270.5 
million was driven by higher Public Floors 
Tables buy-ins, EGM bill-ins and the receipt of 
the 2016 EGM Fee. The Mass Market continued 
to generate a high gross profit margin of 98%.

Administrative and Other Operating 
Expenses (Before Impairment Losses, 
Depreciation and Amortisation)
Administrative and other operating expenses 
before impairment losses, depreciation and 
amortisation increased by 10% to US$114.4 
mill ion during the Year. This increase in 
expenses is in l ine with higher business 
volume across a l l  segments.  The Group 
continued to hire experienced and qualified 
staff to facilitate regional marketing efforts 
and ongoing proper ty enhancements at 
NagaWorld.

Finance Costs
The Group did not incur any finance costs 
during the Year.

Net Profit
Net profit attributable to the shareholders of 
the Group, or net profit, increased by 7% to 
US$184.2 million for the Year. Net profit margin 
for the Year increased marginally to 35% 
attributed to better cost control and the 2016 
EGM Fee.

Basic earnings per share were US cents 7.89 
(HK cents 61.15) and US cents 7.58 (HK cents 
58.75) (re-presented) for the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Diluted earnings per share were US cents 7.04 
(HK cents 54.56) and US cents 7.58 (HK cents 
58.75) (re-presented) for the years ended 31 
December 2016 and 2015, respectively.

Financial Review
Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a 
Promissory Notes amounting to US$8.6 million 
(31 December 2015: US$6.9 million) pledged 
for issuance of a bank guarantee.

Contingent Liabilities
Based on the formula stated in clause 3.3 of 
the service agreement entered into between 
the Company and Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 
(“Dr Chen”), the chief executive officer of the 
Company (the “CEO”), the parties acknowledge 
and agree that Dr Chen will be entitled to a 
performance bonus of US$8,051,000 (the “2015 
Bonus Entitlement”) and US$9,011,037 (the 
“2016 Bonus Entitlement”) for the financial 
years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board 
on 1 February 2016, the Board considered the 
matter relating to the payment of the 2015 
Bonus Entitlement and resolved to appeal 
to the generosity and good judgement of Dr 
Chen to defer such obligation. The Company 
and Dr Chen agreed that it was in the interests 
of the Company to defer the 2015 Bonus 
Entitlement to subsequent years until the 
achievement of certain key per formance 
indicators (the “KPIs”) set for the Year. The 
Company and Dr Chen agreed that subject 
to the achievement of the KPIs, the deferral 
of the 2015 Bonus Entitlement should be 
extended to the Year and the financial year 
ending 31 December 2017 and beyond at the 
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Management Discussion and Analysis

sole election of Dr Chen and that the parties 
shall negotiate in good faith a reasonable 
timeframe which is in the best interests of 
the Company. Pursuant to a resolution passed 
by the Board on 8 February 2017, the Board 
further resolved to appeal to the generosity 
and good judgement of Dr Chen to defer the 
2015 Bonus Entitlement. The Company and 
Dr Chen agreed that it is in the interests of 
the Company to further defer the 2015 Bonus 
Entitlement until the achievement of certain 
KPIs set for the year ending 31 December 2017.

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the 
Board on 8 February 2017, the Board also 
considered the matter relating to the 2016 
Bonus Entitlement and resolved to appeal 
to the generosity and good judgement of Dr 
Chen to defer the 2016 Bonus Entitlement. 
The Company and Dr Chen agreed that it is 
in the interests of the Company to defer the 
2016 Bonus Entitlement to subsequent years 
until the achievement of certain KPIs set 
for the year ending 31 December 2017. The 
Company and Dr Chen agreed that subject to 
the achievement of the KPIs, the deferral of the 
2016 Bonus Entitlement should be extended 
to the financial year ending 31 December 
2017 and that the parties should negotiate in 
good faith a reasonable timeframe which is in 
the best interests of the Company. For record 
purposes, Dr Chen has foregone bonus of 
US$18,600,000 from the financial years 2010 to 
2014.

E xce p t  fo r  t h e a b ove a n d a s  d i s c l o s e d 
elsewhere in the Group’s financial statements, 
there were no other contingent liabilities as at 
31 December 2016.

Exchange Rate Risk
The Group’s income is earned principally in 
United States dollars. The Group’s expenditure 
is paid principally in United States dollars 
and to a lesser extent in Cambodian Riel and 
Russian Ruble. The Group therefore does 
not have any significant exposure to foreign 
currency risk and therefore has not entered 
into any currency hedging transactions.

Issue of New Shares
As disclosed in the Company’s announcement 
dated 1 September 2016 (the “Announcement’) 
relating to the placing of existing Shares 
and top -up subscr ipt ion of new Shares 
under the general mandate (the “ Top-up 
Placing and Subscr ipt ion”)  and another 
announcement dated 9 September 2016 
concerning the completion of the Top-up 
Placing and Subscription, pursuant to the 
Placing and Subscription Agreement dated 1 
September 2016 (the “Placing and Subscription 
Agreement ”) ,  the Company al lotted and 
issued 190,000,000 new ordinary Shares (the 
“Subscription Shares”) of US$0.0125 each at 
a subscription price of HK$5.00 per Share 
to Fourth Star Finance Corp., a substantial 
shareholder of the Company, on 9 September 
2016 fo l lowing complet ion of  the top -
up placing of an aggregate of 190,000,000 
existing Shares (the “Placing Shares”) to 
not less than six independent investors at a 
placing price of HK$5.00 each.

As disclosed in the Announcement,  the 
subscription price for the Subscription Shares, 
which was equal to the placing price for the 
Placing Shares, represented a discount of 
approximately 8.9% to the closing price of 
HK$5.49 per Share as quoted on the Stock 
Exchange on 31 August 2016, being the last 
trading day prior to the signing of the Placing 
and Subscription Agreement.
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Pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
the Placing and Subscription Agreement, 
190,000,000 Subscription Shares were allotted 
and issued under the general mandate granted 
to the Directors by its Shareholders at the 
annual general meeting of the Company held 
on 20 April 2016.

As disclosed in the Announcement,  the 
Directors had considered various ways of 
raising funds and had considered that it would 
be in the interests of the Company to raise 
equity funding via the Top-up Placing and 
Subscription to broaden its shareholder base, 
strengthen the capital base and to enhance its 
financial position and net assets base for long-
term development and growth. The Directors 
(including the independent non-executive 
Directors) had also considered the terms of 
the Placing and Subscription Agreement to 
be fair and reasonable in light of the market 
conditions at that time, and the Top-up Placing 
and Subscription to be in the interests of the 
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

As disclosed in the Announcement,  the 
net proceeds from the Top-up Placing and 
Subscription amounting to approximately 
HK$930.0 million (or equivalent to US$120.0 
million) (the “Net Proceeds”) (equivalent to 
a net price of approximately HK$4.89 per 
Subscription Share) were intended to be used 
for the fit-out of the TSCLK Complex, which is 
expected to be operational in 2017, and for 
general corporate purposes.

During the Year, approximately 16% of the 
Net Proceeds had been utilized or deployed in 
accordance with the intended use as disclosed 
in the Announcement.

Issue of Convertible Bonds
O n  1 7  M a y  2 0 1 6 ,  t h e  G r o u p  a c q u i r e d 
TanSriChen (Citywalk) Inc. and its wholly-
owned subsidiary (collectively the “Citywalk 
Group”) which is the owner of NagaCity 
Walk, an underground linkway connecting 
NagaWorld Hotel and TSCLK Complex (also 
k nown as Naga2) ,  at a consideration of 
US$94.0 million which was satisfied by the 
issuance of the NagaCity Walk Convertible 
Bonds by the Company in accordance with 
the terms of the share purchase agreement 
dated 13 June 2011, as supplemented by 
supplemental agreements dated 28 December 
2 0 1 1  a n d  2 8  D e c e m b e r  2 0 1 5 ,  e n t e r e d 
into between the Company and Dr Chen 
(collectively referred to as the “Share Purchase 
Agreement”).

On 30 December 2016, the Group acquired 
TanSriChen Inc. which is the owner of the 
TSCLK Complex (also known as Naga2). The 
agreed consideration for the transaction of 
US$275.0 million was settled by way of issue 
of the TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds 
by the Company in accordance with the 
terms of the Share Purchase Agreement. The 
TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds constitute 
a separate series from the NagaCity Walk 
Convertible Bonds.



16 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Management Discussion and Analysis

Under the Share Purchase Agreement, the 
initial conversion price was HK$1.8376 per 
Conversion Share. In the period since 13 June 
2011 and up to the date of this annual report, 
the Company has completed two placing of 
new Shares (in March 2013 and September 
2016) and effected on-market buy-backs 
of Shares (in December 2014 and January 
2015, with all such Shares being cancelled in 
December 2015). Both the placings and buy-
backs resulted in a change in the nominal 
value of the issued share capital of the 
Company and therefore each constitutes a 
capital restructuring. Pursuant to the terms of 
the Share Purchase Agreement, the conversion 
price of the NagaCity Walk Convertible Bonds 
and the TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds 
(collectively referred to as the “Convertible 
Bonds”), respectively has been adjusted to 
HK$1.5301 as a result of the various capital 
restructuring events since 13 June 2011, 
which would have resulted in an aggregate 
of 1,881,019,166 New Shares (“Conversion 
Shares”) being issued were these two separate 
series of the Convertible Bonds converted in 
full then (assuming there is no change in the 
nominal value of the issued share capital of 
the Company following the date of this annual 
report).

Pursuant to the terms of the two series of 
Convertible Bonds, the conversion price and 
the number of Conversion Shares are subject 
to further adjustment in the event of any 
future capital restructuring.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing
As at 31 December 2016, the Group had total 
cash and cash equivalents of US$210.9 million 
(31 December 2015: US$143.1 million).

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 
net current assets of US$245.3 million (31 
December 2015: US$153.9 million). The Group 
had net assets of US$1.3 billion as at 31 
December 2016 (31 December 2015: US$686.6 
million).

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 
2 0 1 5  r e s p e c t i v e l y ,  t h e  G r o u p  h a d  n o 
outstanding external borrowings. The Group 
has continued to remain ungeared.

Capital and Reserves
As at 31 December 2016, the capital and 
re s e r ve s  at t r i b u t a b l e  to ow n e r s  o f  t h e 
Company was US$1.3 billion (31 December 
2015: US$686.6 million).

Employees and Remuneration Policy
As at 31 December 2016, the Group employed 
a total work force of 6,153 (31 December 2015: 
5,763), stationed in Cambodia, China, Hong 
Kong, Macau, Malaysia, Singapore, Thailand, 
the United Kingdom, the United States, 
Vietnam and Russia. The remuneration and 
staff costs for the Year were US$63.4 million (31 
December 2015: US$56.8 million).
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Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, 
contr ibutions to a def ined contr ibution 
retirement scheme and cost to the Group of 
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the Year 
in which the associated services are rendered 
by employees of the Group. Where payment or 
settlement is deferred and the effect of such 
would be material, these amounts are stated at 
their present value.

Details of the number and remuneration of 
employees, remuneration policies, bonus 
and training schemes are provided in the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Report 
on pages 28 to 49 of this annual report.

The Company has adopted share option 
schemes, under which the Company may grant 
share options to employees for subscribing for 
the Company’s shares.

Trade Receivables and Credit Policy
The Group continues to monitor changes 
in trade receivables. Net trade receivables 
increase from US$11.6 million to US$28.0 
million during the Year.

During the Year, the Group prudently made 
provision for impairment loss of US$2.1 million 
(2015: US$1.1 million).

The Group has adhered to strict credit policies 
implemented since 2009. From time to time, 
the Group will review its policies to ensure that 
they are competitive and are in line with the 
Group’s risk management strategy. During the 
Year, the credit policy for gaming receivables 
was five to thirty days from end of tour while 
the credit policy on non-gaming receivables 
remained as thirty days from end of month.

Significant Investments Held and Material 
Acquisitions of Subsidiaries
On 17 May 2016, the Group acquired the 
C i t y w a l k  G ro u p w h i c h i s  t h e ow n e r  o f 
NagaCity Walk , an underground l inkway 
connecting NagaWorld Hotel and Naga2, 
at a consideration of US$94.0 million which 
was satisfied by the issuance of the NagaCity 
Walk Convertible Bonds by the Company 
in accordance with the terms of the Share 
Purchase Agreement.

On 30 December 2016, the Group acquired 
TanSriChen Inc. which is the owner of the 
TSCLK Complex (also known as Naga2). The 
agreed consideration for the transaction of 
US$275.0 million was settled by way of issue 
of the TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds 
by the Company in accordance with the 
terms of the Share Purchase Agreement. The 
TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds constitute 
a separate series from the NagaCity Walk 
Convertible Bonds.

As disclosed under the heading “Issue of 
Convertible Bonds”, the conversion price 
of the NagaCity Walk Conver tible Bonds 
and the TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds, 
respectively has been adjusted to HK$1.5301, 
which would have resulted in an aggregate 
of 1,881,019,166 Conversion Shares being 
issued were these two separate series of the 
Convertible Bonds converted in full then 
(assuming there is no change in the nominal 
value of the issued share capital of the 
Company following the date of this annual 
report).
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Immediately following the completion of 
the acquisitions, the Citywalk Group and 
Ta n S r i C h e n I n c .  b e c a m e w h o l l y - ow n e d 
subsidiaries of the Company and the financial 
re s u l t s  o f  t h e s e  c o m p a n i e s  h a ve b e e n 
consolidated into the Group.

Events after Reporting Year
No major subsequent events has occurred 
since the end of the Year and up to the date of 
this annual report.

Project Updates and Prospects
Update on NagaCity Walk and Naga2
Reference is made to the announcements 
of the Company dated 13 June 2011, 28 
December 2011 and 29 December 2015, and 
a circular dated 30 December 2011, in relation 
to the acquisition by the Company of the 
NagaCity Walk Project and the TSCLK Complex 
Project.

As disclosed in the announcement of the 
Company dated 29 December 2015, the 
Company and Dr Chen entered into a second 
supplemental agreement on 28 December 
2015 to extend the completion date for the 
sale and purchase of the NagaCity Walk and 
the TSCLK Complex from 13 June 2016 to a 
date falling on or before 31 December 2017 (or 
such other date as the Company and Dr Chen 
may agree in writing).

On 17 May 2016, pursuant to the Share 
Purchase Agreement, Dr Chen notified the 
Company of his election of split completion, 
whereby the NagaCity Walk completion would 
take place in advance of the TSCLK Complex 
completion. The NagaCity Walk completion, 
comprising the transfer of the entire issued 
share capital of TanSriChen (Citywalk) Inc. to 
the Company and the issue of the NagaCity 
Walk Convertible Bonds to Dr Chen took place 
on 17 May 2016.

Located right next to NagaWorld, NagaCity 
Walk offers duty-free shopping operated by 
CDFG, the largest duty-free operator in China, 
as its anchor tenant. CDFG has leased about 
3,800 square metres in the NagaCity Walk to 
operate duty-free shopping which opened in 
August 2016.

On 30 December 2016, pursuant to the Share 
Purchase Agreement, Dr Chen elected for the 
consideration for the completion of the TSCLK 
Complex acquisition to be settled by way of 
issue of the TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds. 
Accordingly, the TSCLK Complex completion, 
comprising the transfer of entire issued share 
capital of TanSriChen Inc. to the Company and 
the issue of the TSCLK Complex Convertible 
Bonds to Dr Chen, took place on 30 December 
2016.
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The TSCLK Complex (also known as Naga2) 
is undergoing fit-out and is expected to 
be operational in 2017. The Group believes 
that the opening of Naga2 with provision of 
ancillary entertainment facilities will enhance 
NagaWorld’s appeal to both the Mass Market 
and VIP Market across the region and further 
cement NagaWorld as the entertainment 
centre in Mekong Region for the benefits of all 
Shareholders.

Update on the Investment Project in 
Vladivostok
Piling work on site commenced in 2016 in 
respect of the Group’s gaming and resort 
development project in Vladivostok, Russia; 
while an office has been established in the city 
centre and a certain number of key personnel 
have been appointed to monitor various 
aspects of the progress of the project, which is 
scheduled for operation in 2019.

The Group believes that its strategy to diversify 
its business geographically and expand into 
new casino markets will drive revenue growth 
in the long term.

Prospects
Cambodia continues to attract visitors from 
Asia and other nations; benefiting from its 
appeal as a tourism destination and the 
abundance of business opportunities that 
exist in an emerging economy with political 
stability. In order to provide convenience 
for investors and increase investment in 
Cambodia, the government of Cambodia 
is now offering three-year, multiple-entry 
visas to Chinese, South Korean and Japanese 

investors  (S ource :  Phnom Penh Post ,  2 
December 2016). Poised to benefit from this 
growth is NagaWorld, which is one of the main 
tourist destinations located in the city centre 
of Phnom Penh and the entertainment centre 
for the Mekong region.

According to Ministry of Tourism Cambodia, 
Cambodia is targeting to attract up to 7.0 
mill ion visitors, of which 2.0 mill ion are 
Chinese visitors by 2020 (Source: Khmer 
Times, 4 January 2017). The 11% increase in 
VIP rollings during the Year demonstrates the 
success of NagaWorld’s incentive program 
in promoting NagaWorld to a wider range of 
operators and players in the region. The Group 
aspires to further penetrate the regional VIP 
Market, by offering attractive commercial 
terms to junket operators and agents as a 
result of NagaWorld’s low cost structure.

The Group continued its efforts to provide 
internationally recognised products and 
services to both gaming and non-gaming 
patrons whilst continuing to grow market 
share through its unique position in the region. 
The opening of the NagaCity Walk in August 
2016 marked a significant step in the Group’s 
development. NagaCity Walk, is Phnom Penh’s 
first downtown duty-free shopping mall, which 
strive to enhances the overall retail experience 
available to patrons and further strengthens 
NagaWorld’s appeal to both the VIP Market 
and Mass Market. In addition, the expected 
opening of the TSCLK Complex (also known 
as Naga2) in 2017 is expected to enhance 
NagaWorld’s appeal to both the Mass Market 
and VIP Market across the region and further 
cement NagaWorld as the entertainment 
centre in the Mekong Region.
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Interim and Final Dividend and 
Distribution
The Board recommends the payment of a 
final dividend of US cent 0.82 per Share (or 
equivalent to HK cents 6.36 per Share) for the 
Year to Shareholders whose names appear 
on the Company’s register of members on 
Tuesday, 2 May 2017. Subject to the approval 
of the Shareholders at the 2017 AGM, the 
final dividend is expected to be paid to 
Shareholders by post on or about Monday, 15 
May 2017.

Pursuant to the terms and conditions of 
the Convertible Bonds, distributions on the 
Convertible Bonds shall be equal to the 
dividends that would otherwise have been 
paid on the Conversion Shares. Distributions 
shall be paid to the holder of the Convertible 
B onds on the same date on which the 
relevant dividend is paid to the Shareholders. 
Accordingly, the Board has also resolved to 

declare payment of a distribution to the holder 
of the Convertible Bonds of US cent 0.82 per 
Conversion Share (or equivalent to HK cents 
6.36 per Conversion Share) for the Year subject 
to the approval by the Shareholders of the 
final dividend payment at the 2017 AGM. 
Distribution on the Convertible Bonds will 
be paid to the holder shown on the register 
of bondholders at the close of business on 
Monday, 8 May 2017, pursuant to the terms 
and conditions of the Convertible Bonds.

The proposed Final Dividend and Distribution 
together with the inter im dividend and 
distribution for the six months ended 30 June 
2016 of US cents 2.77 per Share/Conversion 
Share (or equivalent to HK cents 21.47 per 
Share/Conversion Share) paid on Tuesday, 13 
September 2016, amounts to a total dividend/
distribution declared for the Year of US cents 
3.59 per Share/Conversion Share (or equivalent 
to HK cents 27.82 per Share/Conversion Share).
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Closure of Register of Members 
and Registers of Bondholders
For the purpose of determining the following 
entitlements:

1. 2017 AGM
The register of members will be closed 
on Monday, 24 April 2017 and Tuesday, 
25 April 2017, both dates inclusive, 
during which period no transfer of 
Shares will be registered. In order to 
qualify for attending and voting at 
the 2017 AGM, all transfer documents 
accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s branch share registrar in 
Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong 
Investor Ser vices Limited at Shops 
1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 
21 April 2017.

2. Proposed Final Dividend
The register of members will be closed 
on Tuesday, 2 May 2017. The ex-dividend 
date will be Thursday, 27 April 2017. 
In order to qualify for the proposed 
final dividend, all transfer documents 
accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates must be lodged with the 
Company’s branch share registrar in 
H o n g K o n g,  Co m p u te r s h a re H o n g 
Kong Investor Services Limited at the 
abovementioned address not later than 
4:30 p.m. on Friday, 28 April 2017.

3. Distribution for the Year
Pursuant to the terms and conditions 
of the Convertible Bonds, the register 
of bondholders will be closed from 
Tuesday, 2 May 2017 to Monday, 8 May 
2017, during which period no transfer of 
Convertible Bonds will be registered.
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Timothy Patrick McNally
Chairman
Timothy Patrick McNally, aged 69, joined the 
Company in February 2005 as chairman of 
the Board. He also serves as chairman of the 
AML Oversight Committee of the Company. 
From April 1999 until October 2005, Mr. 
McNally was the executive director of Security 
and Corporate Legal Services for the Hong 
Kong Jockey Club. He was a member of the 
Executive Board of Management responsible 
for corporate governance issues.

Mr. McNally is currently an international 
security consultant and is the chairman of B2G 
Global Strategies headquartered in California. 
Mr. McNally was a Special Agent of the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) for almost 25 
years. His career focused on the investigation 
and prosecution of serious crimes including 
organized crime, drug trafficking, public 
corruption and fraud matters.

During his career with the FBI, Mr. McNally was 
assigned for two years as a legislative counsel 
by the FBI to handle issues arising with the 
US Congress. Mr. McNally held several senior 
positions within the FBI and was the head of 
the FBI’s Los Angeles Office at the time of his 
departure. During the period 1993 through 
1999, he was cited on numerous occasions 
for exceptional leadership and meritorious 
per formance by the director of the FBI , 
Attorney General, and President of the United 
States.

Mr. McNally is a member of the Asian Society 
of Southern California, the National Executive 
Institute and the Society of Former Special 
Agents of the FBI. He is a graduate of the 
University of Wisconsin-Eau Claire, receiving a 
Bachelor’s degree in Political Science in 1969. 
He received a Juris Doctorate (JD) degree from 
Marquette University Law School in 1973 and 
was admitted to the State Bar of Wisconsin.

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong
Founder, Controlling Shareholder and Chief 
Executive Officer
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong (“TSCLK”), aged 
69, is an executive director, the founder, 
control l ing shareholder,  Chief Executive 
Officer, and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee,  the Nominat ion Committee 
a n d  t h e  A M L  O v e r s i g h t  C o m m i t t e e  o f 
the Company. TSCLK is also a director of 
NagaJet Management Limited, TanSriChen 
(Citywalk) Inc., Tan Sri Chen Inc. (T S C I) and 
TanSriChen Inc., wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of the Company; the commercial director of 
Primorsky Entertainment Resorts City LLC, a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 
a director of Fourth Star Finance Corp. which is 
a substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. 
Chen Yiy Fon and Mr. Chen Yepern, executive 
directors of the Company, are the sons of 
TSCLK.

TSCLK has many years of entrepreneurial, 
business and managerial experiences and 
in Malaysia,  is  currently the control l ing 
shareholder of Karambunai Corp Bhd (“KCB”), 
FACB Industries Incorporated Berhad (“FACBI”) 
and Petaling Tin Berhad, all of which are listed 
on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
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Philip Lee Wai Tuck
Executive Director
Philip Lee Wai Tuck, aged 54, is a qualified 
Certif ied Public Accountant. Mr. Lee has 
experience in various industries before joining 
the Group in 2009. He has previously worked 
in or held directorships in various companies 
l i s ted on the Bursa M alays ia S ecur i t ies 
Berhad. Mr. Lee took on senior management 
posit ions in f inancia l  and management 
functions with wide experience in accounting, 
finance, treasury and corporate finance. He 
is presently the Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company and a director of several of the 
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries, namely 
NagaCorp (HK) Limited, NAGAWORLD LIMITED, 
Naga Sports Limited, Naga Travel Limited, 
Naga Retail Limited, Naga Entertainment 
Limited, Naga Services Limited, Naga Media 
Limited, Naga Management Limited, NagaJet 
Management Limited, NagaWorld (Macau) 
Limitada, Naga Russia Limited, Naga Russia 
One Limited, Naga Hotels Russia Limited, 
NagaWorld Travel Limited, NagaWorld Three 
Limited, Ariston Sdn. Bhd., Neptune Orient 
Sdn. Bhd., Ariston (Cambodia) Limited and 
Naga Lease Limited. He also acts as the 
general director of Primorsky Entertainment 
Resorts City LLC, a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company. Mr. Lee oversees the financial, 
treasury and business operations of the Group.

Mr. Lee is a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Cer tif ied Public Accountants (MICPA), 
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA) and 
CPA Australia.

Chen Yiy Fon
Executive Director
Chen Yiy Fon, aged 35, was appointed as 
an executive director of the Company on 1 
June 2015. He is also a member of the AML 
Oversight Committee of the Company. Mr. 
Chen graduated with a Bachelor of Arts Degree 
in Economics from the University of Southern 
California, Los Angeles in 2003. In 2003, he 
interned at Morgan Stanley, Los Angeles, 
California and in 2004 he interned at Credit 
Suisse First Boston, Singapore.

Mr. Chen was a non-executive director of the 
Company from May 2009 to February 2011 and 
is currently a director of several wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company, and a director of 
Fourth Star Finance Corp. which is a substantial 
shareholder of the Company.

Mr. Chen is also the chief executive officer 
and executive director of Karambunai Corp 
Berhad and Petaling Tin Berhad. He also 
ser ves as an executive director of FACB 
Industries Incorporated Berhad. All these three 
companies are listed on the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad and controlled by Tan Sri 
Dr Chen Lip Keong, an executive director and 
controlling shareholder of the Company.

He is a son of Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, 
the Chief Executive Officer, founder and the 
controlling shareholder of the Company; 
and an elder brother of Mr. Chen Yepern, an 
executive director of the Company.
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Chen Yepern
Executive Director
Chen Yepern, aged 33, was appointed as an 
executive director of the Company on 14 
February 2011. He is also a member of the 
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the AML Oversight Committee 
of the Company. Mr. Chen graduated with a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Finance from the 
California State University, Northridge in 2009 
and subsequently worked at Caesar’s Palace in 
2010.

Mr. Chen is currently a director of several 
wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company, 
namely NagaCorp (HK) Limited, NAGAWORLD 
L I M I T E D ,  N a g a  S p o r t s  L i m i t e d ,  N a g a 
Travel Limited, Naga Retail Limited, Naga 
Entertainment Limited, Naga Services Limited, 
Naga Media Limited, Naga Management 
Limited, NagaJet Management Limited, Naga 
Russia Limited, Naga Russia One Limited, 
Naga Hotels Russia Limited, NagaWorld Travel 
Limited, NagaWorld Three Limited, NagaWorld 
(Macau) Limitada, Ariston Sdn. Bhd., Neptune 
Orient Sdn. Bhd., Ariston (Cambodia) Limited, 
Naga Lease Limited, TanSriChen (Citywalk) 
Inc. and TanSriChen Inc. He also acts as the 
general director and legal representative 
of Naga Services Company Limited and the 
general director of Primorsky Entertainment 
Resorts City No.2 LLC, both are wholly-owned 
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen is a 
son of Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, the Chief 
Executive Officer, founder and controlling 
shareholder of the Company; and the younger 
brother of Mr. Chen Yiy Fon, an executive 
director of the Company.

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul 
Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir
Independent Non-executive Director
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir 
Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir, aged 77, has been 
an independent non-executive director of 
the Company since 17 September 2007. He 
is also the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee 
of the Company, and a member of the Audit 
Committee of the Company. Tan Sri Kadir is 
a Barrister-At-Law of Lincoln’s Inn, London. 
He was a practicing lawyer at Hisham, Sobri 
& Kadir and Kadir, Khoo & Aminah and a 
prominent politician in Malaysia and has 
served the Federal Government of Malaysia 
for more than 30 years. His involvement in the 
Malaysia Federal Government service began 
in 1970 where he held the position of Political 
Secretary, Parliamentary Secretary, Deputy 
Minister and Minister in various ministries. 
He was holding the position of Minister of 
Information prior to his resignation from the 
Cabinet in 2006. Prior to that, he was the 
Minister of Culture, Arts and Tourism from 
1999 to 2004 where he was also the chairman 
of Malaysia Tourism Promotion Board.
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Lim Mun Kee
Independent Non-executive Director
L i m  M u n  K e e ,  a g e d  5 0 ,  h a s  b e e n  a n 
independent non-executive director of the 
Company since 17 September 2007. Mr. Lim is 
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a 
member of the Remuneration Committee and 
the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lim is a Chartered Accountant registered 
with the Malaysian Institute of Accountants 
and also a member of the Malaysian Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants since year 
1997.

Mr. Lim started his career with KPMG Peat 
Marwick, Malaysia in 1989. He has more than 
20 years of valuable experiences gained 
through his working career in various fields 
including auditing, financial, corporate and 
management level. Currently, Mr. Lim is also 
managing his own business in Malaysia.

Mr. Lim is also an independent non-executive 
director of Petaling Tin Berhad, FACB Industries 
Incorporated Berhad and Karambunai Corp 
Berhad, all of which are listed on the Bursa 
Malaysia Securities Berhad and controlled 
by Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, an executive 
director and a controlling shareholder of the 
Company.

Michael Lai Kai Jin
Independent Non-executive Director
Michael Lai Kai Jin, aged 47, was a non-executive 
director of the Company from 31 May 2010 
to 5 April 2011 and was redesignated as 
independent non- execut ive d i rec tor  of 
the Company on 6 April 2011. He is also 
a member of the Audit Committee,  the 
Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the AML Oversight Committee 
of the Company. Mr. Lai graduated from the 
National University of Singapore with a L.L.B 
(Hons) Degree in 1994 and was called to the 
Singapore Bar the following year. He was 
formerly a partner of Messrs. KhattarWong, 
one of the largest law firms in Singapore with 
offices in Singapore, Shanghai, Hanoi and Ho 
Chi Minh. Mr. Lai’s practice focused on marine 
and admiralty law and has handled numerous 
legal disputes in the area of international 
trade and transport. Mr. Lai was formerly the 
chairman of the Advisory Body Legal Matters, 
FIATA and the Legal Counsel for the Singapore 
Logistics Association.

Mr. Lai is currently the Group General Counsel 
for Ezra Holdings Limited, an integrated 
offshore support provider for the oil and gas 
industry which executes a full spectrum of life 
of field engineering, construction, marine and 
production services throughout the world.

Mr. Lai is an independent director of Interlink 
Petroleum Ltd, the securities of which are 
listed on the Mumbai Stock Exchange. He 
is also an independent director of Select 
Group Ltd which has been delisted from the 
Singapore Stock Exchange on 6 September 
2016.
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Ever since the start, NagaCorp strives to be 
a good corporate citizen by carrying out 
our business in a socially responsible way 
and aim at creating long-term values for 
our stakeholders and contributing to make 
the world a better place. In 2016, NagaCorp 
continues to fulfil its social responsibility and 
achieves its sustainable growth by carrying out 
practical actions.

This  repor t  cover ing the ca lendar year 
2016 is prepared in accordance with the 
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) 
Repor ting Guide of the Stock Exchange. 
I t provides an over view of management 
approach of NagaCorp and its performance 
relating to ESG. Nagacorp has complied with 
the “comply or explain” provisions set out in 
the ESG Reporting Guide for the Year.

Environmental Responsibility
NagaCorp has always sought to operate in 
a responsible, transparent and sustainable 
way. We aim to operate in a way that satisfies 
today ’s needs without compromising the 
needs of future generations. To perpetuate this 
commitment, the Sustainability Department 
was formed in 2013 to focus on ongoing 
programs to reduce our environmental impact.

In 2016, our flagship property NagaWorld 
was certified by ASEAN Tourism Forum and 
recognised as an ASEAN Green Hotel. The 
ASEAN Green Hotel Standard is an initiative 
to recognise efforts in the tourism industry 
to ensure sustainable tourism through the 
adoption of environmentally-friendly and 
energy conservation practices.

Policies and Procedures
Policies and projects have been implemented 
in the following key areas to reduce our impact 
on the environment:

1. Energy and Carbon
Our goal is to reduce energy consumption 
without compromising customer satisfaction 
and operational efficiency. We are adopting 
and implementing a range of projects to 
reduce greenhouse gas and carbon dioxide 
(“CO2”) emissions.
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NagaWorld is compliant with the relevant 
C a m b o d i a n  l a w s  a n d  r e g u l a t i o n s  o n 
environmental protection and is working 
towards reducing energy consumption. An 
energy audit based on the American Society 
of Heating, Refrigerating and Air-Conditioning 
Engineers (“ASHRAE”) walk through audit – 
level 1 and 2 was first completed in March 
2015 and thereafter performed monthly in 
order to identify opportunities for energy 
savings.

We are seeking to reduce both direct and 
indirect emissions. Direct emissions are the 
CO2 emitted through our activities, including 
fac i l i t ies  and vehic les .  We are wor k ing 
diligently to minimize the CO2 released by 
implementing carbon alternative projects, 
f o l l o w i n g  I S O  1 4 0 6 4 - 1  g u i d e l i n e s  f o r 
measurement and reporting.

I n d i re c t  e m i s s i o n s  a re  t h o s e p ro d u ce d 
while manufacturing and transporting the 
products and services we consume. To reduce 
it, we attempt to source domestic products 
whenever available and to work closely with 
our suppliers to develop local supply chains. 
The main program being implemented is an 
“ongoing re-commissioning” system which 
consists of optimization of our consumption 
through monitoring and benchmarking of 
energy and water consumption on a daily 
basis. Irregularities are studied in order to 
determine causes and develop solutions.

NagaWorld has incorporated energy saving 
criteria into purchasing policy. As a result of 
this, the most efficient products are preferred 
whenever it is feasible to do so. In 2016, we 
embarked on a number of initiatives in order 
to ensure higher energy efficiency, including:
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• adopting cooling tower systems to 
maximise chiller energy efficiency;

• minimising use of chiller units during 
night-time and on cooler days;

• using lift energy-saving devices;

• r e p l a c i n g  m o r e  t h a n  8 0 %  o f  t h e 
“traditional” lighting in public areas and 
hotel rooms with energy efficient LED 
lighting;

• ensuring proper steam leakage and 
insulation management;

• shutting-off lighting and air-conditioning 
when a guest room is not in use;

• installing thermostats to maintain and 
control room temperature at a desired 
energy efficient level; and

• installing Variable Speed Drive controls 
for the exhaust in the kitchen areas.

Since commencing operations, NagaWorld 
has operated using diesel electric generators. 
In 2015, we received confirmation that the 
city grid could support our usage. NagaWorld 
was connected to the Phnom Penh electricity 
grid in October 2015. This has reduced energy 
consumption and emissions of greenhouse 
gases significantly. In 2016, the total energy 
consumption totalled approximately 31,600 
tonnes of CO2 equivalent.

Electricity LPG Diesel CO2

NagaWorld Energy Consumption and 
CO2 Emission in 2016
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2. Water
All water at NagaWorld is provided by the Phnom 
Penh Water Supply Authority to World Health 
Authority Drinking Water Standards. We had no 
issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose 
during the Year. NagaWorld is in compliance with 
the relevant Cambodian rules and regulations in 
relation to water management.

We a re committe d to u s ing water  in  a 
responsible manner and have developed 
strategies to reduce our water consumption by 
applying mechanical systems and rethinking 
processes, with water consumption monitored 
and benchmarked on a monthly basis.

These changes include the “opt-in” initiative 
which offers our guests the choice to request 
daily linen changes. Additionally there is 
an ongoing program which is designed to 
increase the efficiency of the air conditioning 
and ventilation systems, which will further 
reduce the amount of water consumed. Total 
water consumption for 2016 at NagaWorld was 
approximately 370 megalitres.

We are also educating our customers and our 
employees on the importance of saving water 
and providing information about how they may 
contribute, both at work and at home.

3. Air
NagaWorld is in compliance with the relevant 
Cambodian rules and regulations in relation 
to air pollution and is actively working to 
provide good air quality within the company 
premises. Regular monitoring is carried out in 
accordance with ASHRAE standards in order to 
ensure a safe and comfortable environment for 
our employees and customers. This includes 
a weekly Indoor Air Quality test to identify 
any potential issues, based on a range of key 
indicators including temperature, relative 
humidity, CO2, carbon monoxide, light and 
s o u n d.  Fu r t h e r m o re,  at  N a g a Wo r l d,  we 
encourage our employees to bring in their 
own plants to participate in making the office 
green.
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4. Waste and Recycling
B e y o n d  c o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  t h e  r e l e v a n t 
Cambodian rules and regulations on waste 
management,  NagaWorld has embraced 
the “3R” strategy in our waste management: 
Reduce, Reuse and Recycle. The aim is to reduce 
the amount of waste produced which would 
eventually end in landfill. The Purchasing 
Department has developed a Sustainability 
Policy that encourages the use of goods with 
low negative impact on the environment and 
humans and to emphasize life cycle thinking 
into every business decision made. With 
these policies in place, we aim to minimize 
our consumption and reduce waste without 
impacting customers. One example of this 
thinking is that we have installed energy 
efficient hand dryers in public and employee 
restrooms which have enabled us to reduce the 
consumption of paper towels.

NagaWorld currently produces approximately 
10 tonnes of waste per day. Waste is handled 
and sorted by a waste management partner off 
site. We do not produce any hazardous waste.

5. Education and Awareness
NagaCorp is committed to being a responsible and 
proactive member of the community. Our goal is 
to share information about sustainable options 
with people, as we believe knowledge leads 
to positive change. We provide training to our 
employees and encourage them to contribute 
their ideas for the improvement of our overall 
sustainability efforts. For example, each year 
we participate in Earth Hour, where we shut 
off the external lights in our property for an 
hour in March. To enhance effectiveness of 
our awareness campaigns, NagaWorld has 
introduced city clean-up days when we gather 
volunteers from the employees to clean up the 
streets around our facilities and collect rubbish 
within the vicinity of Phnom Penh.
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Social Responsibility
NagaCorp has contr ibuted posit ively to 
the development of the economy and the 
community of Cambodia for over 20 years. 
At NagaCorp, corporate social responsibility 
is more than addressing community welfare. 
It is about developing a sustainable business 
strategy and conducting business with a 
conscience and a longer term view – caring 
for the Company, Shareholders, employees, 
customers,  publ ic ,  environment and al l 
stakeholders, including the host country.

1. Employees
In Cambodia, employer-employee relations are 
governed by a collection of legal authorities, 
including: the Constitution of the Kingdom 
of  Cambodia ;  the Labour Law of  1997; 
regulations enacted by the Royal Government 
(Sub-Decrees) and the Ministry of Labour 
(Prakas, Circulars, and Notices); collective 
b a r g a i n i n g  a g r e e m e n t s ;  e m p l o y m e n t 
contracts; employers’ internal regulations; and 
awards of the Arbitration Council.

Cambodian requirements are in line with 
i n t e r n a t i o n a l  s t a n d a r d s ,  a n d  i n c l u d e 
such matters as prohibition of child and 
forced labour, the right of employees to 
organize unions and engage in collective 
bargaining, non-discrimination and civil and 
political r ights. NagaCorp complies with 
the Cambodian Labour Law and relevant 
regulations.

1.1. Workforce Overview
NagaCorp prides itself on providing a safe, 
fair and healthy workplace for all staff, with a 
diverse workforce and equal opportunities for 
all. As at 31 December 2016, the Group had a 
total of 6,153 employees, representing over 29 
nationalities, with 99% of the employees based 
in Cambodia. Priority is given to developing 
our Cambodian workforce, which represents 
94% of total employees.
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Employees follow designated working hours, meal breaks and rest days according to a rotating 
shift schedule prepared by each department on the basis of three 8-hour shifts per 24-hours and 
six consecutive days or 48 hours per work week. Employees based in Cambodia, are entitled to 
1.5 days of paid annual leave for every month of service rendered. In addition to annual leave, 
employees are also entitled to sick leave, maternity leave, paternity leave, marriage leave, and 
other compassionate leaves, and all public holidays declared by the Ministry of Labor, Cambodia.

97%

32%

6%
60%

3%

2%

41-5031-4018-30 50>

Group Employees by Employment Category
 as at 31 December 2016

Group Employees by Age Group 
as at 31 December 2016

94% 57%
43%

6%

OtherCambodia

Group Employees by Nationality 
as at 31 December 2016

Group Employees by Gender 
as at 31 December 2016

Manager and above

Assistant Manager and below

MaleFemale
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1.2. Attracting Talent
The abil ity to attract the r ight talent is 
crucial to our growth strategy. All positions 
a r e  s o u r c e d  a n d  r e c r u i t e d  t h r o u g h  a 
competenc y-based assessment strategy. 
NagaCorp is also actively expanding its talent 
acquisition strategy by using social media 
platforms and other innovative platforms 
t o  re a c h o u t  t o  b o t h l o c a l  a n d g l o b a l 
communities.

Job applicants must be at least 18 years of age, 
be able to speak basic English, and not have 
a criminal record. NagaCorp is committed to 
ensuring equal employment opportunity to all 
qualified individuals. We do not discriminate 
on the basis of union membership, gender, 
ethnicity,  sexual- or ientation or rel igion. 
NagaCorp has a policy of zero child or forced 
labour.

In 2016, we hired 1,095 employees (2015: 
878) while 660 exited (2015: 691). Reductions 
in attrition have been achieved by focusing 
on stricter sourcing and selection criteria, 
providing more training and development 
o p p o r t u n i t i e s ,  i n c r e a s e d  e m p l o y e e 
engagement and continuous improvement on 
the work environment and welfare.

54% 97%

3%
46%

Assistant Manager and below

Manager and above

Group Employee Turnover 
by Gender in 2016 

Group Employee Turnover by 
Employment Category in 2016

Male Female
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1.3. Staff Development
The Group supports a fair, transparent and 
high performance culture through its Human 
Resources (“HR”) department, where it aims 
to: (i) deliver superior business results through 
our people and its programs; and (ii) be a 
strategic business partner with all operations. 
The Group continues to develop and improve 
its HR programs, through key initiatives such as 
second language training, talent and leadership 
development, improved corporate policies and 
practices and fulfils delegated responsibilities for: 
(i) recruitment; (ii) compensation and benefits; 
(iii) performance management; (iv) training and 
development; and (v) employee relations.

The Group is committed to developing our 
employees and advancing their careers by 
providing suitable training opportunities. 
Each training program is designed specifically 
based on operational needs. These programs 
aim not only to equip our employees with 
management and operations-related skills, but 
also empower them with the right attitude 
and knowledge to succeed in today’s dynamic 
social and economic environment. In addition, 
our employees are encouraged to develop 
their sk i l ls and expand their knowledge 
continuously.

NagaWorld recorded 121,993 hours of training 
in 2016 via 37 focused training programs. On 
average, each employee received 12 hours of 
training.

As the Group grows, we will continue to invest in our people, so the opportunities for growth 
and advancement are unlimited.

59% 98%

2%

41%

Assistant Manager and below

Manager and above

NagaWorld Employees trained 
by Gender in 2016

NagaWorld Employees trained 
by Category in 2016

Male Female
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Language Program
To build employee confidence in interacting 
with guests, we have introduced hospitality 
general phrases in English and Mandarin, 
which staff can access through mobile apps 
and pocket size booklets. Regular competitions 
are held in each language to encourage 
improvements.

NagaWorld Olympians
In May 2016, we held the first NagaWorld 
Olympians. This competitive event provides 
a platform for employees to showcase their 
professional skills, attitude, appearance and 
manners. Future competitions will inspire our 
employees to achieve further growth and 
success – not because they are driven to win or 
lose – but because they are recognised as doing 
their best at something that they care about.

Positive Relationship with Ministry of Tourism
NagaCorp continues to maintain a strong 
collaboration with the Ministry of Tourism on 
skills development. NagaWorld was honoured 
to represent Cambodia at the International 
Conference on Mutual Recognition Arrangement 
on Tourism Professionals (MRA-TP) in Jakarta, in 
July 2016, organized by the ASEAN Secretariat. 
In November 2016 NagaWorld was chosen to 
host the Recognition of Prior Learning (RPL) pilot 
project organized by National Committee for 
Tourism Professionals (NCTP).
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Naga Academy
Founded in November 2012, Naga Academy’s 
goal is to be an effective and comprehensive 
apprenticeship-based hospitality training 
institute. In 2016, Naga Academy trained 297 
interns of whom 246 were in apprenticeship 
based vocational programs of three months 
or more duration, of which 43% were hired by 
NagaWorld. During the Year, Naga Academy 
provided more than 159,420 total training 
hours to its interns which included 112 hours 
of pre-deployment training prior to internship 
in their department of choice. Further details 
on Naga Academy’s programs are provided in 
the section headed “Nation Building through 
Naga Academy” below.

1.4. Compensation and Benefits
The Group is committed to providing competitive 
compensation and benefits to all employees. 
Our programs take into account education 
and technical qual i f icat ions,  experience 
and degree of responsibility relevant to the 
job. We regularly benchmark against local, 
regional and global industry standards. The 
standard compensation and benefits package 
for employees includes basic salary, meal 
allowances, health cover and where applicable, 
pension contributions. In addition to our 
annual salary increment and bonus programs, 
we also recognise long serving employees with 
long service awards.

Nurturing and providing support to employees is 
crucial to business performance and priorities. In 
2016, in addition to measuring key performance 
indicators and competencies, the performance 
management program emphasised identifying 
growth areas for mentoring and training to 
enable career progression. Efforts are being 
made to ensure that talent is nurtured for 
potential opportunities arising from our growth 
strategy.
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1.5. Employee Relations
Positive employee engagement is our first 
priority, as our business model dictates that 
“happy employees” lead to “happy customers”. 
We welcome feedback and construc t ive 
suggestions from employees at all times. We 
reach out every day to staff to work more 
collaboratively and continue to improve 
working relationships. We offer our employees 
career counselling and conflict resolution 
when required with the aim to find positive 
solutions management. We also continue to 
develop and implement programs to promote 
team building.

Shop Stewards are elected by the employees 
to represent them for a two-year mandate. The 
Shop Stewards meet to discuss issues relating 
to the employees. The representatives are 
grouped into four Sub-Committees: (i) Health 
and Safety; (ii) Working Conditions; (iii) Welfare; 
and (iv) Internal Rules. HR representatives on 
the Shop Stewards Committees support them at 
all times.

The election for 2016-2018 was held in July 
2016. As at 31 December 2016, 60 elected 
official shop stewards and 51 elected assistant 
shop stewards represented staff at NagaWorld. 
Since introduction, the Shop Steward structure 
has improved relations and communication 
b e t w e e n  e m p l o y e e s  a n d  N a g a W o r l d 
s i g n i f i c a n t l y.  I n  2 0 1 6 ,  t h e  N a g a Wo r l d 
conducted 10 Shop Steward Conferences, as 
well as regular departmental meetings and 
sharing sessions.

In addition, all employees are free to join 
a trade union and two unions were active 
as at 31 December 2016 at NagaWorld. The 
Company meets with the unions periodically.
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1.6. Occupational Health and Safety
N a g a Wo r l d  i s  c o m m i t t e d  t o  p r o v i d i n g 
a healthy, hazard free and safe working 
environment for all its employees, guests, 
visitors, suppliers and contractors. To achieve 
this commitment, we have implemented a 
systematic approach to the identification 
and assessment of risks and the allocation of 
financial and physical resources to manage 
those risks. We maintain an effective system 
of communication on Health and Safety, and 
continuously review and audit our safety 
performance so as to learn from our past 
experiences. Each manager is accountable for 
achievement of these objectives.

A  S a f e t y  C o m m i t t e e ,  c o n s i s t i n g  o f 
representatives from key departments, meets 
regularly. Each Safety Committee member 
is committed to ensure their work area is 
safe. Training on awareness is provided to all 
employees and continuous monitoring on 
a day to day activity of safety standards is 
maintained.

2. Supply Chain Management
Our suppliers are our business partners and we 
aim to maintain a long term partnership with 
them to continuously improve the quality of 
products and services. Suppliers are selected 
based on competency with background and 
reference checks. Registered suppliers are 
monitored on an ongoing basis and random 
site visits per formed regularly. Currently 
around 85% of our suppliers are Cambodian. 
We prefer to support local products that meet 
our quality standards, and embark on joint 
initiatives with local suppliers to improve and 
ensure quality standards are maintained.

As noted in the section headed “Waste and 
Recycling” above, the Purchasing Department 
has developed a Sustainability Polic y that 
encourages the use of goods with low negative 
impact on the environment and humans and 
to emphasize life cycle thinking into every 
business decision. At NagaWorld, we strive to 
use “green products” where possible to support 
the environment.
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3. Hygiene and Food Safety
Our primary objective is to ensure that we 
always serve food prepared to the highest 
standards and use the best quality products 
and ingredients. NagaWorld abides by local 
and international laws and regulations to 
ensure that the food we serve complies with 
food safety standards.

To ensure best practices, NagaWorld has 
developed a common minimum operating 
standard and set of behaviours which is 
practiced at every location of the kitchens 
and restaurants we operate. These are based 
on sound scientific principles, regulatory 
requirements and industry best practices. 
NagaWorld aims to set the benchmark as one 
of the leading hotels in Cambodia through its 
food safety and hygiene system.

NagaWorld regularly measures compliance 
against these standards and implements 
p e r f o r m a n c e  o b j e c t i v e s  t o  a s s u r e  o u r 
customers that the food we provide is safe to 
eat whilst meeting their quality expectations. 
In order to achieve this,  we provide al l 
employees with the latest information on food 
safety, training and tools necessary to do their 
job systematically and with good hygiene 
practices. The Ministry of Health Cambodia 
conducts regular audits of food and beverage 
outlets and issue certificates to recommend 
the cleanliness and hygiene of each outlet. 
All of our 14 restaurants in NagaWorld were 
certified with an “A” rating that recognise the 
highest hygiene and cleanliness level.
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4. Fire Safety
NagaWorld’s commitment to the safety of our 
guests and staff is paramount and essential 
at all times. Since 2012, NagaWorld’s in-house 
Fire Safety Department (the “FSD”) continually 
drives professional standards through further 
education and training of our firefighters. 
All FSD staff have completed and passed the 
NFPA 1001 International Standard Training 
( The National Fire Protection Association 
Standard 1001 – Firefighter Professional 
Qualifications). All firefighters are also trained 
by the Cambodian Red Cross in First-Aid so 
they may attend to any medical situation – 
making NagaWorld a forerunner to provide 24-
hour assistance and support for any kind of 
emergency.

In 2016, the FSD successfully promoted fire 
safety awareness through various programs 
such as fire induction training, fire warden 
training and fire drills, which aim to educate 
all of NagaWorld’s corporate members and 
staff about fire safety and prevention. Major 
improvements and upgrades have also been 
completed in the property’s fire safety and 
protection system.

The FSD aims to fur ther strengthen the 
c a p a b i l i t y  o f  t h e  f i r e  s a f e t y  t e a m  b y 
c o n t i n u o u s l y  d e v e l o p i n g  a n d  c r e a t i n g 
advanced training programs; a live fire training 
program is currently being developed which 
includes a live fire training facility to be set-up.

We also seek to extend fire safety education 
program to the community by promoting 
fire safety awareness in schools. In 2016, 
two major universities – Norton University 
and Build Bright University in Phnom Penh – 
participated in the program. We will continue 
to educate the community about fire safety 
awareness and aim to increase the number of 
participating schools in the campaign.

The FSD is led and managed by fire safety 
professionals with international backgrounds 
and experience in different fields of fire 
emergency response and management and 
certifications in international fire safety and 
risk management, international construction 
health and safety and occupational health 
and safety and recognized by The National 
Examination Board in Occupational Health and 
Safety.
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NagaWorld’s efforts to drive high standards, 
recruit competent leaders and provide further 
education and training of its f ire safety, 
medical and emergency response team allows 
FSD to protect and serve NagaWorld and its 
guests.

As at 31 December 2016, the FSD comprised 
54 firefighters, with a minimum of 12 FSD 
officers on duty 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week.

5. Anti-corruption
NagaCorp is committed to maintaining high 
ethical standards in all of our operations and 
business activities. This involves each of us – 
employees, officers and members of the board 
of directors alike – fostering and maintaining 
NagaCorp’s reputation for integrity, honesty 
and transparency. With this in mind, NagaCorp 
is dedicated to a zero-tolerance policy with 
regard to involvement in corruption or bribery 
activities of any type. These are detailed in the 
Corporate Governance section of our corporate 
website (www.nagacorp.com).

Our Code of Conduct (the “Code”) helps 
to ensure that employees understand the 
Company’s expectations. The Code lays out the 
legal responsibilities and ethical tone for the 
expected behaviour of all employees. It explicitly 
prohibits employees from soliciting, accepting, or 
offering bribes or any other form of advantage. 
The Code also provides guidance for daily 
interactions with fellow employees, customers, 
vendors, government officials and business 
partners and outlines NagaCorp’s expectations 
on employees with regard to conflicts of 
interests and encourages employees to report 
any malpractice and misconduct.

In keeping with the best practices, NagaCorp 
has also developed and implemented an 
Anti-corruption Policy which reinforces the 
Code and provides addit ional guidance 
regarding compliance with rules and laws 
related to bribery and corruption. Both the 
Code and the Anti-corruption Policy play a 
critical role in defining our values and act 
as framework in guiding our operations and 
business practices. All employees are required 
to comply with all policies and the Code, 
which are accessible on our website.



44 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

I n considerat ion of NagaCorp’s pr imar y 
business as a gaming operator, which entails 
particular sensitivity to the risks of unsuitable 
associations and the need to fully comply 
with legal and regulator y requirements, 
diligence is required to avoid impropriety and 
the appearance of impropriety by employees 
engaged in business dealings. NagaCorp 
has developed a Compliance Programme 
to structure a process to review and report 
on certain areas of business activities and 
to identify the suitability of individuals and 
organizations to engage in joint business 
endeavours with NagaCorp.

The Company has in place an AML Procedure 
Manual to deal with money laundering in 
gaming operations, details of which can be 
found in the Corporate Governance Report on 
pages 52 to 69.

N a g a C o r p  i s  i n  c o m p l i a n c e  w i t h  b e s t 
international standards and practices in 
dealing with anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
issues which include, but are not limited to, 
Cambodian law, the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 
(the “Listing Rules”), the Organization for 
Economic Cooperation and Development, the 
United Nations Convention Against Corruption 
and the principles supporting the Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, 
information and belief, neither NagaCorp nor 
any of its employees is subject to any actual, 
pending or threatened cases regarding any 
corrupt practice or any allegation of corrupt 
practice during the reporting period.

6. Community Relations
“ S i n c e  i n c e p t i o n  i n  1 9 9 5  u n t i l  n o w , 
contributing to society, doing charity and 
helping nation building have always been 
synonymous with the way NagaCorp carries 
out its business in Cambodia. Through private 
and public sector participation programs, 
N a g a Co r p’s  c o m m u n i t y,  e nv i r o n m e n t a l 
a n d  n a t i o n a l  c a r e s  e n c o m p a s s  a  w i d e 
sphere of activities from education, sports 
development, human resources development, 
promoting tourism, contributing to charitable 
causes, sustainability, green initiatives and 
benchmarking International industry best 
practices by adhering to global corporate 
governance programs- to name some of them.” 
– Founder, Tan Sri Datuk Dr Chen Lip Keong
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6.1. Education
Nation Building through Naga Academy
Founded in November 2012, Naga Academy’s 
goal is to be an effective and comprehensive 
apprenticeship-based hospitality training 
institute. The three to six month internship 
programs allow interns to be trained as 
professionals in hospitality-related skills, with 
offerings expanded to 16 different departments, 
including: F&B Service, F&B Kitchen, Front 
Office, Housekeeping, IT, Human Resources, 
Maintenance & Engineering and Audiovisual.

Since its inception, Naga Academy has recruited 
and groomed more than 2,000 interns. The 
interns were sourced from 35 partners which 
include local non-governmental organizations 
(“NGOs”), international NGOs, universities and 
vocational schools. A significant percentage 
of graduates have been hired as permanent 
employees of NagaWorld, while some were 
given the oppor tunit y to work with 15 
external industry partners, who are also major 
hospitality players in Cambodia – we endorse 
a “no graduate left behind” policy.

Since the end of 2014, the Ministry of Tourism, 
Cambodia has declared a mandate to develop 
1 million qualified hospitality professionals 
by year 2020. In order to support the Ministry 
of Tour ism, NagaWorld is  committed to 
invest over 1 million hours of industry-wide 
hospitality training in developing qualified 
hospitality professionals. We are on track in 
meeting the commitment.

On 25 July 2016, Naga Academy was formally 
recognized by His Excellency Doctor Thong 
Khon, Cambodia’s Minister of Tourism, as 
an approved training facility, empowered 
to deliver training programs aligned to the 
ASEAN Mutual Recognition Arrangement 
for Tourism Professionals. This recognition 
establishes NagaWorld as one of the first 
private sector hospitality establishments 
in the ASEAN region, empowered to train 
and embark on a path to obtain regional 
certification for employees.
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6.2. Youth and National Sports 
Development

NagaCorp believes that participation in sports 
develops character, fosters teamwork and 
leadership and helps to revitalize the young 
and the disadvantaged in a sustainable way. 
NagaCorp continues to support Cambodian 
sports through partnership with the National 
Olympic Committee of Cambodia (the “NOCC”) 
and also through continuing support of both 
grassroots and international events.

Extension of Partnership with National 
Olympic Committee of Cambodia
In 2016, NagaWorld signed an agreement to 
extend its partnership with the NOCC until 
2017. The agreement will see NagaWorld 
continuing to support all Cambodian teams 
in major sporting events: the Olympic Games, 
Asia Games and Southeast Asian Games – by 
providing off-the-field apparel and equipment 
for al l Cambodian athletes and officials. 
NagaWorld will also provide cash incentives 
for Cambodian athletes that achieve medals 
in these competitions. In 2016, NagaWorld 
sponsored all sports attire for the Cambodian 
team at the Olympic Games in Rio de Janeiro 
and Asia Beach Games in Da Nang.

NagaWorld Sports Award Ceremony
NagaWorld initiated the inaugural NagaWorld 
Cambodia Sports Awards Ceremony, which 
was held in February 2016, to give recognition 
to Cambodian Athletes and Sports Media 
that had outstanding per formance and 
contributions in the last year.
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Martial Arts
NagaWorld continued to extend its partnership 
in 2016 with Apsara TV for its popular monthly 
traditional kick-boxing event.

Tennis
In 2016, NagaWorld continued to collaborate 
w i t h  Te n n i s  C a m b o d i a  a n d  s p o n s o r e d 
Cambodia’s Davis Cup team for the fifth year 
in a row. The sponsorship enables the team’s 
continued participation in the premier tennis 
team competition which was held in Tehran, 
Iran in July 2016. The team competed against 
Iran, Hong Kong, Pacific Oceania, Turkmenistan, 
Lebanon, Singapore, Syria and Qatar.

Football
Fo o t b a l l  i s  t h e  m o s t  p o p u l a r  s p o r t  i n 
Cambodia. NagaWorld’s professional football 
team, NagaWorld Football Club, is very active 
in encouraging youth participation of the 
game. In 2016, the team travelled to schools 
to conduct 15 sports clinics with the children 
and give away football equipment. The team 
also partnered with RHB Bank to organize a 
soccer tournament for over 240 children and 
NagaWorld Kind Hearts sponsored 375 young 
football players.

I n  M ay 2016,  N agaWor l d Footbal l  C lub 
represented Cambodia in the RHB Bank 
Singapore Cup and represented Cambodia 
for the Asia Football Confederation (AFC) Cup 
qualifying game in Mongolia in August 2016. 
In 2016, NagaWorld Football Club finished 
third in the Cambodia Premier League.

6.3. Charity Causes
In 2016, charitable donations made by the 
Group during the Year amounted to US$1.3 
million (2015: US$1.1 million), all of which 
were donated in Cambodia. In addition, 
NagaWorld also donated more than 8.5 tonnes 
of rice, food supplies, sewing machines, towels, 
sarongs and reading materials to hundreds of 
orphans, single mothers, HIV/AIDS children 
and disabled children.

NagaWorld Kind Hearts
NagaWorld Kind Hearts is a staff volunteer 
program aimed to suppor t schools and 
organizations by creating a better learning and 
education process for school children and to 
contribute to the community.
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D u r i n g  t h e  Ye a r,  9 0 1  N a g a Wo r l d  s t a f f 
contributed 4,783 volunteer hours in efforts 
to distribute stationery sets, school bags and 
exercise books, organise competitions to 
enhance English Language and rebuilding 
and improvement projects. During the Year, 
our efforts have benefited a total of 41,288 
students in 100 schools across eight provinces. 
To-date, NagaCorp had contributed to four 
major school rebuilding and improvement 
projects in Kampong Cham and Kampong 
Speu provinces and enhanced 11 school 
libraries for Cambodian children with the aim 
to foster a reading culture.

In May 2016, NagaWorld Kind Hearts hosted a 
special celebration and reception for 200 single 
underprivileged mothers celebrating Mother’s 
Day. NagaWorld’s senior management and 
NagaWorld Kind Hearts volunteers distributed 
gifts to the appreciative mothers to help improve 
the living conditions of their families. The 
mothers were incredibly grateful for the gifts and 
to be honoured with a blessing dance and a fine 
meal to mark a memorable day.

NagaWorld Kind Hearts also organised seven 
Clean Up Days to beautify Phnom Penh and 
the provinces; and planted 755 trees across the 
country.

In October 2016, NagaWorld Kind Hearts 
together with the M iss Cambodia 2016 
Pageant, organised a visit to the Orphan 
Disable Youth and Poor Women Training’s 
Organization in Phnom Penh. More than 100 
eager children joined together in a joyous 
morning of singing, dancing and tree planting 
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activities with the 20 Miss Cambodia finalists. The 
ladies also handed out various school supplies 
such as bags, notebooks and pens which 
brought heart-warming smiles to the children’s 
faces and encouraged them to pursue their 
studies.

before surprising the youths by delivering 
sports equipment to the children to encourage 
them to continue to play sports, so that they 
can hopefully represent Cambodia on the 
international stage.

NagaWorld Kind Hearts arranged for the 
Miss Tourism Metropolitan International 
(MTMI) 2016 Pageant, with delegates from 41 
countries, to participate in a football clinic 
with young potential footballers from Kork 
Banhchoin primary school located in Choam 
Chao commune, Por Senchey district, Phnom 
Penh. NagaWorld Kind Hearts and the MTMI 
delegates spent a fun, active morning together 

Relationship with Cambodian Red Cross
The Cambodian Red Cross is the largest NGO 
in Cambodia and is officially recognized by 
the Cambodian Government as the primary 
auxiliary for humanitarian services throughout 
the countr y.  Besides donat ing to other 
charitable organizations, NagaWorld has been 
a long-standing contributor to the Red Cross, 
and thereby, giving back to the community and 
working towards building Cambodia’s social 
welfare.
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The Board is committed to maintaining a 
high standard of corporate governance 
and ensuring integrity, transparency and 
comprehensive disclosure.

Corporate Governance Practices
In the opinion of the Company’s directors 
(the “Directors”), having considered, amongst 
others, the findings of reviews and/or audits 
conducted by the independent professional 
parties (as discussed below), the Company 
has applied the principles of and complied 
with, all the applicable code provisions of the 
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) 
set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules 
during the Year.

Directors’ Securities Transactions
The Company has adopted the Model Code for 
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed 
Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix 
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct 
of the Directors in respect of transactions in 
securities of the Company. Following specific 
enquiry by the Company of all Directors, the 
Company confirmed that the Directors have 
complied with the required standard set out in 
the Model Code for the Year.

The Board
The Company has a Board with a balanced 
composition of executive and non-executive 
directors to provide for leadership, control 
and management of the Company’s business 
and affairs. The Board is committed to making 
decisions objectively in the interests of the 
Company.

The Board currently consists of four executive 
Directors, namely Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 
(Chief Executive Officer), Mr. Philip Lee Wai 
Tuck (Chief Financial Officer), Mr. Chen Yiy 
Fon and Mr. Chen Yepern; one non-executive 
Director, namely Mr. Timothy Patrick McNally  
( C h a i r m a n ) ;  a n d  t h r e e  i n d e p e n d e n t 
non-executive Directors, namely Tan Sri Datuk 
Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh 
Fadzir, Mr. Lim Mun Kee and Mr. Michael Lai 
Kai Jin.

The composition, structure and size of the 
Board are reviewed at least annually by the 
Nomination Committee to ensure that it has a 
balance of appropriate skills, experience and 
diversity of perspectives to meet the needs of 
the business of the Group.
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Members of the Board have a diverse range of business, financial and professional expertise. Brief 
biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors’ Profile” in this 
annual report.

An analysis of the current Board composition is set out in the following chart:

Executive

Number of
Directors

Gender Designation Ethnicity Age
Group

Skills/
Business

Experience

Directorship
with the

Company
(Number of

Years)

Directorship
with other

Public
Companies
(Number of
Companies)

Male

Non-Executive

Singaporean

American

Malaysian

professional
accountant

Qualified
lawyer

expertise in
public sector

expertise in 
resort/hotel/

gaming sector

expertise in
corporate

investigation

6-10

11-15

1-5

3-4

0-2

Independent
Non-Executive

0

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

61-70

71-80

51-60

41-50

31-40

Throughout the Year,  the Company has 
complied with the requirements of  the 
Listing Rules relating to the appointment 
of independent non- executive directors 
representing at least one-third of the Board, 
with at least one independent non-executive 
d i r e c t o r  p o s s e s s i n g  t h e  a p p r o p r i a t e 
professional qualifications, accounting or 
related f inancial management exper tise. 
The Company has received from each of the 
independent non-executive Directors his 
latest annual confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and 
considers all of them to be independent.

Save for the fact that Mr. Chen Yiy Fon is 
an elder brother of Mr. Chen Yepern, both 
of whom are the sons of Tan Sri Dr Chen 
Lip Keong, the CEO, executive Director and 
controlling shareholder of the Company, to 
the best of the Directors’ knowledge, there is 
no financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationship among members of the 
Board and between the Chairman and the CEO. 
All of the Directors are free to exercise their 
independent judgment.
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Board Process
The Board meets regular ly and at least 
four times a year. Notices of regular Board 
meetings are served to all Directors at least 
14 days before the meetings. For other Board 
and committee meetings, reasonable notices 
are given. Papers for Board meetings and 
committee meetings together with all relevant 
information are normally sent to all Directors 
or committee members at least 3 working days 
before each meeting, enabling them to make 
informed decisions with adequate data.

In order to have an effective Board, Directors 
are provided with information on activities and 
developments in the Group’s business on a 
regular and timely basis to keep them apprised 
of the latest developments of the Group. The 
Directors have full access to information on 
the Group and are able to seek independent 
professional advice when they consider 
necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible for 
maintaining minutes of all meetings of the 
Board and its committees. Draft minutes are 
circulated to the Directors for comments 
within reasonable time after each meeting and 
the final version thereof, as approved formally 
by the Board or the relevant committee, is filed 
for record purposes. All Directors have access 
to the minutes of the Board and its committee 
meetings.

According to the current Board practice, each 
Director is required to make disclosure of his 
interests or potential conflict of interests, if 
any, in any proposed transactions or issues 
discussed by the Directors at Board meetings. 
T h e  C o m p a n y ’s  a r t i c l e s  o f  a s s o c i a t i o n 
(the “Articles of Association”) also contain 
provisions requiring the Directors to abstain 
f ro m vo t i n g fo r  re s o l u t i o n s  a p p ro v i n g 
transactions in which such Directors or any of 
their associates have a material interest.
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For the Year, five Board meetings and one general meeting were held. Details of the attendances 
of the Board meetings and the general meeting are set out below:

Number of Meetings Attended/Held

Name of Directors
Board 

Meeting
General 

Meeting

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong (Chief Executive Officer) 5/5 1/1
Mr. Philip Lee Wai Tuck (Chief Financial Officer) 4/5 0/1
Mr. Chen Yiy Fon 5/5 1/1
Mr. Chen Yepern 5/5 1/1

Non-executive Director
Mr. Timothy Patrick McNally (Chairman) 5/5 1/1

Independent Non-executive Directors
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir 5/5 1/1
Mr. Lim Mun Kee 5/5 1/1
Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin 5/5 1/1

Board Diversity
The Company acknowledged that diversity was 
important for the effective functioning of the 
Board and made progress in shaping the Board 
for the future by adopting the Board Diversity 
Policy in August 2013, which ensures diversity 
in its broadest definition. Under the policy:

(a) the Company recognises and embraces 
the benefits of having a diverse Board, 
and sees diversity at the Board level 
as an essential element in achieving a 
sustainable and balanced development 
of the Company;

(b) all Board appointments will be based 
on meritocracy, and candidates will 
b e  c o n s i d e r e d  a g a i n s t  o b j e c t i v e 
criteria (including, but not limited to, 
gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, 
skills, knowledge and length of service), 
having due regard for the benefits of 
diversity; and

(c) the ultimate decision will be based 
on merits and contribution that the 
selected candidates will bring to the 
Board.
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While the Board does not think specific quotas 
on any objective criteria are appropriate and 
considers that the opportunities should be 
made on merit, it does believe that a diverse 
mix of gender, age, cultural and educational 
background, professional experience, skills, 
knowledge and length of service is important.

The Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer
The roles of the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer are separate and assumed 
by different individuals to ensure a balance 
of power and authority, so that power is 
not concentrated in any one individual 
of the Board. The Chairman, Mr. Timothy 
Patrick McNally is responsible for overseeing 
the function of the Board while the Chief 
Executive Officer, Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, is 
responsible for managing the Group’s business 
and overall operations. There is a clear division 
of responsibilities between the Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer.

Non-executive Directors
T h e  N o n - e x e c u t i v e  D i r e c t o r  h a s  b e e n 
appointed for a term of three year and each of 
the independent non-executive Directors (the 
“INEDs”) has been appointed for a term of one 
year.

Directors’ Responsibilities
The Board is responsible for the management 
of the Company, which includes formulating 
business strategies, directing and supervising 
the Company’s affairs. Executive Directors 
are in charge of different businesses and 
functional divisions in accordance with their 
respective areas of expertise.

The Board is also entrusted with the overall 
responsibility of developing, maintaining 
and reviewing sound and effective corporate 
governance policies within the Group and 
is committed to ensuring that corporate 
governance functions are carr ied out in 
accordance with the CG Code, including 
continuously reviewing and improving the 
corporate governance practices within the 
Group.

Directors’ Commitment
Each Director is expected to give sufficient 
t ime and attention to the affairs of the 
Company. All Directors have disclosed to the 
Company the number and nature of offices 
held in public companies or organisations 
and other significant commitments, with 
the identity of the public companies or 
organisations and an indication of the time 
involved. Each Director is also requested 
to provide confirmation to the Company 
semi-annual ly  and not i fy  the Company 
Secretary in a timely manner of any change of 
such information.
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Induction, Familiarisation and 
Training
Upon appointment, each Director is given 
comprehensive introduction of the business 
operations of the Group and the regulatory 
and statutory requirements for Directors and 
is required to attend briefings from senior 
executives and department heads of the 
Group.

To ensure effective fulfilment of the respective 
roles of the Directors on the Board, various 
steps are taken to ensure that all Directors 
c o n t i n u a l l y  u p d a t e  a n d  r e f r e s h  t h e i r 
knowledge and skills, as well as familiarize 
themselves with the Company through gaining 
access to its operations and employees.

The Board aims to hold at least one Board 
meeting each year at the Company’s head 
office in Cambodia and takes the opportunity 
to discuss business issues, risks and strategies 
with the local management. During the Year, 
one Board meeting was held at NagaWorld in 
Cambodia, during which the non-executive 
directors attended a site visit to familiarise 
themselves with, and gained a greater insight 
into, the Group’s businesses.

Directors’ training is an ongoing process. 
The Company will from time to time provide 
internal training and briefings to all Directors 
to develop and refresh the Directors’ duties 
and responsibilities. All Directors are also 
encouraged to attend relevant training courses 
at the Company’s expense.

During the Year, each of the Directors, namely 
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, Philip Lee Wai 
Tuck, Chen Yiy Fon, Chen Yepern, Timothy 
Patrick McNally, Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir, Lim Mun 
Kee and Michael Lai Kai Jin have participated 
in continuous professional development 
by attending an internal training course on 
practical guidance concerning disclosure of 
inside information and was kept informed on 
the changes and developments on the Group’s 
business and on legislative and regulatory 
environment in which the Group operates in 
order to develop, refresh and update their 
knowledge and skills.

Training records of all Directors have been 
maintained by the Company Secretary.
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The Board also recognizes the importance of 
ongoing professional development of senior 
management so that they can continue 
to contributing to the Company. To keep 
them abreast of the market developments 
and applicable rules and regulations for the 
fulfilment of their duties and responsibilities, 
a l l  members of senior management are 
encouraged to attend briefings and seminars 
as appropriate. The training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and 
senior management has been reviewed by the 
Board on an annual basis.

Delegation by the Board
The Board has established various board 
committees including the Audit Committee, 
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination 
Committee and the AML Oversight Committee, 
and delegated authority to oversee these 
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Pursuant 
to the respective terms of reference, the 
Board committees are required to report 
to the Board regularly on their decisions 
a n d re c o m m e n d a t i o n s .  T h e d ay - t o - d ay 
m a n a g e m e n t  o f  t h e  o p e r a t i o n s  o f  t h e 
Company is delegated to the divisional heads.

Audit Committee
T h e  C o m p a n y  h a s  e s t a b l i s h e d  w r i t t e n 
terms of reference for the Audit Committee 
in accordance with the requirements of 
the Listing Rules. In December 2015, the 
terms of reference of the Audit Committee 
were updated to ref lec t  the addit ional 
responsibilities of the Audit Committee arising 
from the Stock Exchange’s proposal on risk 
management and internal control under the 
CG Code applicable to accounting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2016. The 
Audit Committee consists of three INEDs, 
namely Mr. Lim Mun Kee, Tan Sr i  Datuk 
Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh 
Fadzir and Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin. The Audit 
Committee is chaired by Mr. Lim Mun Kee.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit 
Committee include, amongst others, ensuring 
the objectivity and credibility of financial 
reporting and internal control principles, 
assuring adequate risk management and 
internal control systems are in place and 
following and maintaining an appropriate 
relationship with the external auditor of the 
Company.
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The Audit Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing the Group’s whistle-blowing 
procedures which allows employees to raise 
concerns, in confidence and in anonymity, 
about possible improprieties in financial 
reporting, internal control or other matters 
and ensures that these arrangements allow fair 
and independent investigation of such matters 
and appropriate follow up actions.

To perform its duties, the Audit Committee 
is provided with sufficient resources and is 
supported by the Internal Audit Department 
to examine all matters relating to the Group’s 
adopted accounting principles and practices 
and to review all material financial, operational 
and compliance controls.

For the Year, five Audit Committee meetings 
were held and details of the attendance of the 
Audit Committee members are set out below:

Number of 
Meetings

Name of Directors Attended/Held

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lim Mun Kee (Chairman) 5/5
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji 
 Sheikh Fadzir 5/5
Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin 5/5

In addition, the Audit Committee held private 
meetings with the external auditor without 
the presence of the management to discuss 
matters relating to its audit fees, issues arising 
from the audit and other matters which the 
independent auditor wished to raise.

For the Year,  the Audit  Committee had 
considered, reviewed and discussed (1) the 
auditing and financial reporting matters; 
(2) the appointment of external auditor 
including the terms of engagement; (3) the 
annual and interim financial statements and 
the relevant results announcements and give 
recommendation to the Board for approval; 
(4) reports on the Group’s internal audit; (5) 
reports on the Group’s internal control with 
a focus on anti-money laundering (“AML”) 
issued by an independent professional party; 
and (6) the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems. 
Each member of the Audit Committee has 
unrestricted access to the independent auditor 
and all senior staff of the Group.

The Audit Committee recommended to the 
Board that, subject to the approval of the 
Shareholders at the for thcoming annual 
general meeting, BDO Limited be re-appointed 
as the independent auditor of the Company.
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Remuneration of Directors and 
Senior Management
A formal and transparent procedure for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual 
Direc tors and senior management is  in 
place. Details of remuneration policies and 
other relevant information are set out in the 
Remuneration Committee Report.

Nomination and Appointment of 
Directors
A formal procedure for proposing changes 
to the Board is set up. Details of nomination 
procedure are set out in the Nomination 
Committee Report.

Risks Management and Internal 
Control
T h e  B o a r d  c o n s i d e r s  t h a t  s o u n d  r i s k 
management and internal control systems 
are vital to the achievement of the Group’s 
strategic objectives and acknowledges its 
responsibility to establish, maintain and review 
the effectiveness of such systems.

The Board plays a key role in overseeing risks 
undertaken by considering risks as part of the 
strategy setting process. The Company has 
an established risk framework under which 
it identifies risks relevant to the operations 
and activities of the Group, and assesses 
these risks in relation to their likelihood and 
potential impacts. Such systems are designed 
to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives, and 
aims to provide a reasonable, as opposed 
to an absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. Under our framework, 
management is primarily responsible for the 

design, implementation and maintenance 
o f  t h e  r i s k  m a n a g e m e n t  a n d  i n t e r n a l 
control systems, while the Board and its 
Audit Committee oversee the actions of 
management and monitor the effectiveness 
of these systems and to safeguard the Group’s 
assets. This risk management and internal 
control framework is reviewed annually by the 
Audit Committee on behalf of the Board.

The Internal Audit Department of the Group 
supported the Audit Committee in reviewing 
the effectiveness of risk management and 
internal control systems and performed its 
functions during the Year following an annual 
audit plan and routine testings. As part of 
this exercise, the Audit Committee reviewed 
the risk management and internal control 
systems in respect of the Year. The Board 
conducted a review of the risk management 
and internal control systems of the Group 
for the Year, including financial, operational 
and compliance controls, and considered 
the systems effective and adequate. The 
Board assessed the effectiveness of the risk 
management and internal control systems 
by considering the reviews performed by the 
Audit Committee. The Board also assessed 
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal audit 
function and external audit process, and 
satisfied itself, through the work of its Audit 
Committee, that the internal audit function 
is adequately resourced and is effective at 
providing assurance to the Board on the 
relevant risks faced by the Company, and that 
the external audit process is effective.



61NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

The Company has in place an AML Procedure 
Manual, which takes into account regulatory 
requirements and expectations, as well as 
industry demands, to ensure that regulatory 
compliance is maintained at the highest 
monitoring standards. The Board was also 
satisfied that the Company complies with the 
code provisions relating to internal control 
contained in the CG Code.

Internal Controls on Money Laundering
In order to ensure that the Company maintains 
a high standard for compliance and integrity 
on AML, the Company has established a 
program designed to protect the reputation 
and mitigate AML risks. NagaCorp’s long term 
sustainability and success is dependent on its 
integrity and transparency in its daily gaming 
operations in relation to world best practices 
on AML. The Company has in place a 4-tier 
AML control structure comprising:

Tier 1 – An AML Management Committee, 
led by the Compliance Officer and 
supported by senior managers from 
various key operational departments, 
t a s k e d  w i t h  e n s u r i n g  t h a t  t h e 
C o m p a n y  a d o p t s  p o l i c i e s  a n d 
procedures as governed by the AML 
Procedure Manual in its day to day 
operational activities.

Tier 2 – Internal audit of AML procedures 
to ensure that the Company is in 
compliance with AML policies, with 
results of such audits reported to the 
Audit Committee and AML Oversight 
Committee.

Tier 3 – A M L  O v e r s i g h t  C o m m i t t e e 
establ ished at  the B oard level , 
c h a i r e d  b y  t h e  n o n - e x e c u t i v e 
c h a i r m a n  o f  t h e  B o a r d ,  w h i c h 
m e e t s  o n  a  q u a r t e r l y  b a s i s  t o 
review the work and reports of the 
AML Management Committee and 
Internal Audit. Matters of significance 
are then reported to the Board for 
deliberation.

Tier 4 – External audit of the Company’s AML 
procedures. The Company engages 
a n  A M L  s p e c i a l i s t  f i r m  w h i c h 
carries out a biannual audit of the 
Company’s AML procedures, which 
includes work conducted by the AML 
Management Committee. The report 
of this external AML audit is reported 
in the Company’s annual financial 
reports. For more details, please 
refer to the heading “Independent 
Review of Anti-Money Laundering 
Internal Control at NagaCorp Ltd.” in 
this annual report. It is noted that 
the Company has been found to be 
fully compliant with all relevant FATF 
recommendations.

Independent Review of Investment Risks in 
Cambodia
Since the listing of the Company, the Company 
has engaged Political and Economic Risk 
Consultancy, Ltd., an independent professional 
party, to assess and review on an annual 
basis, the political, social, investment and 
macro - economic r isks in Cambodia and 
disclose its findings in its annual and interim 
financial reports. For more details, please 
refer to the heading “Independent Review of 
Investment Risks in Cambodia” in this annual 
report.
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AML Oversight Committee
The Company set up an AML O versight 
Committee to formulate policies and strategies 
on AML development and implementation 
programmes, ensure quality control and act as 
an oversight committee on AML matters. The 
AML Oversight Committee currently consists 
of Mr. Timothy Patrick McNally, Tan Sri Dr Chen 
Lip Keong, Mr. Chen Yiy Fon, Mr. Chen Yepern 
and Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin. Mr. Timothy Patrick 
McNally acts as the Chairman of the AML 
Oversight Committee.

For the Year, five AML Oversight Committee 
meet ings were held and deta i l s  of  the 
attendance of the AML Oversight Committee 
members are set out below:

Name of Directors

Number of 
Meetings

Attended/Held

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 5/5
Mr. Chen Yepern 5/5
Mr. Chen Yiy Fon 5/5

Non-executive Director
Mr. Timothy Patrick McNally 
 (Chairman) 5/5

Independent 
 Non-executive Director
Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin 5/5

For the Year, the AML Oversight Committee had 
considered, reviewed and discussed (1) reports 
from the independent professional party on 
AML internal controls; (2) re-appointment 
of the independent professional party as 
internal control consultant; (3) report from its 
sub-committee AML Management Committee; 
(4) course of action for handling suspicious 
activities; and (5) threshold recommended by 
FATF for casino operations for record keeping 
and transaction reporting system.

The Board, through reports made by the 
independent professional parties and the 
AML Oversight Committee, had reviewed the 
Group’s internal control system and considered 
it to be effective and adequate.

Inside Information
With respect to procedures and internal 
controls for handling dissemination of inside 
information, the Company:

– is aware of its obligations under the 
S e c u r i t i e s  a n d Fu t u re s  O rd i n a n ce 
(Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) 
(the “SFO”) and the Listing Rules and 
the overriding principle that inside 
information should be announced 
immediately after such information 
comes to our attention and/or it is 
the subject of a decision unless it falls 
within the safe harbours as provided in 
the SFO;
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– conducts its affairs with close regard to 
the applicable laws and regulations and 
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside 
Information” issued by the Securities 
and Futures Commission;

– has established a Corporate Disclosure 
Policy for monitoring, reporting and 
disseminating inside information to our 
shareholders, investors, analysts and 
media;

– has communicated to all relevant staff 
regarding the implementation of the 
Corporate Disclosure Policy and relevant 
trainings are also provided.

Management Functions
Whi le the B oa rd i s  re spons ib l e  for  the 
overall strategic direction and governance 
by considering and approving the Group’s 
strategies, policies and business plan, the 
functions of implementing the approved 
strategies and policies and managing the 
day-to-day operations are delegated to the 
management team and subject to the Chief 
Executive Officer’s leadership and supervision.

Directors’ and Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements
T h e  D i r e c t o r s  a c k n o w l e d g e  t h e i r 
responsibilities for the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and has ensured that the consolidated 
f i n a n c i a l  s t a t e m e n t s  a r e  p r e p a r e d  i n 
accordance with statutor y requirements 
and applicable accounting standards. The 
Directors have ensured timely publication of 
the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group.

The statement of the independent auditor of 
the Company, BDO Limited, about reporting 
responsibilities on the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group is set out under the 
heading “Independent Auditor’s Report” in this 
annual report.

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their 
knowledge, information and belief, having 
made all reasonable enquiries, they are not 
aware of any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern.
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Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is responsible for 
facilitating the Board process, including the 
induction and professional development of 
Directors, as well as communications among 
the Board members, with Shareholders and 
management. During the Year, the Company 
Secretary, Ms. Lam Yi Lin, undertook no less 
than 15 hours of professional training to 
update her skills and knowledge.

Independent Auditor’s 
Remuneration
Fo r  t h e Ye a r,  t h e a m o u nt s  p a i d to  t h e 
independent auditor of the Group in respect of 
the following services provided to the Group 
are set out below:

2016
US$’000

Audit services
– Current year 482
– Under-provision for prior 

year 5
Non-audit services 
 (primarily review 
 of interim financial 
 information) 155

Changes in Directors’ Information 
pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules
T h e  c h a n g e s  i n  D i r e c t o r s ’ i n f o r m a t i o n 
subsequent to the interim report of the 
Company dated 8 August 2016, as required to 
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 
Listing Rules are set out below:

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, Chief Executive 
Officer and Executive Director
– retired from the board of directors of 

Karambunai Corp Berhad, a company 
listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities 
Berhad, on 26 August 2016

– retired from the board of directors of 
FACB Industries Incorporated Berhad, a 
company listed on the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad, on 30 November 2016

– TanSriChen Inc., of which Tan Sri Dr 
Chen Lip Keong acts as a director, 
became a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company, effective 30 December 
2016

Chen Yepern, Executive Director
– appointed as a director of TanSriChen 

Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, effective 30 December 2016
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Michael Lai Kai Jin, Independent 
Non-executive Director
– Selected Group Ltd., of which Michael 

Lai Kai Jin acts as an independent 
d i r e c t o r ,  w a s  d e l i s t e d  f r o m  t h e 
Singapore Stock Exchange, effective 6 
September 2016

Communication with Shareholders
The Company is committed to maintaining 
open dialogue with its Shareholders through 
a number of formal communication channels. 
These include the annual report, interim 
report, press releases and announcements.

The most recent Shareholders’ meeting was 
the 2016 annual general meeting held at 
Suite 2806, 28/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour 
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. At that said 
meeting, the chairman of the Board, the 
chairman of the respective Board committees 
and the representative of the independent 
auditor were present to answer Shareholders’ 
questions. Separate resolutions were proposed 
at the meeting for each substantive issue. 
Details of the poll voting procedures and 
the rights of the Shareholders to demand a 
poll together with details of the proposed 
resolutions were included in the circulars 
despatched to Shareholders.

At the said 2016 annual general meeting, all 
the resolutions were voted by poll and were 
duly passed by the Shareholders. The results 
of the voting by poll were published on the 

websites of the Stock Exchange, the Company 
and irasia. The major items discussed and 
the percentage of votes cast in favour of the 
resolutions relating to each of those items are 
set out below:

– Adopting the audited consolidated 
financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2015 (100%);

– Approving the payment of the final 
dividend of US cents 1.89 per Share 
(100%);

– Approving the re-election of Tan Sri Dr 
Chen Lip Keong, Mr. Philip Lee Wai Tuck, 
Mr. Chen Yiy Fon and Mr. Michael Lai 
Kai Jin as Directors (90.825%, 95.621%, 
95.234% and 72.826%, respectively);

– Approving the general mandate to 
Directors to issue additional Shares, not 
exceeding 20% of the total number of 
issued Shares (71.235%);

– Approving the general mandate to 
Directors to repurchase Shares, not 
exceeding 10% of the total number of 
issued Shares (100%).

– Adopting a new share option scheme 
(76.925%); and

– Adopting “金界控股有限公司” as the 
dual foreign name of the Company 
(99.997%).
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Procedures for Shareholders to convene 
General Meetings/put forward Proposals
Subject to the provisions of the Articles 
of Association, the Listing Rules and the 
applicable laws and regulations, Shareholders 
m a y c o nve n e g e n e r a l  m e e t i n g s  o f  t h e 
Company in accordance with the following 
procedures:

1. One or more Shareholders holding at 
the date of the deposit of the requisition 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up 
capital of the Company carrying the 
right of voting at general meetings of 
the Company (the “Requisitionist(s)”) 
may require the Board to convene an 
extraordinary general meeting of the 
Company (the “EGM”) by depositing a 
written requisition (the “Requisition”) 
at the principal place of business of the 
Company at Suite 2806, 28/F, Central 
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong, for the attention of the Board or 
the Company Secretary.

2. The Requisit ion must clear ly state 
the name(s) and shareholding in the 
Co m p a ny o f  t h e R e q u i s i t i o n i s t ( s ) , 
specify the purposes of the EGM and 
the details of the business proposed 
to be transacted in the EGM and be 
signed by the Requisitionist(s) and may 
consist of several documents in like 
form, each signed by one or more of the 
Requisitionists.

3. Upon receipt of the Requisition, the 
Directors shall verify the Requisition 
with the Company ’s  branch share 
registrar and upon this confirmation 
that the Requisition is proper and in 
order, shall forthwith proceed duly to 
convene the EGM, and such EGM shall 
be held within two (2) months after 
the deposit of the Requisition. If the 
Requisition has been verified as not 
being proper or in order, the Director 
shall notify it to the Requisitionists 
concerned and an EGM shall not be 
convened as requested.

4. If within twenty-one (21) days from the 
date of the deposit of the Requisition 
the Board fai ls to proceed duly to 
convene the EGM, the Requisitionist(s) 
may himself or themselves convene 
the EGM in the same manner and all 
reasonable expenses incurred by the 
Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure 
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the 
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. Under  the Ar t ic l es  of  Assoc iat ion 
and pursuant to the requirements of 
the Listing Rules, a notice specifying 
the time and place and the general 
nature of the proposed business to be 
transacted at the EGM shall be given to 
all Shareholders entitled to attend the 
EGM for consideration in the following 
manner:
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• notice of not less than 21 clear 
days or 10 clear business days, 
whichever is  the longer,  i f  a 
special resolution is to be passed 
at the EGM; and

• notice of not less than 14 clear 
days or 10 clear business days, 
whichever is the longer, in all 
other cases, provided that a EGM 
may be called by a shorter notice 
if it is so agreed by a majority 
in number of the Shareholders 
having the right to attend and 
vote at the EGM, being a majority 
together holding not less than 
95% in nominal value of the 
issued Shares giving such right.

6. If a Shareholder wishes to propose a 
person other than a Director of the 
Company for election as a Director at 
any general meeting, the nominating 
Shareholder can deposit a written 
notice to that effect (the “Notice”) at 
the principal place of business of the 
Company at Suite 2806, 28/F, Central 
Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong, for the attention of the Board 
or the Company Secretary. In order for 
the Company to inform Shareholders 
of that proposal, the Notice must state 
the full name of the person proposed 
for election as a Director, include the 
person’s biographical details as required 
by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, 

and be s igned by the nominat ing 
S h a r e h o l d e r  a n d  t h a t  n o m i n a t e d 
Director indicating his/her willingness 
to be elected. The minimum length of 
the period, during which such Notice(s) 
are given, shall be at least seven (7) days 
and that (if the Notices are submitted 
after the despatch of the notice of the 
general meeting appointed for such 
election) the period for lodgement of 
such Notice(s) shall commence on the 
day after the despatch of the notice 
of the general meeting appointed for 
such election and end no later than 
seven (7) days prior to the date of such 
general meeting. In order to ensure 
Shareholders have at least 10 business 
d ays  to  re ce i ve a n d co n s i d e r  t h e 
relevant information of the nominated 
Director(s), nominating Shareholder(s) 
are urged to submit their Notice(s) 
as early as practicable, to that (if the 
notice of general meeting has already 
been given), a supplemental circular or 
announcement containing information 
of the nominated Director(s) can be 
despatched to Shareholders as soon as 
practicable without the need to adjourn 
the relevant general meeting.

7. Shareholders who have enquires about 
the above procedures may write to the 
Company Secretary at the principal 
place of business of the Company 
at Suite 2806, 28/F, Central Plaza, 18 
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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Enquiries put to the Board
Apart from the Shareholders’ meetings, the 
Company’s website is an effective means 
o f  c o m m u n i c a t i o n  w i t h  S h a r e h o l d e r s . 
Any Shareholders who have questions or 
comments on what the Company is doing are 
most welcome to contact the Company at any 
time through the website. Shareholders may 
raise enquiries to the Board by contacting the 
Group’s Investor Relations team. Upon receipt 
of the enquiries, the Investor Relations team 
will forward the Shareholders’ enquiries and 
concerns to the Board, Board committees or 
the management in appropriate.

Shareholdings as at 31 December 
2016
As at the end of 2016, the Company had 
around 300 registered Shareholders. Details of 
Shareholders by aggregated shareholding are 
listed below:

Shares
Held by
Shareholders

Number of
Shareholders

% of
Shareholders

Aggregate
Number of

Shares

% of
Total

Issued
Shares

1 to 1,000 83 24.41% 3,137 0.00%
1,001 – 10,000 206 60.59% 587,056 0.02%
10,001 – 100,000 35 10.29% 1,239,372 0.05%
100,001 – 500,000 7 2.06% 1,681,319 0.07%
Over 500,000 9 2.65% 2,456,477,991 99.86%

Total 340 100.00% 2,459,988,875 100.00%
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From publicly available information and as far 
as the Directors are aware, as at 31 December 
2016, approximately 61.02% of the issued 
share capital of the Company was held by the 
public and the public float capitalization was 
approximately HK$6,724,675,229.

Constitutional Documents
Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, 
the Company has published on the website of 
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company 
its memorandum and Articles of Association. 
During the Year, no amendments were made to 
the constitutional documents of the Company.

Financial Calendar
2016 Final Results Announcement : 8 February 2017 (Wednesday)
Closure of Register of Members : (i) 24 April 2017 (Monday) and 25 April 2017 

( Tuesday) (for ascertaining Shareholders’ 
entitlement to attend and vote at the 2017 
AGM)

(ii) 2 May 2017 ( Tuesday) (for ascertaining 
Shareholders’ entitlement to the 2016 Final 
Dividend)

2017 AGM : 25 April 2017 (Tuesday)
Record Date for 2016 Final Dividend : 2 May 2017 (Tuesday)
Closure of Register of Bondholders : 2 May 2017 (Tuesday) to 8 May 2017 (Monday)
Record Date for distribution to 
 Bondholders for the Year

: 8 May 2017 (Monday)

Payment of 2016 Final Dividend and 
 Distribution for the Year

: 15 May 2017 (Monday)

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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Remuneration Committee
The Company has established written terms of 
reference for the Remuneration Committee in 
accordance with the requirements under the 
Listing Rules. The Remuneration Committee 
currently consists of two executive Directors, 
namely Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong and Mr. 
Chen Yepern, and three INEDs, namely Tan 
Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin 
Haji Sheikh Fadzir, Mr. Lim Mun Kee and Mr. 
Michael Lai Kai Jin. Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir acts as the 
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

T h e  p r i n c i p a l  r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  o f  t h e 
R e m u n e r a t i o n  Co m m i t t e e  a r e  t o  m a k e 
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s  
policy for and structure of remuneration of 
the Directors and senior management of the 
Company, and to make recommendations 
to the Board regarding the remuneration 
packages of executive directors, non-executive 
directors and senior management of the 
Co m p a ny b e fo re t h e B o a rd d e te r m i n e s 
their remuneration based on the expertise, 
capability, performance and responsibility of 
our Directors and senior management. The 
Remuneration Committee also takes into 
consideration factors such as salaries paid by 
comparable companies, time commitment 
and responsibilities of the Directors and 
senior management, employment conditions 
e l s e w h e r e  i n  t h e  G r o u p  i n  m a k i n g  i t s 
recommendation. In addition to salaries, 
we provide staff benefits such as medical 
insurance and contributions to provident 
schemes.

During the Year, work per formed by the 
R e m u n e r a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  i n c l u d e d  ( 1 ) 
reviewing the Company ’s policy for and 
structure of remuneration of the Directors 
and senior  management ,  inc luding the 
r e m u n e r a t i o n  p a c k a g e s  o f  t h e  n e w l y 
recruited senior management; (2) making 
recommendation to the Board regarding the 
Directors’ fee to be approved by Shareholders 
at the 2016 annual general meeting; (3) 
confirming and recommending the payment 
of incentive bonus to the Directors;  (4) 
reviewing the performance bonus of the CEO 
and recommending to the Board to appeal 
the generosity and good judgement of CEO 
to defer his per formance bonus; and (5) 
reviewing and endorsing the Remuneration 
Committee Report included in the 2015 annual 
report of the Company and recommending to 
the Board for approval.

For the Year, two Remuneration Committee 
meetings were held. Details of the attendance 
of the Remuneration Committee members are 
set out below:

Name of Directors

Number of 
Meetings 

Attended/Held

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 2/2
Mr. Chen Yepern 2/2

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji 
 Sheikh Fadzir (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Lim Mun Kee 2/2
Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin 2/2
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The Directors received the following remuneration for the Year:

Annual
Performance

Bonus
Discretionary

Bonus Fees

Basic
Salaries,

Allowances
and Benefits-

in-kind Total
US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong – 150 – 720 870
Philip Lee Wai Tuck – 120 – 256 376
Chen Yiy Fon – 30 – 144 174
Chen Yepern – 30 – 253 283

Non-executive Director
Timothy Patrick McNally – 100 150 344 594

Independent Non-
 executive Directors
Michael Lai Kai Jin – 20 36 – 56
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji
 Sheikh Fadzir – 20 36 – 56
Lim Mun Kee – 30 48 – 78
Total – 500 270 1,717 2,487
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Remuneration of Senior Management
Of the f ive individuals with the highest 
emoluments,  three are Direc tors whose 
e m o l u m e n t s  a r e  d i s c l o s e d  a b o v e .  T h e 
emoluments of the two individuals with 
highest emoluments for the Year are as follows:

No. of 
Individuals

US$Nil – US$256,400 –
US$256,401 – US$320,500 –
US$320,501 – US$384,600 –
US$384,601 – US$448,700 –
US$448,701 – US$512,800 1
US$512,801 – US$576,900 1

Share Option Scheme
The share option scheme adopted by the 
Company on 19 October 2006 (the “Old 
Scheme”) has expired on 18 October 2016. On 
20 April 2016, the Company has adopted a 
share option scheme (the “Existing Scheme”) 
which has a life of ten years until 19 April 
2026. The purpose of the Existing Scheme is 
to provide incentive or reward to the eligible 
participants for their contribution to, and 
continuing efforts to promote the interests of 
the Group. According to the terms of both of 
the Existing Scheme and the Old Scheme, the 
Directors are authorized, at their discretions, 
to invite employees of the Group, including 
directors of any company in the Group, to take 
up options to subscribe for Shares.

No share options were granted, exercised or 
cancelled or lapsed under the Existing Scheme 
and the Old Scheme during the Year.

Members of the Remuneration Committee
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin 
 Haji Sheikh Fadzir (Chairman)
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong
Chen Yepern
Lim Mun Kee
Michael Lai Kai Jin

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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Nomination Committee
The Company has established written terms 
of reference for the Nomination Committee 
in accordance with the requirements under 
the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee 
currently consists of two executive Directors, 
namely Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong and Mr. 
Chen Yepern, and three INEDs, namely Tan 
Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin 
Haji Sheikh Fadzir, Mr. Lim Mun Kee and Mr. 
Michael Lai Kai Jin. Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir acts as the 
Chairman of the Nomination Committee.

T h e  p r i n c i p a l  r e s p o n s i b i l i t i e s  o f  t h e 
N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  a r e  t o  r e v i e w, 
from time to time, the structure, size and 
c o m p o s i t i o n  ( i n c l u d i n g  t h e  s k i l l s ,  t h e 
knowledge and experience) of the Board 
and make recommendations to the Board 
regarding any proposed changes to the 
composition of the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy. The Nomination 
Co m m i t te e a l s o u n d e r t a k e s to i d e nt i f y 
individuals suitably qualified to become a 
Director and nominate such individual to 
the Board for directorship. The Nomination 
Committee also assesses the independence 
of independent non-executive directors, 
makes recommendations to the Board on the 
appointment, re-appointment and succession 
plans of Directors, reviews and monitors the 
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.

Board Diversity
The Company recognizes that having a 
diverse Board can enhance the quality of 
its performance. In August 2013, a Board 
Diversity Policy was adopted by the Board 
which sets out the approach to achieve 
diversity among the Board members. When 
recommending suitable candidates to the 
Board, the Nomination Committee will take 
into consideration merits of the candidates, 
such as qualifications, work experiences, and 
time commitment, and against objective 
criteria, with due regard for the benefits of 
diversity (including, without limitation, gender, 

age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, sk il ls, 
knowledge and length of service).

Under i ts revised terms of reference as 
approved by the Board, the Nomination 
Committee is delegated with the task of 
reviewing the Board Diversity Policy and the 
measurable objectives that the Board has set 
for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, 
and monitor the progress on achieving these 
objectives. A summary of the Board Diversity 
Policy is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 55 of this annual report.

Nomination Procedure, Process and Criteria
In respect of nomination of Directors, the 
Company adopts the following procedure:

1. N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  m a k e s 
recommendations to the Board on any 
proposed changes,

2. N o m i n a t i o n Co m m i t t e e  i d e n t i f i e s 
individuals suitably qualified to become 
Directors,

3. N o m i n a t i o n  C o m m i t t e e  m a k e s 
recommendations to the Board and 
nominates candidates for directorships, 
and

4. The Board makes formal invitation to 
selected persons for appointment to the 
Board.

In addition, Shareholders may propose a 
person for election as a Director in accordance 
with the procedure set out on the Company’s 
website.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
The Articles of Association provide that any 
Director appointed either to fil l a casual 
vacancy on the Board or as an addition to 
the existing Board shall hold office until the 
next following annual general meeting of the 
Company and shall be eligible for re-election. 
The Articles of Association also provide that 
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one-third of the Directors for the time being, 
or, if the number is not a multiple of three, 
the number nearest to but not less than one 
third shall retire from office by rotation at 
each annual general meeting of the Company 
provided that every Director shall be subject 
to retirement by rotation at least once every 
three years.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, 
Mr. Chen Yepern, Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir and Mr. 
Lim Mun Kee shall retire from office at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. Chen 
Yepern, Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul 
Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir and Mr. Lim Mun 
Kee, being eligible, will offer themselves for 
re-election.

Other than Mr. Timothy Patrick McNally who 
is appointed for a specific term of three years, 
each of the INEDs is appointed for a term of 
one year. The appointment may be renewed 
at the discretion of the Board but are subject 
to retirement by rotation and re-election in 
accordance with the Articles of Association.

Summary of Work Done
During the Year, work per formed by the 
Nomination Committee included (1) reviewing 
and recommending to the Board that the 
retiring Directors to stand for re-election at the 
2016 annual general meeting; (2) reviewing 
the structure, size and composition of the 
Board; (3) reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, 
measurable objectives for implementing 
this policy and the progress on achieving 
objectives; (4) assessing and arranging for 
confirmation of independence of each INEDs 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; 
(5) considering the renewal of appointment 
letters of three INEDs and recommending to 
the Board for approval; (6) considering the 
renewal of the service agreement of the CEO 
for a period of 3 years and recommending to 
the Board for approval; and (7) reviewing and 
endorsing the Nomination Committee Report 

included in the 2015 annual report of the 
Company and recommending to the Board for 
approval.

For the Year, two Nomination Committee 
meetings were held. Details of the attendance 
of the Nomination Committee members are 
set out below:

Name of Directors

Number of 
Meetings 

Attended/Held

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 2/2
Mr. Chen Yepern 2/2

Independent 
 Non-executive Directors
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima 
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji 
 Sheikh Fadzir (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Lim Mun Kee 2/2
Mr. Michael Lai Kai Jin 2/2

Subsequent to the year end, the Nomination 
Committee reviewed the current Board 
composition against the objective criteria set 
out in the Board Diversity Policy. An analysis of 
the current Board composition based on these 
criteria is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Report on page 53. The Committee considers 
that the existing members of the Board 
possess a diverse mix of skills, knowledge and 
experience in light of the current business 
needs of the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin 
 Haji Sheikh Fadzir (Chairman)
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong
Chen Yepern
Lim Mun Kee
Michael Lai Kai Jin

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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Independent Review of Investment Risks in Cambodia

Political and Economic Risk Consultancy, Ltd. 
(“PERC”)
20/F, Central Tower
28 Queen’s Road, Central
Hong Kong

TO THE BOARD OF NAGACORP LTD.
We have assessed and reviewed the political, 
social, investment and macro-economic risks 
in Cambodia as they relate to NagaCorp’s 
casino, hotel and entertainment business 

operations. In arriving at our findings below, 
we have taken into account, amongst others, 
domestic political risks, social instability risks, 
institutional weaknesses, human resource risks, 
infrastructure risks and external political risks.

Based on the assessments and reviews carried 
out between late November 2016 and the 
end of December 2016, we summarised our 
findings below:

Perceptions of Cambodia’s 
Business Environment Risks

How Perceptions of Cambodian 
Socio-Political Risks Compare
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Grade

Grades range from zero to 10, with zero being the 
best grade possible and 10 the worst.

Grades range from zero to 10, with zero being the 
best grade possible and 10 the worst.

We quantify investment risks in Cambodia 
t h ro u g h t h e  m e a s u re  o f  t h e  fo l l o w i n g 
variables:

• Domestic political risks
• Social instability risks
• Institutional weaknesses
• Human resource risks
• Infrastructure risks
• External political risks

Each of these variables is itself made up of a 
number of sub-variables relating to specific 
aspects of the category being assessed. The 
weighted sum of the grades for sub-variables 

equals the score of a broader variable, while 
the weighted sum of the grades of the broad 
variables defines overall investment risks in 
Cambodia. We have treated each variable as 
having equal importance or weight.

Summary
The maximum possible risk rating is 10 (the 
worst grade possible) while the minimum is 
0 (the most favorable grade possible). PERC’s 
most recent risk survey gives Cambodia an 
overall risk grade of 5.62 (better than one year 
ago). Cambodia’s socio-political risks have 
improved in the past year, as concerns have 
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subsided that the 2018 national elections will 
result in a disruptive change of government. 
Social conditions remain stable. In addition, 
a new labor law and revisions to the process 
for setting minimum wages have reduced the 
problem of labor unrest.

One of the most positive features of the 
environment has been the continuing growth 
of tourism, including from China. This has 
helped to sustain the growth of the economy 
at a real 7%, one of the most rapid rates in 
Asia. Other contributing factors include the 
inflow of foreign direct investment, the rapid 
growth of construction, and strong export 
growth, especially to the EU. The agricultural 
sector has been a weak point, but the positive 
engines driving the economy should keep real 
annual growth expanding in a range of 6.5% to 
7.5% for the next five years.

Cambodia’s five biggest challenges are to: 
(1) improve human resources and labor 
productivity, (2) improve logistics, (3) reduce 
the cost of electricity, (4) reduce corruption 
and bureaucratic inefficiency, and (5) diversify 
the industrial base beyond garments and 
footwear. The government is making headway 
in all these areas, but progress is slow and, in 
some cases, spotty.

The biggest institutional improvements have 
been in the performance of departments 
dealing with education, commerce, taxation, 
customs and the electoral commission. In 
contrast, there has been slower progress 
addressing deficiencies such as weaknesses in 
the judiciary, a top-heavy Cabinet system, and 
political parties in which personalities play a 
more important (and divisive) role than ideas. 
The resulting political headlines tend to create 
a negative impression of the system and the 
country when the actual economic results and 
levels of social and political stability paint a 
much more positive and accurate picture.

Judging from where Cambodia’s new direct 
investments are coming from and the home 
countries of the biggest groups of foreign 
tourists, the more positive image of Cambodia 
is reaching the ears of people in neighboring 
Asian countries, especially China, Korea, Japan 
and ASEAN member nations, faster than it is in 
the US or Europe. Cambodia’s relations with all 
these neighboring countries are stable.

The biggest threat over the next two years is 
that economic conditions in some of these 
neighbors, most notably China, could prompt 
their governments to place curbs on capital 
outflows in ways that interfere with the growth 
of tourism revenues for Cambodia. However, 
judging from the way such flows were not 
affected over the past two years by Beijing 
corruption crackdown even though they 
did hurt places like Macao and Hong Kong, 
Cambodia is less vulnerable to such risks than 
most other countries in the region. This could 
be because Beijing places such a high priority 
on maintaining strong relations with Phnom 
Penh that it is especially generous with its 
economic assistance to the country.

Positive Developments
• The rapid growth of the economy and 

improved level of personal safety are 
holding down the level of political 
activism and should help to preserve 
stability going forward.

• There has been a reduction in corruption 
and an improvement in efficiency in the 
tax department and Customs, which 
has raised the level of tax collection 
sharply and helped to strengthen the 
government’s fiscal position.
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• Tourism inflows from Mainland China 
continued to grow strongly to Cambodia 
in 2016, despite China’s economic 
slowdown and government policies that 
caused a sharp fall in Mainland visitors 
to places like Macao. The strong visitor 
inflows from China reflect both the 
continuing attractiveness to Mainland 
Chinese of Cambodia as a destination 
and the emphasis Beijing is placing on 
cultivating a strong relationship with 
Cambodia.

• The government has established a 
more effective minimum wage-setting 
mechanism and passed a new labor 
union law. These reforms are helping to 
preserve labor stability, as evidenced 
by a 70% reduction in the number of 
strikes. It is also now less likely that 
demands for higher pay will be so 
politicized that they result in disruptive 
demonstrations just before or after the 
next national elections.

• The National Bank of Cambodia has taken 
a stricter stance on bank licensing and 
restructured its banking supervision. It has 
also addressed credit risks by increasing 
reserve requirements, and by introducing 
a new credit reporting system, which 
coincides with the launch of a credit 
information bureau.

• Cambodia’s sovereign credit rating 
should remain stable, supported by the 
country’s robust economic growth and 
modest debt burden.

The Challenges
• Average real wages continue to grow 

faster than in other countr ies and 
are outpacing gains in productivity, 
which is hindered by low skill levels 
and weak nesses in  the educat ion 
and training system. The labor pool 
situation is likely to worsen due to the 
continuing strong influx of foreign 
direct investment.

• The underdevelopment of infrastructure 
p o s e s  s i g n i f i c a n t  c o n s t r a i n t s  t o 
industr ial and agricultural growth. 
I n a d e q u a t e  p r o j e c t  p r e p a r a t i o n , 
unsatisfactory project implementation, 
and lack of emphasis on maintaining 
infrastructure once built have plagued 
p u b l i c  i n v e s t m e n t  p r o g r a m s  a n d 
projects.

• The high cost of electricity continues 
to constrain the development of more 
sophisticated manufacturing processes, 
which in turn thwarts diversification. It 
has also hurt agricultural productivity by 
discouraging irrigation, which requires 
electricity.

• The threat of a rise of protectionism 
in the US, the EU and several other 
major markets does not bode well 
for Cambodia’s exports. (On the other 
hand, the failure of the Trans-Pacific 
Partnership to get off the ground might 
have been a setback for globalization, 
but it should help Cambodia remain 
competitive vis-à-vis Vietnam.)
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• Cambodia’s economy has strong links 
to China’s economy through official 
development assistance, FDI flows, and 
tourism. A sudden and sharp slowdown 
in China’s economy or a clampdown on 
capital outflows could constrict resource 
f lows to Cambodia through these 
channels.

• Credit growth, although slowing, is still 
too high. There has been a growing 
concentration of lending to the real 
estate sector,  which has added to 
financial stability risks and inflated asset 
prices.

Robert Broadfoot 
Managing Director 
PERC

Hong Kong, 9 January 2017

Robert Broadfoot researched and wrote the 
report on the review on investment risks in 
Cambodia. Mr. Broadfoot is the founder and 
Managing Director of Political & Economic 
Risk Consultancy, Ltd. (PERC). Established in 
1976, PERC is headquartered in Hong Kong 
and engaged principally in the monitoring 
and auditing of country risks in Asia. From this 
base, PERC manages a team of researchers and 
analysts in the ASEAN countries, the Greater 
China region and South Korea. Corporations 
and financial institutions worldwide use 
PERC’s services to assess key trends and 
critical issues shaping the region, to identify 
g r o w t h  o p p o r t u n i t i e s ,  a n d  t o  d e v e l o p 
effective strategies for capitalizing on these 
opportunities.

PERC helps companies understand how 
politics and other subjective variables are 
shaping the business environment. Such 
variables may be difficult to quantify, but 
nevertheless can have a critical impact on 
investment performance and therefore have to 
be factored into the decision-making process, 
which is the function of PERC’s services. PERC’s 
value lies in the organization’s experience, 
its Asian network of seasoned analysts, its 
emphasis on primary research, its complete 
independence from any vested interest groups, 
its pioneering work in the technical aspects 
of country risk research, its discretion, and its 
integrated, regional approach to analysis.
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Hill & Associates Ltd.,
1701 – 08 Tower Two,
Times Square,
1 Matheson Street,
Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong

To The Board of NagaCorp Ltd.
Hill & Associates Ltd. (“H&A”) has conducted 
two independent reviews of the internal 
controls of NagaCorp Ltd. (“NagaCorp” or 
the “Company”) with a focus on anti-money 
laundering (“AML”), covering the entire 2016 
year until December 31. The reviews included 
site visits in July and December. During 
the site visits, H&A examined all relevant 
d o c u m e n t a t i o n ,  c o n d u c t e d  i n t e r v i e w s 
with management including Mahendran 
Supramaniam, the Head of Internal Audit, 
Philip Lee, the Chief Financial Officer and 
Compliance Officer for the Company and 
Timothy McNally, Chairman of the Company 
and also Chairman of the AML Oversight 
Committee.

NagaCorp continues to apply the controls 
required in the updated AML Manual which 
was updated by NagaCorp in the first half 
of 2014. The reason for this updating was 
to ref lect the requirements of both the 
Cambodian 2010 AML Prakas and also the 
updated 2012 Financial Action Task Force 
(“FATF”) Recommendations. As previously 
reported, there were no substantive changes 
to the FATF Recommendations but an updated 
numbering system had been adopted for the 
Recommendations and this report reflects 
these changes in the findings section.

During the site visit H&A also reviewed 
records on the ongoing AML training of 
relevant NagaCorp staff. In 2016, forty-five 

training courses were conducted. A total of 
2061 staff training attendances took place. 
The significant majority of the attendees 
were from casino operations but treasury and 
surveillance staff were also trained during this 
period. The training is based on the Company’s 
Tr a i n i n g M a n u a l  w h i c h w a s  p re v i o u s l y 
evaluated by Hill & Associates as a particularly 
useful training tool. This ongoing process is 
recognized by H&A as providing substantial 
understanding of AML issues at all levels of 
NagaCorp.

As with the audits of the last few years, 
our  main point  of  contac t  remains M r. 
Mahendran Supramaniam, who is the Head of 
Internal Audit and in that role has significant 
involvement in the successful application of 
all required AML controls, in coordination with 
the NagaCorp Compliance Officer Mr. Philip 
Lee. H&A recognizes the continued significant 
positive importance of this role in advising 
on the controls and procedures within the 
AML department and implementing all audit 
operations in NagaCorp. There has been no 
deterioration whatsoever in the diligence 
applied in the adherence to all laws and 
regulations concerning AML in NagaCorp.

H&A notes that the Suspicious Transaction 
Records (STRs) continue to record all necessary 
and relevant information and that there 
is  cross- check ing between sur vei l lance, 
operations and AML compliance staff within 
a large number of these reports. The majority 
of the STRs refer to incidences of small note 
transactions or small numbers of counterfeit 
notes with no significant AML issue being 
i d e nt i f i e d i n  2 0 1 6 .  Th e re v i e w te a m i s 
satisfied NagaCorp maintains full control of 
the gaming operations and these operations 
remain compliant with al l  relevant FATF 
recommendations.
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As H&A noted in our previous reviews, the 
most recent assessment of Cambodia by FATF 
in February 2015 resulted in the recognition 
of the progress made by the country with 
respect to anti-money laundering controls. 
Continuing the assessment process, the Asia/
Pacific Group on Money Laundering (“APG”) 
conducted a Mutual Evaluation of Cambodia 
in December 2016. During this evaluation the 
inspecting team from APG selected a number 
of businesses to interview as part of the 
assessment process. NagaWorld, the Phnom 
Penh based gaming operator of NagaCorp was 
one of two gaming operators selected. Senior 
executives from NagaCorp, including CFO and 
Compliance Officer Philip Lee and Chairman 
Timothy McNally were part of the NagaCorp 
representative team. John Bruce of Hill & 
Associates attended to provide details of the 
extensive third party auditing that NagaCorp 
has undertaken since its listing on the Hong 
Kong Stock Exchange.

An extensive interview process by the APG, led 
by Deputy Executive Secretary Eliot Kennedy, 
covered both NagaCorp’s internal processes 
and also the relationship and processes 
b e t w e e n  N a g a C o r p  a n d  t h e  F i n a n c i a l 
Investigation Unit (“FIU”) of the National Bank 
of Cambodia. The focus of the APG was very 
much on the latter but during the interview 
the leading role played by NagaCorp in the 
AML process in Cambodia was particularly 
apparent.

An example of cooperation between NagaCorp 
and the FIU occurred when, in June 2016, 
senior NagaCorp staff attended a workshop on 
AML controls held by the Ministry of Economy 
and Finance, for all licensed casino operators. 
One important update discussed at that 
workshop was the introduction of electronic 
reporting to the FIU for the casino sector. This 
has already been implemented for the banking 
sector in Cambodia. The Company is currently 
upgrading the relevant IT systems to meet the 

requirement for electronic reporting. The final 
adoption process is currently underway with 
an adjustment to the internal IT controls of the 
Company being made in order to accurately 
match the FIU template and implementation is 
expected in January 2017. Previous reporting 
had required manual submission by the 
Company.

H&A recognizes that NagaCorp remains at the 
forefront of implementing AML controls in 
Cambodia and we also note that NagaCorp is 
committed to full compliance with all national 
and international laws and regulations on 
AML. Sources within the National Bank of 
Cambodia and also external sources consulted 
by H&A acknowledge that NagaCorp remains 
at the forefront of AML compliance efforts in 
Cambodia.

The review team found NagaCorp to be 
in full compliance with all relevant FATF 
recommendations and also noted that the 
upgrading of Cambodia by FATF is a very 
positive development.

John Bruce
Director of Operations (Macau)
Head of Corporate Intelligence North Asia
Hill & Associates Ltd.

Hong Kong, 13 January 2017

Hil l  & Associates Ltd is an independent 
security and risk management consultancy 
with working knowledge of and extensive 
experience in AML and Risk management.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting 
their annual report together with the audited 
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

Adoption of Dual Foreign Name
With effect from 20 April 2016, the Company 
has adopted the Chinese name “金界控股有限
公司” (which has been used for identification 
purposes only) as its dual foreign name 
pursuant to a special resolution passed by the 
Shareholders at the annual general meeting of 
the Company held on 20 April 2016.

Principal Place of Business
T h e  C o m p a n y  w a s  i n c o r p o r a t e d  a s  a n 
exempted company with limited liability in the 
Cayman Islands on 25 February 2003 and has 
its registered office at Cricket Square, Hutchins 
Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, 
Cayman Islands and its principal place of 
business at NagaWorld, Samdech Techo Hun 
Sen Park, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of Cambodia.

Principal Activities and 
Geographical Analysis of 
Operations
The Company is  an investment holding 
company. The principal activity of the Group 
is the operation of a hotel and entertainment 
complex, NagaWorld, in Cambodia. Other 
particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set 
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements. There were no significant changes 
in the nature of the Group’s principal activities 
during the Year. An analysis of the Group’s 
performance for the Year by business segment 
and its geographical segment information is 
set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Business Review
A review of the business of the Group during 
the Year and a discussion on the Group’s 
future business development are provided 
in the Management Discussion and Analysis 
on pages 10 to 21 of this annual report. 
Description of possible risks and uncertainties 
that the Group may be facing can be found in 
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 
52 to 69. Also, the financial risk management 
objectives and policies of the Group can be 
found in note 27 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The Board has not identified 
any important events affecting the Group 
that have occurred since the end of the Year. 
During the Year, the Company was not aware 
of any non-compliance with any relevant laws 
and regulations that had a significant impact 
on it.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during 
the Year using financial key performance 
i n d i c ato r s  i s  p rov i d e d i n  t h e Fi n a n c i a l 
Highlights on page 4 of this annual report. 
I n addit ion,  discussions on the Group’s 
environmental policies and performance are 
contained in the Environmental, Social and 
Governance Report on pages 28 to 49 of this 
annual report.

All references herein to other sections or 
reports in this annual report form part of this 
Report of the Directors.

In regard to the stakeholder relationships, 
NagaCorp understands the importance of 
creating and maintaining a holistic network 
of relationships to its business operations, 
and places pr ior ity in engaging var ious 
stakeholders  in i ts  da i ly  ac t iv i t ies .  The 
Company believes that healthy relationships 



82 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Report of the Directors

can be cultivated by maintaining active 
communication with employees, qual ity 
services and improved products to our players 
and customers, and collaborating with key 
business associates.

W i t h  o v e r  6 , 0 0 0  e m p l o y e e s  d i v e r s e l y 
representing over 29 nationalities, NagaWorld 
s u p p o r t s  a  f a i r,  t r a n s p a r e n t  a n d  h i g h 
per formance culture though i ts  Human 
Resources Department in key areas such as 
recruitment, compensation and benefits, 
per formance management,  training and 
development and employee relations, details 
of which are set out in the Environmental, 
Social and Governance Report on pages 28 to 
49 of this annual report.

The Group a ims to be one of  the best 
hospitality providers in the Mekong Region 
and has provided proper and structured 
training to all of its service staff so as to 
ensure its players and customers receive 
international-standard services. Most of the 
local service staff are also able to converse 
either in English or Mandarin, which facilitates 
communication for our players and customers 
whom mainly originate from Southeast Asian 
and North Asian regions.

Apart from providing quality services and 
improved products to our players during their 
stay in NagaWorld, the Group via its Golden 
Edge Rewards Club loyalty program continues 
to understand its members’ profile, create 
targeted marketing promotions and rollout 

player development initiatives to increase the 
number of visitors and the amount of gaming 
spending.

The Group believes in the power of positive 
par tnerships to consol idate i ts posit ion 
as the premier gaming destination in the 
Mekong Region. By collaborating with quality 
business associates, NagaCorp will be able to 
consistently deliver quality and sustainable 
products and services.

A s  o n e o f  i t s  i n i t i a t i ve s  t o  p ro p e l  t h e 
Ca m b o d i a n e co n o my,  t h e G ro u p f i r m l y 
believes in engaging local companies for the 
sourcing of services and products required 
by NagaWorld. In 2016, about 85% of the 
total business partners are local suppliers and 
contractors supplying products and services to 
our businesses and expansion. As a result, the 
Group is estimated to have contributed about 
2.99% to the Cambodian Gross Domestic 
Product (calculated based on expenditures) in 
2016.

Major Junket Operators
NagaCorp continues to maintain strong 
working relationships with junket operators. 
R e g u l a r  e v e n t s  s h o w c a s i n g  r e n o w n e d 
international stars are held to assist the junket 
operators to develop their business for mutual 
benefit.

The information in respect of the Group’s 
revenue and cost of sales attributable to the 
major junket operators during the Year is as 
follows:

Percentage of the
Group’s Total

Revenue Cost of Sales

The largest junket operator 9% 21%
Five largest junket operators in aggregate 35% 73%
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To the best knowledge of the Directors, none 
of the Directors or their close associates 
(as defined in the List ing Rules) or any 
Shareholders (who, to the best knowledge of 
the Directors, own more than 5% of the issued 
Shares) had any interest in the five largest 
junket operators for the Year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The aggregate amount of operating revenues 
attr ibutable to the Group’s f ive largest 
customers (excluding junket operators) 
represented less than 30% of the Group’s 
total operating revenues for the Year. The 
aggregate amount of purchases (not including 
the purchases of items that are of a capital 
nature) attr ibutable to the Group’s f ive 
largest suppliers (excluding junket operators) 
represented less than 30% of the Group’s total 
purchases for the Year.

Results and Appropriations
The financial performance of the Group for the 
Year is set out in the consolidated statement of 
income on page 104.

An interim dividend for the Shareholders and 
a distribution to the holder of Convertible 
Bonds (the “Bondholder”) of US cents 2.77 per 
Share/Conversion Share (2015: US cents 2.67 
per Share) for the six months ended 30 June 
2016 was declared in August 2016 and paid in 
September 2016. The Directors proposed the 
payment of a final dividend for Shareholder 
and distribution for the Bondholder of US 
cent 0.82 per Share/Conversion Share (2015: 
US cents 1.89 per Share) for the Year. The 
proposed final dividend and distribution for 
the Year together with the interim dividend 
and distribution for the six months ended 
30 June 2016 represented a dividend and 
distribution payout ratio of approximately 
60%.

Summary of Financial Information
A summary of the results and of the assets and 
liabilities of the Group for the last five financial 
years is set out on page 172.

Transfer to Reserves
The profit attributable to equity shareholders 
o f  t h e  C o m p a n y,  b e f o r e  d i v i d e n d s ,  o f 
US$184,159,000 (2015:  US$172,623,000) 
have been transferred to the reserves. Other 
movements in reserves are set out in the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity 
on page 108.

Pre-emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights 
under the Articles of Association and the 
laws of the Cayman Islands that oblige the 
Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata 
basis to its existing Shareholders.

Charitable Donations
Charitable donations made by the Group 
during the Year amounted to US$1,308,000 
(2015: US$1,096,000) ,  a l l  of which were 
donated in Cambodia.

Issue of Shares
Pursuant to the Placing and Subscription 
Agreement, the Company allotted and issued 
190,000,000 Subscription Shares of US$0.0125 
each at a subscription price of HK$5.00 
per Share to Fourth Star Finance Corp., a 
substantial shareholder of the Company, 
on 9 September 2016 following completion 
of the top-up placing of an aggregate of 
190,000,000 Placing Shares to not less than 
six independent investors at a placing price 
of HK$5.00 each. The gross proceeds and net 
proceeds from the subscription amounted 
t o  a p p r o x i m a t e l y  H K $ 9 5 0 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0  a n d 
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approximately HK$930,000,000, respectively. 
The net subscription price, after deduction of 
the Company’s share of relevant costs, fees and 
expenses, amounted to approximately HK$4.89 
per Subscription Share.

The 190,000,000 Subscription Shares were 
allotted and issued under the general mandate 
granted to the Directors by its Shareholders at 
the annual general meeting of the Company 
held on 20 April 2016.

For further details of the abovementioned 
Subscription Shares and the movement in 
share capital, please refer to the section 
headed “Equity-Linked Agreements” below 
and note 22 to the consolidated financial 
statements. Save as disclosed above, the 
Company has not issued any Shares during the 
Year.

Issue of Convertible Bonds
During the Year, the Company has issued the 
following Convertible Bonds:

• Convertible Bonds with a principal 
a m o u n t  o f  U S $ 9 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0  o n  a 
perpetual basis with no maturity date

• Convertible Bonds with a principal 
a m o u n t  o f  U S $ 2 7 5 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0  o n  a 
perpetual basis with no maturity date

For further details of the abovementioned 
Convertible Bonds, please refer to the section 
headed “Equity-Linked Agreements” below 

and note 22(c)(ii) to the consolidated financial 
statements. Save as disclosed above, the 
Company has not issued any debentures 
during the Year.

Reserves
Movements in the reserves of the Company 
and of the Group are set out in note 34 to the 
consolidated financial statements and the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity 
respectively.

Remuneration
In compliance with the Corporate Governance 
Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing 
Rules, the Company has a Remuneration 
Committee to formulate compensation policies 
and determine and manage the compensation 
of the Group’s senior management.

Remuneration of the Directors and 
Senior Management
Details of the remuneration of the Directors 
and of the Group’s senior management are 
set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Tax Relief
The Company is not aware of any relief on 
taxation available to the Shareholders by 
reason of their holdings of the Shares. If the 
Shareholders are unsure about the taxation 
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing 
of, dealing in, or exercising of any rights in 
relation to the Shares, they are advised to 
consult an expert.
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Directors
The Directors during the Year and up to the 
date of this report were:

Chairman and Non-executive Director:
Timothy Patrick McNally M

Executive Directors:
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong R/N/M

 (Chief Executive Officer)
Philip Lee Wai Tuck
 (Chief Financial Officer)
Chen Yiy Fon M

Chen Yepern R/N/M

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Michael Lai Kai Jin A/R/N/M

Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin 
 Haji Sheikh Fadzir A/R/N

Lim Mun Kee A/R/N

A: Members of Audit Committee
R: Members of Remuneration Committee
N: Members of Nomination Committee
M: M e m b e r s  o f  A n t i - M o n e y L a u n d e r i n g 

Oversight Committee

In accordance with Article 87 of the Articles 
of Association, Mr. Chen Yepern, Tan Sri Datuk 
Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh 
Fadzir and Mr. Lim Mun Kee shall retire from 
office by rotation at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting. All retiring Directors, being 
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Chief Executives’ 
Interests and Short Positions in 
Shares and Underlying Shares and 
Debentures of the Company and its 
Associated Corporations
The Direc tors who held of f ice as at  31 
December 2016 had the following interests in 
the Shares and underlying Shares at that date 
as recorded in the register of directors’ and 
chief executive’s interests required to be kept 
under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise 
noti f ied to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set 
out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules:
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(1) Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares

Name of Director Capacity

Number of
Shares/

Underlying
Shares held

% of
Total

Issued
Shares

(Note 1)

Tan Sri Dr Chen Founder of a discretionary 951,795,297 (L) 38.69 (L)
 Lip Keong  trust (Note 2)

Tan Sri Dr Chen Beneficial owner 7,150,000 (L) 0.29 (L)
 Lip Keong

Tan Sri Dr Chen Beneficial owner (Note 3) 1,881,019,166 (L) 76.46 (L)
 Lip Keong

“Substantial Shareholders’ and Other 
Persons’ Interests and Short Positions 
in Shares and Underlying Shares” 
below.

(3) Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong holds two 
separate series of Convertible Bonds 
(unlisted equity derivatives) in the 
principal amount of US$94,000,000 
and US$275,000,000, respectively. 
Assuming full conversion of these 
two separate series of Convertible 
Bonds at the conversion price of 
HK$1.5301 per Share, 1,881,019,166 
Shares would be issued to Tan Sri Dr 
Chen Lip Keong. The conversion price 
and the number of the Conversion 
Shares are subject to adjustments 
i n  t h e  e v e n t  o f  f u t u r e  c a p i t a l 
restructuring.

(4) The letter “L” denotes the entity’s long 
position in the Shares.

Notes:
(1) Based on the Company’s issued share 

capital of 2,459,988,875 Shares as at 
31 December 2016.

(2) Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong is the 
fo u n d e r  o f  C h e n L a Fo u n d at i o n . 
C h e n L a  F o u n d a t i o n  i n d i r e c t l y 
holds, through LIPKCO ENTERPRISES 
L I M I T E D  ( f o r m e r l y  k n o w n  a s 
Cambodia Development Corporation) 
and Fourth Star Finance Corp., a total 
of 951,795,297 Shares. As a founder of 
ChenLa Foundation, Tan Sri Dr Chen 
Lip Keong is taken to be interested 
i n  t h e  S h a r e s  h e l d  b y  C h e n L a 
Foundation. Details of the interests 
in the Company held by ChenLa 
Foundation, LIPKCO ENTERPRISES 
L I M I T E D  ( f o r m e r l y  k n o w n  a s 
Cambodia Development Corporation) 
a n d  Fo u r t h  S t a r  F i n a n c e  C o r p. 
are set out in the section headed 

(2) Interests in Debentures of the Company
As disclosed above, Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong beneficially owns two separate series of 
Convertible Bonds in an aggregate amount of US$94,000,000 and US$275,000,000, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2016, none of the Directors or the chief executive of 
the Company had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified 
to the Company pursuant to the Model Code.
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Substantial Shareholders’ and Other Persons’ Interests and Short 
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares
So far as the Directors or the chief executives of the Company are aware of, as at 31 December 
2016, the Shareholders, other than a Director or the chief executive of the Company, who had 
an interest or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed 
to the Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 in Part XV of the SFO, or which would be 
required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, 
were as follows:

(1) Substantial Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)

Name of Shareholders Capacity
Number of

Shares held

% of
Total Issued

Shares
(Note 1)

ChenLa Foundation Interest of controlled 
 corporation (Note 2)

951,795,297 (L) 38.69 (L)

Fourth Star Finance Corp. Beneficial owner 789,534,854 (L) 32.09 (L)

(2) Other Person

Name of Shareholder Capacity
Number of

Shares held

% of
Total Issued

Shares
(Note 1)

Cambodia Development 
 Corporation (Note 3)

Beneficial owner 162,260,443 (L) 6.60 (L)

Notes:
(1) Based on the Company’s issued share capital of 2,459,988,875 Shares as at 31 December 2016.

(2) Such interests are held by Fourth Star Finance Corp. and LIPKCO ENTERPRISES LIMITED 
(formerly known as Cambodia Development Corporation) which in turn were controlled by 
ChenLa Foundation of which Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong is the founder.

(3) So far as known to the Company, Cambodia Development Corporation has been renamed as 
LIPKCO ENTERPRISES LIMITED effective 31 January 2017.

(4) The letter “L” denotes the entity’s long position in the Shares.
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Save as disclosed above and so far as the Directors and the chief executive of the Company are 
aware of, as at 31 December 2016, no other party (other than a Director or the chief executive 
of the Company) had an interest or short positions in the Shares or the underlying Shares which 
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 in Part XV of 
the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the 
register referred to therein.

Dilutive Impact of the Convertible Bonds on the Substantial 
Shareholders’ Shareholdings
Assuming that there is no change in share capital of the Company from 31 December 2016 
and the Convertible Bonds are converted in full, the shareholding structures of the Company 
immediately before and after the conversion of the Convertible Bonds are set out below for 
illustration purposes:

Shareholding Structure
immediately before

the Conversion of
Convertible Bonds

Shareholding Structure
immediately after
the Conversion of
Convertible Bonds

Name of Shareholders
Number of 

Shares held %
Number of 

Shares held %

Fourth Star Finance Corp. 789,534,854 32.09 789,534,854 18.19
LIPKCO ENTERPRISES LIMITED 
 (formerly known as 
 Cambodia Development 
 Corporation)

162,260,443 6.60 162,260,443 3.74

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong 7,150,000 0.29 1,888,169,166 43.49
Other Shareholders 1,501,043,578 61.02 1,501,043,578 34.58

2,459,988,875 100.00 4,341,008,041 100.00
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Summary of the Share Option 
Schemes of the Company
The Existing Scheme has a life of ten years until 
19 April 2026. The Old Scheme has expired on 
18 October 2016. The principal terms of each 
of the Old Scheme and the Existing Scheme 
(together the “Share Option Schemes”) are 
summarised below:

(a) The Old Scheme
(1) Purpose

The purpose of the Old Scheme 
is to permit the Company to 
issue share options to eligible 
p a r t i c i p a n t s  t o  a s s i s t  t h e 
Company to attract and retain the 
best available personnel and to 
provide additional incentives to 
them to promote the success of 
the Group.

(2) Eligible Participants
Eligible participants include any 
employee (whether full-time or 
part time), director (including 
i n d e p e n d e n t  n o n - e x e c u t i v e 
d i r e c t o r s ) ,  a n d  c o n s u l t a n t , 
business associate or advisor of 
any member of the Group.

(3) Total Number of Shares available 
for Issue
The maximum number of Shares 
which may be issued upon the 
exercise of al l  options to be 
granted by the Company under 
the Old Scheme must not exceed 

in aggregate 10% of the issued 
share capital of the Company 
as at its adoption date (being 
200,000,000 Shares as at such 
date).

Subject to the approval of the 
Shareholders in general meeting, 
the limit may be refreshed to 10% 
of the Shares in issue as at the 
date of approval of such limit. 
Options previously granted under 
the Old Scheme (including those 
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed or 
exercised in accordance with the 
Old Scheme) shall not be counted 
for the purpose of calculating the 
limit as refreshed.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
the maximum number of Shares 
w h i c h  m a y  b e  i s s u e d  u p o n 
e x e r c i s e  o f  a l l  o u t s t a n d i n g 
options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Old Scheme 
a n d a ny  o t h e r  s h a re  o p t i o n 
schemes of the Company must 
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% 
of the issued share capital of the 
Company from time to time. No 
options may be granted under 
the Old Scheme or any other 
schemes if this will result in such 
overall limit being exceeded.

As at the date of this annual 
report, no Shares is available for 
issue under the Old Scheme and 
no further option will be granted 
under the Old Scheme.
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(4) Total Maximum Entitlement of 
each Eligible Participant
Unless approved by the Shareholders 
in general meeting, the total 
number of Shares issued and 
to be issued upon exercise of 
all options granted and to be 
gra n te d ( w h e t h e r  e xe rc i s e d, 
cancelled or outstanding) under 
the Old Scheme to any eligible 
par t ic ipant in any 12-month 
period shall not exceed 1% of the 
Shares in issue from time to time.

Options granted to a substantial 
s h a re h o l d e r  o r  i n d e p e n d e n t 
n o n - e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r  o f 
the Company or any of their 
respective associates (as defined 
i n  t h e  L i s t i n g R u l e s )  i n  a ny 
1 2 - m o n t h p e r i o d u p t o  a n d 
including the date of such grant 
in excess of 0.1% of the issued 
share capital of the Company 
and having an aggregate value, 
based on the closing price of the 
Shares at the date of each grant, 
exceeding HK$5 mill ion must 
be approved by Shareholders in 
general meeting in advance.

(5) Option Period
The per iod within which the 
o p t i o n s  m a y  b e  e x e r c i s e d 
under the Old Scheme will be 
determined by the Board at the 
time of grant, save that such 
period must not exceed 10 years 
from the date of grant of the 
relevant option.

(6) Minimum Period for which an 
Option must be Held before it 
can be Exercised
No minimum period for which 
an option must be held before it 
can be exercised unless otherwise 
determined by the Board at the 
time of grant.

(7) Payment on Acceptance of the 
Option
No consideration is payable by 
the el igible par ticipant upon 
the acceptance of an option. An 
offer of an option must be made 
by the Company in writing on 
a business day and accepted in 
writing by the eligible participant 
in such manner as the Board may 
prescribe within 21 calendar days 
(from and including the date of 
the offer by the Company) of the 
same being made and if not so 
accepted such offer shall lapse.

(8) Basis of Determining the Exercise 
Price
The exercise price of the options 
s h a l l  b e  d e t e r m i n e d  b y  t h e 
Board and notified to the eligible 
participants at the time of the 
grant but shall not be less than 
the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the 
S h a r e s  o n  t h e  S t o c k 
Exchange as stated in the 
S t o c k  E xc h a n g e’s  d a i l y 
quotations sheet on the 
date of the grant of such 
option, which must be a 
business day;
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(ii) the average closing price 
o f  t h e  S h a r e s  o n  t h e 
Stock Exchange as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s 
dai ly quotations sheets 
for the five business days 
immediately preceding the 
date of the grant of such 
option; and

(iii) the nominal value of the 
shares.

Since its adoption and up to the expiry date 
of the Old Scheme, no share option has 
been granted by the Company under the 
Old Scheme. Accordingly, there were no 
outstanding share options granted under 
the Old Scheme as at the date of this annual 
report.

(b) The Existing Scheme
(1) Purpose

The pu r pose of  the Ex is t ing 
Scheme is to provide incentive or 
reward to the eligible participants 
for their contribution to, and 
continuing efforts to promote the 
interests of the Group.

(2) Eligible Participants
Eligible participants include any 
employee (whether fu l l - t ime 
o r  p a r t  t i m e ) ,  e xe c u t i ve s  o r 
officers, directors of the Group 
or any invested entity and any 
consultant, business associates, 
adviser or agent of any member 
of the Group or any invested 

entity, who have contributed or 
will contribute to the growth and 
development of the Group or any 
invested entity.

(3) Total Number of Shares available 
for Issue
The maximum number of Shares 
which may be issued upon the 
exercise of al l  options to be 
granted by the Company under 
the Existing Scheme must not 
exceed in aggregate 10% of the 
Shares in issue of the Company 
as at its adoption date (being 
226,998,887 Shares as at such 
date).

Subject to the approval of the 
Shareholders in general meeting, 
the limit may be refreshed to 
10% of the Shares in issue as 
at the date of approval of such 
limit. Options previously granted 
under the Existing Scheme and 
any other share option schemes 
of the Company (including those 
outstanding, cancelled, lapsed in 
the accordance with the Existing 
Scheme or exercised) shall not 
be counted for the purpose of 
calculating the limit as refreshed.

As at the date of this annual 
re p o r t ,  t h e  t o t a l  n u m b e r  o f 
S h a r e s  a v a i l a b l e  f o r  i s s u e 
under the Existing Scheme is 
226,998,887 Shares, representing 
a p p rox i m a t e l y  9 . 2 3 % o f  t h e 
Shares in issue (i.e. 2,459,988,875 
Shares) as at the date of this 
annual report.
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Notwithstanding the foregoing, 
the maximum number of Shares 
w h i c h  m a y  b e  i s s u e d  u p o n 
e x e r c i s e  o f  a l l  o u t s t a n d i n g 
options granted and yet to be 
exercised under the Exist ing 
Scheme and any other share 
option schemes of the Company 
must not, in aggregate, exceed 
30% of the Shares in issue from 
time to time. No options may 
be granted under the Existing 
Scheme or any other schemes if 
this will result in such overall limit 
being exceeded.

(4) Total Maximum Entitlement of 
each Eligible Participant
Unless approved by the Shareholders 
in general meeting, the total 
number of Shares issued and 
to be issued upon exercise of 
all options granted and to be 
gra n te d ( w h e t h e r  e xe rc i s e d, 
c a n c e l l e d  o r  o u t s t a n d i n g ) 
under the Existing Scheme to 
any eligible participant in any 
12-month period shall not exceed 
1% of the Shares in issue from 
time to time.

Options granted to a substantial 
s h a re h o l d e r  o r  i n d e p e n d e n t 
n o n - e x e c u t i v e  d i r e c t o r  o f 
the Company or any of their 
respective associates (as defined 
i n  t h e  L i s t i n g R u l e s )  i n  a ny 
1 2 - m o n t h p e r i o d u p t o  a n d 
including the date of such grant 
in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in 
issue and having an aggregate 
va l u e,  b a s e d o n t h e c l o s i n g 

price of the Shares at the date 
of each grant, exceeding HK$5 
mill ion must be approved by 
Shareholders in general meeting 
in advance.

(5) Option Period
The per iod within which the 
options may be exercised under 
t h e E x i s t i n g S c h e m e w i l l  b e 
determined by the Board at the 
time of grant, save that such 
period must not exceed 10 years 
from the date of grant of the 
relevant option.

(6) Minimum Period for which an 
Option must be Held before it 
can be Exercised
No minimum period for which 
an option must be held before it 
can be exercised unless otherwise 
determined by the Board at the 
time of grant.

(7) Payment on Acceptance of the 
Option
No consideration is payable by 
the el igible par ticipant upon 
the acceptance of an option. An 
offer of an option must be made 
by the Company in writing on 
a business day and accepted in 
writing by the eligible participant 
in such manner as the Board may 
prescribe within 21 calendar days 
(from and including the date of 
the offer by the Company) of the 
same being made and if not so 
accepted such offer shall lapse.
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(8) Basis of Determining the Exercise 
Price
The exercise price of the options 
s h a l l  b e  d e t e r m i n e d  b y  t h e 
Board and notified to the eligible 
participants at the time of the 
grant but shall not be less than 
the greater of:

(i) the closing price of the 
Shares as stated in the 
S t o c k  E xc h a n g e’s  d a i l y 
quotations sheet on the 
date of the grant of such 
option, which must be a 
business day;

(ii) the average closing price 
of the Shares as stated 
in the Stock Exchange’s 
dai ly quotations sheets 
for the five business days 
immediately preceding the 
date of the grant of such 
option; and

(iii) the nominal value of the 
Shares.

(9) The Remaining Life of the 
Existing Scheme
Unless otherwise terminated by 
the Board or the Shareholders in 
general meeting in accordance 
with the provisions of the Existing 
Scheme, the Existing Scheme 
shall be valid and effective for 

a period of 10 years from its 
adoption date, and after which no 
further options shall be granted 
or offered but the provisions 
of the Exist ing Scheme shal l 
remain in full force and effect 
and in all other respects with 
respect to options granted prior 
to such termination and not then 
exercised which shall continue to 
be valid and exercisable subject 
to and in accordance with the 
terms of the Existing Scheme.

Since its adoption and up to 31 December 
2016, no share option has been granted by 
the Company under the Existing Scheme. 
Accordingly, there were no outstanding share 
options as at the date of this annual report. 
Apart from the Existing Scheme, the Company 
has no other share option scheme currently in 
force as at the date of this annual report.

Apart from the foregoing, at no time during 
the Year was the Company, or any of its 
subsidiaries a par ty to any arrangement 
to enable the Directors to acquire benefits 
by means of the acquisition of shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body 
corporate.



94 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Report of the Directors

Sufficiency of Public Float
Based on the information that is publicly 
available to the Company and within the 
knowledge of the Directors as at the date of 
this report, the Company has maintained the 
prescribed public float under the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Interests in Competing 
Businesses
None of the Directors has interests in any 
business (apart from the Group’s businesses) 
which competes or is likely to compete, either 
directly and indirectly, with the businesses of 
the Group during the Year or at 31 December 
2016.

Directors’ Service Contracts
None of the Direc tors proposed for re -
election at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting has a ser vice contract with the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not 
determinable by the Group within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than 
statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, 
Arrangements or Contracts
Other than as disclosed under the section 
“Equity-linked Agreements” and “Connected 
Tr a n s a c t i o n s ” b e l o w,  n o  t r a n s a c t i o n s , 
arrangements or contracts of significance 
in relation to the Group’s business to which 
any of the Company’s subsidiaries and fellow 
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a 
Director or an entity connected with a Director 
had a material interest, whether directly or 
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the 
Year or at the end of the Year.

Shareholders’ Interests in Contracts 
of Significance
Other than as disclosed under the section 
“Equity-linked Agreements” and “Connected 
Transactions” below, no Shareholder had a 
material interest, either directly or indirectly, 
in any contract of significance (whether for 
the provision of services to the Company or 
not) to the business of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
during the Year.

Permitted Indemnity
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, subject 
to the applicable laws and regulations, every 
Director shall be indemnified and secured 
harmless out of the assets and profits of the 
Company against all actions, costs, charges, 
losses, damages and expenses which they or 
any of them may incur or sustain in or about 
the execution of their duty in their offices. 
Such permitted indemnity provision has been 
in force throughout the Year. The Company has 
arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance coverage for the directors 
and officers of the Group.

Properties
Par t iculars of the major proper t ies and 
property interests of the Group are set out 
in note 14 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of 
Listed Securities
During the Year, the Company did not redeem 
any of its securit ies l isted on the Stock 
Exchange nor did the Company or any of 
its subsidiaries purchase or sell any of such 
securities.
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Equity-linked Agreements
(a) Placing and Subscription Agreement

On 1 September 2016, the Company 
e n t e r e d  i n t o  t h e  P l a c i n g  a n d 
S u b s c r i p t i o n  A g r e e m e n t  w i t h  ( i ) 
Fo u r t h  S t a r  Fi n a n c e Co r p.  a s  t h e 
subscriber; ( i i) Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip 
Keong as the guarantor; and (iii) Morgan 
Stanley & Co. International Plc, China 
Merchants Securities (HK) Co., Limited 
and Union Gaming Secur it ies Asia 
Limited, collectively as the placing 
agents. Pursuant to the Placing and 
Subscription Agreement, the placing 
agents have agreed to act as agents 
for the subscriber to place and the 
subscriber has agreed to sell, a total 
of 190,000,000 existing Shares to not 
less than six placees who and whose 
ultimate beneficial owners will be third 
parties independent of and not acting 
in concert (as defined under the Hong 
Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers 
( t h e  “ Ta k e o v e r s  C o d e” ) )  w i t h  t h e 
subscriber, the Company, the guarantor 
and their respective associates and 
connected persons, at a placing price 
of HK$5.00 per Share (the “Placing”); 
while the subscriber has conditionally 
agreed to subscribe for 190,000,000 
Subscription Shares at a subscription 
p r i c e  o f  H K $ 5 . 0 0  p e r  S h a r e  ( t h e 
“Subscription”).

The Subscription is conditional upon 
(i) the Listing Committee of the Stock 
Exchange granting the listing of, and 
permission to deal in, the Subscription 
Shares; (ii) completion of the Placing; 
and (iii) the Executive Director of the 
Corporate Finance Divis ion of the 
Securities and Futures Commission or 
any delegate of the Executive Director 

granting waiver to the subscriber and 
parties acting in concert with it to make 
a mandatory general offer under Rule 26 
of the Takeovers Code for all securities of 
the Company other than those already 
owned or agreed to be acquired by the 
subscriber and parties acting in concert 
with it as a result of the allotment and 
issue of the Subscription Shares.

The Directors have considered various 
ways of raising funds and consider that 
it is in the interests of the Company 
to raise equity funding via the Placing 
and the Subscription to broaden its 
s h a re h o l d e r  b a s e,  s t re n g t h e n t h e 
capital base and to enhance its financial 
position and net assets base for long-
term development and growth.

O n 5  S e p t e m b e r  2 0 1 6 ,  a  t o t a l  o f 
190,000,000 Shares were successfully 
placed by the placing agents to not less 
than six independent investors at the 
placing price of HK$5.00 per Share and 
a total of 190,000,000 new Shares were 
allotted and issued to the subscriber at 
the subscription price of HK$5.00 per 
Share on 9 September 2016. The net 
subscription price, after deduction of 
the Company’s share of relevant costs, 
fees and expenses, is approximately 
HK$4.89 per Subscription Share.

The Company intends to use the net 
proceeds for the fit-out of the TSCLK 
Complex, which is expected to be 
operational around the middle of 2017, 
and for general corporate purposes. 
During the Year, approximately 16% 
of the net proceeds had been utilized 
or deployed in accordance with the 
intended use.
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(b) Share Purchase Agreement
The Company entered into the Share 
Pu rc h a s e Agre e m e n t  w i t h Ta n S r i 
Dr Chen Lip Keong, the controlling 
shareholder of the Company, to acquire 
the entire equity interests in TanSriChen 
I n c .  ( “ T S C  I n c .” )  a n d  Ta n S r i C h e n 
(Citywalk) Inc. (“City Walk Inc.”) both of 
which are incorporated in the British 
Virgin Is lands and are beneficial ly 
owned by Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong. 
The acquisition was approved by the 
i n d e p e n d e n t  s h a re h o l d e r s  o f  t h e 
Company at the extraordinary general 
meeting held on 30 Januar y 2012. 
Completion of the acquisition is subject 
to completion of the construction 
of  severa l  projec ts ,  inc luding the 
develo pment and constru c t ion of 
the hotel and gaming complex and a 
retail walkway adjacent to NagaWorld 
i n  Ph n o m Pe n h ,  Ca m b o d i a ,  to  b e 
undertaken by TSC Inc. and City Walk 
Inc.

Th e a gre e d co n s i d e rat i o n fo r  t h e 
transaction was US$369,000,000, divided 
as to US$275,000,000 for TSC Inc. (“TSCLK 
Complex Project”) and US$94,000,000 for 
City Walk Inc. (“NagaCity Walk Project”). 
The consideration could be settled, 
at the election of Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip 
Keong, in the form of consideration 
shares (being new ordinar y shares 
of the Company), or in the form of 
c o n v e r t i b l e  b o n d s  i s s u e d  b y  t h e 
Company and convertible at the option 
of the bondholder into conversion 
shares (being new ordinary shares in 
the Company), or a combination of 

consideration shares and convertible 
b o n d s ,  t o  a n  a g g r e g a t e  v a l u e  o f 
US$369,000,000.

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong had the 
ability to elect either split completion 
( m e a n i n g  t h e  c o m p l e t i o n  o f  t h e 
NagaCit y Walk Projec t would take 
place in advance of completion of the 
TSCLK Complex Project) or combined 
completion (meaning the two projects 
would be completed at the same time).

On 17 May 2016, Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip 
Keong elected for (i) completion of 
the NagaCity Walk Project to take 
place in advance of completion of 
the TSCLK Complex Project; and (ii) 
the consideration for completion of 
the NagaCity Walk Project acquisition 
to be settled by way of the issue of 
convertible bonds (the “NagaCity Walk 
Conver tible Bonds”) in accordance 
with the terms of the Share Purchase 
Agreement. Accordingly, the Company 
on 17 May 2016 issued to Tan Sri Dr 
Chen Lip Keong the NagaCity Walk 
Conver tible Bonds in the principal 
amount of US$94,000,000 on a perpetual 
basis with no maturity date.

On 30 December 2016, Tan Sri Dr Chen 
Lip Keong elected for the consideration 
for completion of the TSCLK Complex 
Pr o j e c t  a c q u i s i t i o n  t o  b e  s e t t l e d 
by way of  conver t ib le bonds ( the 
“TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds”). 
A c c o r d i n g l y,  t h e  C o m p a ny  o n  3 0 
December 2016 issued to Tan Sri Dr 
Chen Lip Keong the TSCLK Complex 
Conver tible Bonds in the principal 
a m o u n t  o f  U S $ 2 7 5 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0  o n  a 
perpetual basis with no maturity date.
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Based on the convers ion pr ice of 
HK$1.5301 (equivalent to US$0.1962) 
of  the each of  the NagaCit y Walk 
Convertible Bonds and TSCLK Complex 
Convertible Bonds as a result of the 
various capital restructuring events 
since 13 June 2011 and up to the date 
of this report, 1,881,019,166 Conversion 
Shares would be allotted and issued 
were these two separate series of the 
Convertible Bonds converted in full 
then (assuming there is no change in 
the nominal value of the issued share 
capital of the Company following the 
date of this report). Pursuant to the 
terms of these two separate series of the 
Convertible Bonds, the conversion price 
and the number of Conversion Shares 
in respect of the Convertible Bonds are 
subject to further adjustment in the 
event of any future capital restructuring. 
None of the conversion rights under the 
Convertible Bonds has been exercised 
during the Year.

Save as disclosed above and other than the 
Share Option Schemes, no equity-l inked 
agreements were entered into during the Year 
or subsisted at the end of the Year.

Management Contracts
No contracts concerning the management and 
administration of the whole or any substantial 
part of the business of the Company was 
entered into or existed during the Year.

Connected Transactions
The Company issued to Tan Sri Dr Chen 
Lip Keong, an executive Director, the Chief 
Executive Officer and a substantial shareholder 
of the Company, Nagacity Walk Convertible 
Bonds and TSCLK Complex Convertible Bonds 
in accordance with the terms of the Share 
Purchase Agreement on 17 May 2016 and 30 
December 2016, respectively. Details of the 
Share Purchase Agreement are included in the 

section “Equity-link Agreements – (b) Share 
Purchase Agreement” above.

Events after Reporting Period
There were no major subsequent events since 
the end of the Year and up to the date of this 
annual report.

Material Related Party Transactions
Details of the material related party transactions 
undertaken in the normal course of business 
by the Group are set out in note 28 to the 
consolidated financial statements. Other than 
those transactions disclosed in “Connected 
Transactions” above, none of the related 
party transactions constitutes a discloseable 
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of 
the Listing Rules.

Compliance with the Model Code
The Company has adopted the Model Code as 
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. All 
Directors have confirmed, following specific 
enquiry by the Company; that they fully 
complied with the Model Code throughout the 
Year.

Independent Auditor
BDO Limited acted as independent auditor 
of the Company and audited the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

A resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company to re-
appoint the independent auditor, BDO Limited.

By order of the Board

Timothy Patrick McNally
Chairman

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of NagaCorp Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of NagaCorp Ltd. (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 104 to 171, which comprise the consolidated 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, and the consolidated statement of 
income, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, of 
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and of its consolidated 
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of 
the Group in accordance with the International Accounting Standards Board’s “Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance 
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Appropriateness of revenue recognition
Refer to notes 6 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements, and the accounting policy 4(r) 
on page 125.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

T h e  G r o u p  s o l d  a  r i g h t  t o  o p e r a t e 
electronic gaming machines (“EGM”) 
business at a designated area inside a 
property of the Group under its casino 
licence to an investor for a fixed sum of 
US$60 million, as further explained in note 
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

T h e c o n t r a c t u a l  a r r a n g e m e n t s  t h a t 
underpin the recognition of revenue from 
such sale of license right are complex, 
and the determination of whether all 
re l e va nt  co n d i t i o n s co n ce r n i n g t h e 
revenue recognition of such sale of license 
right had been met required significant 
judgements and estimates, as further 
explained in note 31 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Our procedures included:

– O b t a i n i n g  a n d  a n a l y s i n g  t h e  E G M 
agreement and inquiring the management 
to understand the terms and commercial 
substance of the transaction;

– Checking the receipts against supporting 
information that we considered relevant;

– E v a l u a t i n g  t h e  G r o u p  m a n a g e m e n t ’s 
judgments and the associated estimates as 
developed by the Group’s management in 
determining if the sale of licence right met 
all the recognition criteria of a sale under IAS 
18 “Revenue”; and

– Evaluating the reasonableness of major 
assumptions used in the management 
estimates.
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Obligation payment
Refer to notes 10 and 31 to the consolidated financial statements, and the accounting policy 4(i) 
on pages 120 and 121.

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group is a gaming and hotel and 
leisure operator in Cambodia. As explained 
in note 10 to the consolidated financial 
statements, the Group paid monthly 
obligation payments to the government 
of Cambodia in respect of its activities in 
Cambodia in accordance with practices as 
agreed with the Ministry of Economy and 
Finance of Cambodia (“MOEF”) in the past 
and as the Casino Law which is to cover 
taxation of gaming activities in Cambodia, 
has yet to be promulgated. As disclosed 
in note 10 the Group paid additional 
obligation payments of US$16.5 million 
during the year in addition to the monthly 
obligation payments.

Due to the inherent nature of this matter 
and as further explained in note 31 to 
the consolidated financial statements, 
the measurement of a reliable estimate 
of such additional obligation payment (if 
any) required significant judgement and is 
dependent on future development of this 
matter.

Our procedures included:

– O b t a i n i n g  c o r r e s p o n d e n c e s  w i t h  t h e 
MOEF relevant to gaming and non-gaming 
obligation payments and evaluating the legal 
opinion the Group obtained in the past to 
assess the Group’s exposure to gaming and 
non-gaming obligation payments;

– C h e c k i n g  t h e  p a y m e n t s  o f  m o n t h l y 
o b l i g a t i o n  p a y m e n t s  t o  s u p p o r t i n g 
information that we considered relevant;

– C h e c k i n g t h e p ay m e nt s  o f  a d d i t i o n a l 
o b l i g a t i o n  p a y m e n t s  t o  s u p p o r t i n g 
information that we considered relevant and 
reviewing the acknowledgement of receipts 
for these additional obligation payments 
issued by the MOEF;

– Inquiring the management of the Group and 
the local component auditor pertaining this 
subject matter;

– Evaluating the management’s accounting 
judgment and treatment of the additional 
obligation payments; and

– Evaluating the adequacy of disclosure of this 
matter under note 10 of the consolidated 
financial statements.



101NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

Other Information in the Annual Report
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the 
information included in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we 
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to 
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, 
in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.
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• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in 
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Chiu Wing Cheung Ringo
Practising Certificate Number P04434

25th Floor, Wing On Centre,
111 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 8 February 2017
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2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

Revenue 6 531,558 503,655

Cost of sales (164,714) (175,844)
 

Gross profit 366,844 327,811

Other income 7 5,748 5,611
Administrative expenses (52,606) (47,169)
Other operating expenses (111,765) (97,235)

 

Profit before taxation 8 208,221 189,018

Income tax 10 (24,062) (16,395)
 

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 184,159 172,623
 

Earnings per share (US cents)
(Re-

presented)
Basic 12 7.89 7.58

 

(Re-
presented)

Diluted 12 7.04 7.58
 

The notes on pages 111 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Profit for the year 184,159 172,623

Other comprehensive income for the year
Items that maybe reclassified subsequently to profit or loss 
 – exchange differences from translation 
   of foreign operations (486) (2,516)

 

Total comprehensive income attribute to the 
 owners of the Company for the year 183,673 170,107

 

The notes on pages 111 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 14 810,149 407,080
Interest in leasehold lands held for own use under 
 operating lease 14 27,266 1,308
Intangible assets 15 66,201 69,748
Prepayments for acquisition, construction and 
 fitting-out of property, plant and equipment 19 93,458 47,692
Promissory notes 16 8,647 6,885

 

1,005,721 532,713
 

Current assets

Consumables 18 1,467 1,177
Trade and other receivables 17 72,559 45,999
Cash and cash equivalents 20 210,912 143,081

 

284,938 190,257
 

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 21 36,969 34,824
Current tax liability 2,709 1,570

 

39,678 36,394
 

Net current assets 245,260 153,863
 

NET ASSETS 1,250,981 686,576
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2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

CAPITAL AND RESERVES 22

Share capital 30,750 28,375
Reserves 1,220,231 658,201

 

TOTAL EQUITY 1,250,981 686,576
 

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 8 February 2017

Timothy Patrick McNally Philip Lee Wai Tuck
Chairman Chief Financial Officer

The notes on pages 111 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note

Share Capital
Share

premium
Convertible

 bonds

Capital 
redemption

 reserve
Merger 
reserve

Capital 
contribution

reserve
Exchange 

reserve
Retained

 profits Total
Issued and 

fully paid
Treasury 

shares
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at 1 January 2015 28,526 (9,004) 287,936 – – (12,812) 55,568 63 275,223 625,500

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 172,623 172,623
Other comprehensive income 
– exchange differences from 
  translation of foreign 
  operations – – – – – – – (2,516) – (2,516)

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – – – – (2,516) 172,623 170,107
Purchase of own shares 22(a) – (494) – – – – – – – (494)
Cancellation of treasury shares 22(a) (151) 9,498 (9,498) – 151 – – – – –
Dividend declared and paid – – – – – – – – (108,537) (108,537)

(151) 9,004 (9,498) – 151 – – (2,516) 64,086 61,076

Balance at 31 December 2015 28,375 – 278,438 – 151 (12,812) 55,568 (2,453) 339,309 686,576

Balance at 1 January 2016 28,375 – 278,438 – 151 (12,812) 55,568 (2,453) 339,309 686,576
          

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – 184,159 184,159
Other comprehensive income 
– exchange differences from 
  translation of foreign 
  operations – – – – – – – (486) – (486)

          

Total comprehensive income 
 for the year – – – – – – – (486) 184,159 183,673
Issue of shares under placement 22(a) 2,375 – 120,207 – – – – – – 122,582
Share placement expenses 22(a) – – (2,664) – – – – – – (2,664)
Convertible bonds issue 22(c)(ii) – – – 378,888 – – – – – 378,888
Dividend and distribution 
 declared and paid

11&
22(c)(ii) – – – – – – – – (118,074) (118,074)

          

2,375 – 117,543 378,888 – – – (486) 66,085 564,405
          

Balance at 31 December 2016 30,750 – 395,981 378,888 151 (12,812) 55,568 (2,939) 405,394 1,250,981
          

The notes on pages 111 to 171 form part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

Operating activities

Profit before taxation 208,221 189,018
Adjustments for:
 – Depreciation and amortisation 44,312 35,959
 – Amortisation of casino licence premium 3,547 3,547
 – Interest income (1,092) (1,644)
 – Realised gain on investment in bonds – (329)
 – Unrealised exchange gain (1,786) –
 – Impairment loss on trade receivables 2,082 1,079
 – (Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, 
   plant and Equipment (58) 1
 – Write-off of property, plant and equipment 14 521
 – Reversal of impairment loss on trade 
   receivables previously recognised – (646)

 

Operating profit before changes in working capital 255,240 227,506

(Increase)/Decrease in consumables (290) 115
Increase in trade and other receivables (28,485) (16,732)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and other payables (1,851) 157

 

Cash generated from operations 224,614 211,046

Tax paid (22,923) (15,315)
 

Net cash generated from operating activities 201,691 195,731
 

Investing activities

Interest received 627 1,196
Payment for the purchase of property, plant and 
 equipment and for the construction cost of 
 property (137,032) (140,239)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment 467 –
Cash acquired from acquisition of subsidiaries 23 234 –
Disposal of investment bonds – 26,138
Additions in promissory notes – (8,952)

 

Net cash used in investing activities (135,704) (121,857)
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2016 2015
Note $’000 $’000

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares under placement 22(a) 122,582 –
Share placement expense 22(a) (2,664)
Purchase of own shares – (494)
Dividends paid (118,074) (108,537)

 

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
 financing activities 1,844 (109,031)

 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and 
 cash equivalents 67,831 (35,157)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 143,081 178,238
 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 210,912 143,081
 

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 175,662 74,690
Non-pledged fixed deposits with original maturity 
 of less than three months when acquired 35,250 68,391

 

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the 
 consolidated statement of cash flows 210,912 143,081
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1 General
The Company is a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands and has its principal 
place of business at NagaWorld, Samdech Techo Hun Sen Park, Phnom Penh, Kingdom of 
Cambodia. Its shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

The Group is engaged principally in the management and operation of a hotel and casino 
complex known as NagaWorld in Phnom Penh, the capital city of Cambodia.

Information about subsidiaries
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiary 
Place of
incorporation

Place of
business

Particulars 
of issued  
and paid up
share capital

Effective equity held by
Principal
activities

the
Company

a
subsidiary

NagaCorp (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$10 
 

100% – Investment 
 holding

Naga Russia Limited Cayman Islands Russia $1 100% – Investment 
 holding

Naga Russia One 
 Limited

Cayman Islands Russia $1 – 100% Investment 
 holding

Naga Hotels Russia 
 Limited

Cayman Islands Russia $1 – 100% Investment 
 holding

NWL Hong Kong Cambodia HK$78,000,000 – 100% Gaming, 
 hotel and 
 entertainment
 operations

Ariston Malaysia Malaysia & 
Cambodia

Malaysian Ringgit
(“RM”) 56,075,891

– 100% Holding casino
 licence and
 Investment
 holding 

Neptune Orient
 Sdn. Bhd. 

Malaysia Malaysia & 
Cambodia

RM250,000 – 100% Inactive

Ariston (Cambodia)
 Limited 

Cambodia Cambodia Cambodian Riel
(“KHR”) 120,000,000

– 100% Inactive

Naga Primorsky 
 Entertainment
 Limited

Cyprus Russia Euro 1,000 – 100% Investment 
 holding
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1 General (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiary 
Place of
incorporation

Place of
business

Particulars 
of issued 
and paid up
share capital

Effective equity held by
Principal
activities

the
Company

a
subsidiary

Naga Primorsky
 Beach Resorts
 Limited

Cyprus Russia Euro 1,000 – 100% Investment 
holding

Naga Entertainment
  No.3 Limited

Cyprus Russia Euro 1,000 – 100% Investment 
holding 

Naga Sports Limited Hong Kong Cambodia HK$2 – 100% Provision and 
maintenance 
of slot machine 
stations

Naga Travel Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100% Investment 
holding

Naga Retail Limited Hong Kong Cambodia HK$2 – 100% Operation of retail 
business

Naga Entertainment 
 Limited

Hong Kong Cambodia HK$2 – 100% Organisation of 
entertainment 
events

Naga Services Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100% Investment 
holding

Naga Media Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100% Inactive

Naga Management 
 Limited

Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100% Inactive

Naga Services 
 Company Limited

Vietnam Vietnam $50,000 – 100% Management 
consulting 
services

Naga Management 
 Services Limited

Thailand Thailand Thai Baht 3,000,000 – 100% Management 
consulting 
services

NagaJet Management 
 Limited

Cayman Islands Cambodia $1 – 100% Management 
of company 
aircraft

Naga Transport 
 Limited#

Cambodia Cambodia KHR200,000,000 – 100% Investment 
holding

NagaWorld Travel 
 Limited

Cambodia Cambodia KHR200,000,000 – 100% Tourism services 
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1 General (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Name of subsidiary 
Place of
incorporation

Place of
business

Particulars 
of issued 
and paid up
share capital

Effective equity held by
Principal
activities

the
Company

a
subsidiary

NagaWorld (Macau)
 Limitada

Macau Macau MOP25,000 – 100% Marketing, sales, 
consultancy 
& services in 
connection 
with travelling, 
hotels and 
resorts

Primorsky 
 Entertainment 
 Resorts City LLC

Russia Russia RUB677,360,138 – 100% Gaming, hotel and 
entertainment 
operations

Primorsky 
 Entertainment 
 Resorts City 
 No.2 LLC 

Russia Russia RUB10,000 – 100% Inactive

NagaWorld Three 
 Limited

British Virgin 
 Islands

– $1 – 100% Inactive

Naga Lease Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$2 – 100% Inactive

TanSriChen Inc. British Virgin 
 Islands

Cambodia $285,000,000 100% – Gaming, hotel and 
entertainment 
operations

TanSriChen 
 (Citywalk) Inc.

British Virgin 
 Islands

Cambodia $95,000,000 100% – Investment 
holding

TanSri Chen Inc. 
 (T S C I )

Cambodia Cambodia $1,000,000 – 100% Leisure and 
entertainment

The class of shares held is ordinary.

# The shares in Naga Transport Limited are held in trust by a director on behalf of NWL.
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2 Adoption of new or revised International Financial Reporting 
Standards
Impact of new amendments and interpretations which are effective during the year
In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time, the following amendments, 
revised standards and new interpretations issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (the “IASB”), that are effective for the current accounting period of the 
Group.

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual improvements 2012-2014 Cycles
Amendments to IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative
Amendments to IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
Amendments to IFRS 11 Accounting for Acquisition of Interest in Joint Operations

The adoption of the above new or revised standards and interpretations has no significant 
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

The Group has not applied any amendments, new or revised standards or interpretations 
that are issued but not yet effective for the current accounting period (note 30).

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of the potential impact of these 
amendments and new or revised standards or interpretations but the Directors are not yet 
in a position to conclude the potential impact on the results and the financial position of 
the Group.

3 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all 
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards, International Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as “IFRS”) issued by the IASB. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by 
the Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application 
of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets and 
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from 
these estimates.
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3 Basis of preparation (continued)
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the 
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the 
revision affects both current and future periods. The areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 31.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the 
functional currency of the Company.

4 Principal accounting policies
(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the 
Group. Intercompany transactions and balances between group companies 
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated 
financial statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss.

(b) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Owned assets

The following items of property, plant and equipment are stated in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 4(h)).

– buildings held for own use which are situated on leasehold lands, 
where the fair value of the building could be measured separately from 
the fair value of the leasehold lands at the inception of the lease (see 
note 4(q)); and

– other items of property, plant and equipment.

Capital work-in-progress is stated at specifically identified cost, including 
aggregate cost of development, materials and supplies, wages and other 
direct expenses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
as expenses in profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(b) Property, plant and equipment (continued)

(ii) Depreciation
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and 
equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using the straight-line 
method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Renovations, furniture and fittings 5 – 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Plant and equipment 5 – 10 years
Aircraft 20 years

No depreciation is provided for capital work-in-progress until it is completed 
and ready for its intended use.

(c) Intangible assets
Acquired intangible assets – Casino licence premium
The premium paid for the licence, and related exclusivity periods, to operate 
the casino in Phnom Penh is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses (see note 4(h)).

Amortisation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of 
exclusivity of the licence.

Intangible assets with finite lives are tested for impairment when there is an 
indication that an asset may be impaired (see note 4(h)).

(d) Consumables
Consumables comprising food and beverage, diesel and sundry store items are 
stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of 
purchase, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present 
location and condition. Cost is determined principally on a weighted average basis. 
Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition, depending on the 
purpose for which the asset was acquired. Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and all other financial assets are 
initially measured at fair value plus transactions that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the financial assets. Financial assets of the Group are classified 
as loans and receivables. Regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are 
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. A regular way purchase or 
sale is a purchase or sale of a financial asset under a contract whose terms require 
delivery of the asset within the time frame established generally by regulation or 
convention in the marketplace concerned.

Loans and receivables (including trade and other receivables and amounts due 
from related parties) are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments that are not quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the 
provision of goods and services to customers (trade debtors), and also incorporate 
other types of contractual monetary assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they 
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified 
impairment losses.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets
The Group assesses, at the end of each reporting period, whether there is 
any objective evidence that financial asset is impaired. A financial asset is 
impaired if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or 
more events that has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and 
that event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial 
asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include:

– significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or 
principal payments;

– granting concession to a debtor because of debtors’ financial difficulty; 
or

– it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other 
financial reorganisation.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

118 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(e) Financial assets (continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. Where any part of financial asset is determined as uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account for the relevant financial asset.

Impairment losses are reversed in subsequent periods when an increase 
in the asset’s recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event 
occurring after the impairment was recognised, subject to a restriction that 
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does 
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment 
not been recognised.

(ii) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised 
cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

(iii) Derecognition
The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to 
the future cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the 
financial asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for 
derecognition in accordance with IAS 39.

(f) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables (including amounts due to related parties) are initially 
recognised at fair value net of directly attributable transaction costs incurred, and 
thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The related 
interest expense is recognised within “finance costs” in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the amortisation process.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(f) Trade and other payables (continued)

(i) Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of 
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

(ii) Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the 
relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

(g) Provisions and contingent liabilities
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the 
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it 
is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is 
material, provisions are stated at their present value of the expenditure expected to 
settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or 
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent 
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible 
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

(h) Impairment of other assets
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired, 
or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have 
decreased:

– property, plant and equipment;

– interest in leasehold lands held for own use under operating lease; and

– intangible assets.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(h) Impairment of other assets (continued)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

– Calculation of recoverable amount
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value less costs 
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash inflows 
largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount 
is determined for the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).

– Recognition of impairment losses
An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever the carrying 
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of 
the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount to 
the extent that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

(i) Income tax
Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 
Income tax is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income, in which case it is recognised in 
other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 
rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax recognised in respect of temporary differences between the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. The amount of deferred tax provided 
is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at 
the end of the reporting period.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(i) Income tax (continued)

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax 
assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax 
benefit will be realised.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends are recognised 
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference 
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future.

The income tax in respect of the gaming and hotel operations of the Company’s 
subsidiary, NWL, represents obligation payments (“Obligation Payments”) (refer to 
note 10(a)).

(j) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits 
with banks and other financial institutions, having been within three months of 
maturity at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an 
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of 
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows.

(k) Commissions and incentives
Commissions and incentive expenses represent amounts paid and payable to 
operators, and are included in cost of sales when incurred by the Group.

(l) Employee benefits
Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution 
retirement scheme
Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions to defined contribution 
retirement scheme and the cost to the Group of non-monetary benefits are 
accrued in the year in which the associated services are rendered by employees 
of the Group. Any short term employee benefits are expected to be settled wholly 
before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the 
employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are measured 
at undiscounted amounts.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(l) Employee benefits (continued)

Short term employee benefits and contributions to defined contribution 
retirement scheme (continued)
The Group operates defined contribution retirement plans namely Mandatory 
Provident Fund and Employee Provident Fund for its employees in Hong Kong and 
Malaysia respectively. Contributions to both plans are made based on a percentage 
of the employee’s basic salaries. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with 
the employees when contributed into the plans.

There is no mandatory retirement plans in Cambodia except for government 
employees and veterans who are eligible for government-run pension plans.

(m) Foreign currencies
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
United States dollars at exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. 
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into United States 
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The results of foreign 
entities are translated into United States dollars at the average exchange rates for 
the year; items in the statement of financial position are translated into United 
States dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. The 
resulting exchange differences are dealt with as other comprehensive income. All 
other translation differences are included in profit or loss.

The functional currency of the group entities has been determined as United States 
dollars rather than Cambodian Riel and Russian Ruble, the domiciled currency in the 
relation to the Group’s operations, on the basis that the gaming and other operation 
transactions are undertaken in United States dollars.

(n) Treasury shares
Own equity instruments which are repurchased (treasury shares) are recognised 
at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss on 
purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any 
difference between the carry amount and the consideration is recognised in equity.

(o) Dividends
Interim dividends are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are 
declared and final dividends are recognised as a liability when shareholders’ 
approval has been obtained.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(p) Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if 
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the 
Company’s parent.

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which 
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to 
the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an 
associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other 
entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an 
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the 
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in 
(a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or 
is a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent 
of the entity).

(viii) the entity or any member of a group of which it is a party, provides key 
management personnel services to the group or the group’s parent.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(p) Related parties (continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be 
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the 
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

(q) Leases
Assets that are held by the Group under leases which transfer to the Group 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as being under 
finance leases. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

(i) Assets acquired under finance leases
Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts 
representing the fair value of the leased asset, or, if lower, the present values 
of the minimum lease payments, of such assets are included in property, plant 
and equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, are 
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation is provided at rates 
which write off the cost of the assets in equal annual amounts over the term 
of the relevant lease or, where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership of 
the asset, the life of the asset, as set out in note 4(b)(ii). Impairment losses 
are accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 
4(h). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments are charged to profit or 
loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an approximately constant 
periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each 
accounting period. Contingent rentals are written off as an expense of the 
accounting period in which they are incurred.

(ii) Operating lease
The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs 
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(q) Leases (continued)

(ii) Operating lease (continued)
The Group as lessee
Where the Group has the use of assets under operating leases, payments 
made under the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal instalments 
over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except where an 
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in 
profit or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made. 
Contingent rentals are charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in 
which they are incurred.

(iii) Prepaid land lease
Interest in leasehold lands held for own use under operating lease is 
amortised in equal instalments over the period of the respective leases.

(r) Revenue recognition
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in 
profit or loss as follows:

(i) Casino revenue represents net house takings arising from casino operations 
and is recognised in profit or loss when the stakes are received by the casino 
and the amounts are paid out to the players.

(ii) Income from the provision and maintenance of gaming machine stations 
which comprises revenue in relation to profit sharing arrangements for the 
gaming machine operations where third parties provide and maintain the 
gaming machine stations is recognised in profit or loss in accordance with the 
substance of the relevant agreement when the right to receive such amounts 
is ascertained.

(iii) Income from restaurant represents revenue from the provision of food and 
beverages and is recognised when the service is provided.

(iv) Rental income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis 
over the terms of the relevant leases.

(v) Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest 
method.

(vi) Negotiation fee income is recognised when service is rendered.

(vii) Licence fee income is recognised at the time of sale.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(s) Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where there is a contractual 
arrangement that confers joint control over the relevant activities of the 
arrangement to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control is assessed 
under the same principles as control over subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interests in joint arrangement as joint operations where the 
Group has both the rights to assets and obligations for the liabilities of the joint 
arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interests in joint arrangements, the Group 
considers:

– The structure of the joint arrangement;

– The legal form of joint arrangements structured through a separate vehicle;

– The contractual terms of the joint arrangement agreement; and

– Any other facts and circumstances (including any other contractual 
arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interests joint operations by recognising its share of 
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with its contractually 
conferred rights and obligations.

(t) Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds that contain conversion options are classified into equity or 
liability on initial recognition according to the terms of the convertible bonds.

Convertible bonds issued by the Company (the “Convertible Bonds”) are on a 
perpetual basis with no maturity date and the bondholder (the “Bondholder”) is 
not entitled to request the Company to redeem the Convertible Bonds for cash. 
In addition, the conversion options will be settled by exchanging the Company’s 
new Shares, at the option of the Bondholder, pursuant to the terms of the 
Convertible Bonds. The Convertible Bonds as a whole are therefore classified as 
equity instruments and the fair value of which is included in equity upon initial 
recognition.

In subsequent periods, the Convertible Bonds will remain in equity until the 
embedded option is exercised (in which case the balance stated in the Convertible 
Bonds will be transferred to share capital and share premium). No gain or loss will 
be recognised upon conversion of the Convertible Bonds.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the Convertible Bonds are charged 
directly to equity.
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4 Principal accounting policies (continued)
(u) Share-based payments

Where equity instruments are granted to persons other than employees and others 
providing similar services, the fair value of goods or services received is recognised 
in profit or loss unless the goods or services qualify for recognition of assets. A 
corresponding increase in equity is recognised.

5 Casino licence
Pursuant to the terms of the Sihanoukville Development Agreement (“SDA”), Supplemental 
Sihanoukville Development Agreement (“SSDA”) and the Addendum Agreement, the terms 
of the casino licence were varied and the salient terms of the Casino Licence are as follows:

(a) Duration of licence
The Casino Licence is an irrevocable licence with a duration of 70 years from 2 
January 1995. The SSDA also states that should the Cambodian Government, for 
any reason, terminate or revoke the licence at any time before its expiry, it will 
pay Ariston, a subsidiary of the Company, the amount of monies invested in the 
business as agreed investment cost and additional mutually agreed damages for the 
termination and/or revocation of the Casino Licence at any time before the expiry of 
the period.

(b) Exclusivity
Ariston has the right of exclusivity in respect of 200 kilometres of Phnom Penh 
(except the Cambodia-Vietnam Border Area, Bokor, Kirirom Mountains and 
Sihanoukville) (the “Designated Area”) for the period to the end of 2035. During this 
period, the Cambodian Government is prohibited from:

– authorising, licensing or approving the conduct of casino gaming within the 
Designated Area;

– entering into any written agreement with any party with respect to casino 
gaming within the Designated Area; and

– issuing or granting any other casino licence.

The SSDA also states that the Cambodia Government will pay Ariston mutually 
agreed damages if it terminates or revokes its exclusivity rights at any time prior to 
the expiry of the period.

(c) Casino complex
Ariston has the right to locate the casino at any premises or complex within the 
Designated Area and is entitled to operate such games and gaming machines at its 
own discretion without the need for any approval from the Cambodian Government. 
There are no restrictions relating to the operating hours of the casino.
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6 Revenue
Revenue represents net house takings arising from casino operations and income from 
other operations as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Casino operations – gaming tables 355,324 343,766
Casino operations – electronic gaming* 145,513 136,834
Hotel room income, sale of food and beverage and others 30,721 23,055

531,558 503,655

* During the Year, revenue from electronic gaming included a fee of $60 million (“2016 EGM 
Fee”) from an investor for the placement and operating of electronic gaming machines 
(“EGM”) in NagaWorld. During the year ended 31 December 2015, revenue from electronic 
gaming included negotiation fees of $40 million from investors for exclusive negotiation of 
the placement of EGM in NagaWorld.

7 Other income
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Interest income 1,092 1,644
Rental income 4,642 3,319
Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised – 646
Others 14 2

5,748 5,611
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8 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

(a) Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration):

Salaries, wages and other benefits 63,312 56,747
Contributions to defined contribution 
 retirement scheme# 49 48

 

Total staff costs* 63,361 56,795
 

(b) Other items:

Auditor’s remuneration
 – Current year 637 580
 – Under/(Over)-provision for prior year 5 (44)
Amortisation of casino licence premium* 3,547 3,547
Depreciation and amortisation* 44,312 35,959
Impairment loss on trade receivables 2,082 1,079
Reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables 
 previously recognised – (646)
Write-off of property, plant and equipment 14 521
(Gain)/Loss on disposal of property, 
 plant and equipment (58) 1
Realised gain on investment in bonds – (329)
Operating lease charges for land lease rental 343 201
Operating lease charges for office and 
 car park rental 1,798 1,510
Operating lease charges for hire of equipment 3,757 3,511
Exchange loss, net 545 1,263

 

* included in other operating expenses in the consolidated statement of income

# There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employers’ contributions to retirement 
schemes during the year.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

130 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

9 Directors’ remuneration and senior management remuneration
(a) Directors’ remuneration

The remuneration of the Company’s directors is as follows:

Annual 
performance 

bonus
Discretionary

 bonus Fees

Basic salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits- 
in-kind

2016 
Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong – 150 – 720 870
Philip Lee Wai Tuck – 120 – 256 376
Chen Yepern – 30 – 253 283
Chen Yiy Fon – 30 – 144 174

Non-executive director

Timothy Patrick McNally – 100 150 344 594

Independent non-executive 
 directors

Michael Lai Kai Jin – 20 36 – 56
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji
 Sheikh Fadzir – 20 36 – 56
Lim Mun Kee – 30 48 – 78

 

Total – 500 270 1,717 2,487
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9 Directors’ remuneration and senior management remuneration 
(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

The remuneration of the Company’s directors is as follows: (continued)

Annual 
performance 

bonus
Discretionary

 bonus Fees

Basic salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits- 
in-kind

2015 
Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Executive directors

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong – 150 – 720 870
Philip Lee Wai Tuck – 120 – 255 375
Chen Yepern – 30 – 253 283
Chen Yiy Fon – 6 – 113 119

Non-executive director

Timothy Patrick McNally – 100 150 367 617

Independent non-executive
 directors

Michael Lai Kai Jin – 20 36 – 56
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima
 Abdul Kadir Bin Haji
 Sheikh Fadzir – 20 36 – 56
Lim Mun Kee – 30 48 – 78

 

Total – 476 270 1,708 2,454
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9 Directors’ remuneration and senior management remuneration 
(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong (“Dr Chen”) is entitled to an annual performance bonus 
based on the Group’s consolidated profit before taxation and before the said annual 
performance bonus (“PBT”) as reported in the consolidated financial statements 
which shall be paid within one month of the approval of the consolidated financial 
statements. The performance bonus is calculated in accordance with the following 
formula:

Less than $30 million PBT : $Nil performance bonus
Between $30 million to $40 million PBT : performance bonus of 2% of PBT
More than $40 million but up to and 

including $50 million
: performance bonus of $0.8 million 

plus 3% of additional portion of PBT 
from $40,000,001 to $50,000,000

More than $50 million : performance bonus of $1.1 million 
plus 5% of additional portion of PBT 
from $50,000,001 onwards

Based on the formula stated in Clause 3.3 of the service agreement entered into 
between the Company and Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong (“Dr Chen”), the chief 
executive officer of the Company (the “CEO”), the parties acknowledge and agree 
that Dr Chen will be entitled to a performance bonus of $8,051,000 (the “2015 Bonus 
Entitlement”) and $9,011,037 (the “2016 Bonus Entitlement”) for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 1 February 2016, the Board 
considered the matter relating to the payment of the 2015 Bonus Entitlement and 
resolved to appeal to the generosity and good judgement of Dr Chen to defer 
such obligation. The Company and Dr Chen agreed that it was in the interests of 
the Company to defer the 2015 Bonus Entitlement to subsequent years until the 
achievement of certain key performance indicators (the “KPIs”) set for the year 
ended 31 December 2016. The Company and Dr Chen agreed that subject to the 
achievement of the KPIs, the deferral of the 2015 Bonus Entitlement should be 
extended to the financial year ended 31 December 2016 and the financial year 
ending 31 December 2017 and beyond at the sole election of Dr Chen and that 
the parties shall negotiate in good faith a reasonable timeframe which is in the 
best interests of the Company. Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 8 
February 2017, the Board further resolved to appeal to the generosity and good 
judgement of Dr Chen to defer the 2015 Bonus Entitlement. The Company and Dr 
Chen agreed that it is in the interests of the Company to further defer the 2015 
Bonus Entitlement until the achievement of certain KPIs set for the year ending 31 
December 2017.
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9 Directors’ remuneration and senior management remuneration 
(continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Board on 8 February 2017, the Board 
also considered the matter relating to the 2016 Bonus Entitlement and resolved 
to appeal to the generosity and good judgement of Dr Chen to defer the 2016 
Bonus Entitlement. The Company and Dr Chen agreed that it is in the interests 
of the Company to defer the 2016 Bonus Entitlement to subsequent years until 
the achievement of certain KPIs set for the year ending 31 December 2017. The 
Company and Dr Chen agreed that subject to the achievement of the KPIs, the 
deferral of the 2016 Bonus Entitlement should be extended to the financial year 
ending 31 December 2017 and that the parties should negotiate in good faith a 
reasonable timeframe which is in the best interests of the Company. For record 
purposes, Dr Chen has foregone bonus of $18,600,000 from the financial years 2010 
to 2014.

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments, three (2015: three) are directors 
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 9(a). The aggregate of the emoluments in 
respect of the two individuals for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: two) are 
as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Basic salaries, housing and other allowances and 
 benefits-in-kind 1,051 878
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9 Directors’ remuneration and senior management remuneration 
(continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The emoluments of the two individuals (2015: two) with the highest emoluments 
are within the following bands:

2016 2015
Number of Number of

Individuals Individuals

$Nil – $256,400 
 (approximately HK$ Nil – HK$2,000,000) – –
$256,401 – $320,500 
 (approximately HK$2,000,001 – HK$2,500,000) – –
$320,501 – $384,600 
 (approximately HK$2,500,001 – HK$3,000,000) – 1
$384,601 – $448,700
 (approximately HK$3,000,001 – HK$3,500,000) – –
$448,701 – $512,800
 (approximately HK$3,500,001 – HK$4,000,000) 1 –
$512,801 – $576,900
 (approximately HK$4,000,001 – HK$4,500,000) 1 1

 

2 2
 

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the Directors or 
the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group 
or as compensation for loss of office as a director of any member of the Group or in 
connection with the management of the affairs of any members of the Group. Save 
as disclosed above, none of the Directors waived any emoluments during the Year.
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10 Income tax
Income tax in profit or loss represents:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Current tax expense
 – Current year 7,504 6,957
 – Additional Obligation Payment 16,558 9,438

 

24,062 16,395
 

Reconciliation between tax and accounting profit at applicable tax rate:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Profit before taxation 208,221 189,018

Profits tax using Cambodian corporation 
 tax rate of 20% (2015: 20%) 41,644 37,804

Tax exempt profits from Cambodian operations (note (a)) (41,644) (37,804)

Obligation Payments (note (a)) 7,504 6,957
Additional Obligation Payment 16,558 9,438

24,062 16,395

Notes:

(a) Income tax in profit or loss

Income tax represents monthly gaming Obligation Payment of $410,987 (2015: $365,322), 
monthly non-gaming Obligation Payment of $214,338 (2015: $214,338) and an additional 
obligation payment of $16,558,000 (2015: $9,438,000) payable to the Ministry of Economy 
and Finance (the “MOEF”) of Cambodia by NWL Gaming Branch and NWL Hotel and 
Entertainment Branch, branches registered in Cambodia.
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10 Income tax (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) Income tax in profit or loss (continued)

(i) Casino tax and licence fees

As described in note 5, under the SDA and the SSDA dated 2 January 1995 and 2 
February 2000 respectively, the Cambodian Government has granted a casino licence 
to a subsidiary, Ariston, which in turn assigned the rights to operate gaming activities 
in Cambodia to NWL.

Pursuant to the SDA, Ariston was granted certain tax incentives in respect of the 
casino operations which include a profits tax exemption for a period of eight years 
from commencement of business, and profits thereafter would be subject to a 
concessionary rate of profits tax of 9% as compared to the normal profits tax rate of 
20%. Ariston, in turn, has assigned to NWL all the tax incentives that were granted 
to Ariston pursuant to the SDA and SSDA relating to the gaming operations. The 
assignment of these tax incentives was confirmed by the Senior Minister, Minister in 
charge of the Council of Ministers, in a letter dated 20 November 2000.

It was contemplated by the SSDA that the gaming business of NWL would be 
regulated by a Casino Law which may prescribe casino taxes and licence fees. 
However, no Casino Law in respect of casino taxes or licence fees has been 
promulgated to-date. NWL had obtained a legal opinion that no casino taxes and 
licence fees are payable until the relevant legislation is enacted.

In May 2000, the MOEF levied an Obligation Payment of $60,000 per month on NWL 
Gaming Branch payable from January 2000 to December 2003 in respect of the 
gaming activities. The MOEF has also confirmed that gaming taxes and licence fees are 
not payable in respect of periods prior to January 2000. Legal opinion was obtained 
confirming that the Obligation Payment is not payable prior to January 2000. Since 
December 2003, the MOEF had been revising the Obligation Payment every year. For 
the year ended 31 December 2016, the estimated Obligation Payments is $410,987 per 
month (2015: $365,322 per month).

Such payments will be subject to an annual increase of 12.5% thereafter until the full 
completion of NagaWorld. On 24 December 2007, the MOEF revised the terms of the 
increase in Obligation Payment with NWL and agreed a 12.5% annual increase for a 
period of seven years to 2013.

On 16 November 2006, NWL received a letter from the MOEF clarifying the terms of 
payment of the gaming Obligation Payment to the Cambodian Government. In respect 
of gaming tax, NWL Gaming Branch shall continue to pay its Obligation Payment, 
which is subject to an annual increase of 12.5% for a period of seven years until year 
2013 which, the MOEF mentions, is a period for NWL to complete the construction 
of its casino and other associated activities. From year 2014 onwards, the gaming 
Obligation Payment shall be reviewed on the basis of the “actual position” of NWL.
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10 Income tax (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) Income tax in profit or loss (continued)

(i) Casino tax and licence fees (continued)

On 23 September 2008, NWL received a letter from the MOEF regarding the extension 
of the terms of payment of the gaming Obligation Payment. In respect of gaming tax, 
NWL Gaming Branch was granted the extension for an additional period of five years 
up until 2018, the payment of which was subject to annual increase of 12.5% per 
annum.

In addition, the MOEF has levied a casino taxation certificate fee amounting to $30,000 
per year payable from year 2004 onwards. However, the MOEF in their letter dated 12 
November 2004 acknowledges that under the SDA and SSDA, the Casino Licence is 
valid for 70 years.

Monthly payments for the Obligation Payment are due on the first week of the 
following month. In the event of late payment within 7 days from the due date, there 
will be a penalty of 2% on the late payment and interest 2% per month. In addition, 
after 15 days when official government notice is issued to NWL for the late payment 
an additional penalty of 25% will be imposed.

(ii) Corporate and other taxes on gaming activities

Current tax expense represents Obligation Payments for NWL Gaming Branch and 
NWL Hotel and Entertainment Branch, another branch registered in Cambodia by 
NWL.

NWL Gaming Branch enjoys certain tax incentives relating to gaming activities which 
were granted by the Cambodian Government as stipulated in the SDA and SSDA, 
including exemption from corporate tax for eight years. Further tax incentives and 
extension of the corporate tax exemption period to December 2004 were granted to 
NWL, as set out in the letters from the MOEF dated 10 May 2000, 15 September 2000 
and 30 November 2000. Tax incentives granted to NWL up to December 2005 include 
exemptions from all categories of taxes in respect of gaming activities including 
advance profits tax, dividend withholding tax, minimum profits tax, value-added tax 
and revenue tax, and exemptions from unpaid fringe benefits tax and withholding tax 
prior to 31 December 1999.

NWL has further obtained a clarification letter from the MOEF dated 24 February 2003 
confirming exemption from salary tax for its gaming employees prior to January 2000.
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10 Income tax (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) Income tax in profit or loss (continued)

(ii) Corporate and other taxes on gaming activities (continued)

As explained in note 10(a)(i) above in respect of gaming activities, NWL has to pay 
the Obligation Payment. The MOEF confirmed, in a letter to NWL dated 15 September 
2000, to clarify that the Obligation Payment is a fixed gaming tax and with the 
payment of this fixed gaming tax, NWL will be exempted from all category of taxes 
on gaming activities including advance profits tax, minimum tax and advance tax on 
distribution of dividends. NWL, however, is obliged to pay taxes on other non-gaming 
services and activities payable under the Law of Taxation (the “LoT”) of Cambodia.

Furthermore, the Senior Minister of the Council of Ministers of the MOEF in a circular 
to all casinos dated 7 December 2000 clarified that with the payment of the Obligation 
Payment on gaming activities, NWL will be exempted from the profits tax, minimum 
tax, advance tax on dividend distribution and value-added tax.

A legal opinion was obtained confirming that NWL will be exempt from the 
aforementioned taxes subject to the Obligation Payments being made.

With the imposition of the Obligation Payment or fixed gaming tax currently imposed, 
no Casino Law in respect of casino taxes and licence fees have been promulgated, 
and together with the tax incentives mentioned in the SDA and SSDA that NWL 
would enjoy a concessionary rate of profits tax of 9% after the tax exemption period 
has expired, it is uncertain what applicable rate of tax will be imposed on the profits 
of NWL from gaming activities in the future when the Casino Law is eventually 
promulgated.

In July 2002, the MOEF imposed a non-gaming Obligation Payment on NWL in respect 
of tax on non-gaming activities of a fixed sum of $30,500 per month for the six months 
ended 31 December 2002. The monthly rate of non-gaming Obligation Payment will 
be reviewed annually. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the estimated provision 
of non-gaming obligation payment is $214,338 per month (2015: $214,338 per 
month).

The above non-gaming Obligation Payment is considered as a composite of various 
other taxes such as salary tax, fringe benefit tax, withholding tax, value-added tax, 
patent tax, tax on rental of moveable and unmoveable assets, minimum tax, advance 
profit tax, advertising tax and specific tax on entertainment services. The non-gaming 
Obligation Payment is due to be paid monthly and in the event of default in payment, 
the penalties and interest imposed are similar to those applicable to the gaming 
Obligation Payment as stated in note 10(a)(i) above.

During the Year, having discussed with the MOEF, the Group paid an additional 
Obligation Payment of $16,558,000 (2015: $9,438,000) to the MOEF. Additional 
Obligation Payments (if any) are subject to future developments in this matter.
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10 Income tax (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(a) Income tax in profit or loss (continued)

(iii) Other jurisdictions

The Group is not subject to Hong Kong, Malaysian, Cayman Islands or Russian income 
taxes for the current and prior years.

(b) Taxes on other businesses

Profits from NWL’s operations in Cambodia, other than NWL Gaming Branch and NWL Hotel 
and Entertainment Branch, are subject to normal profits tax of 20%. Revenue from other 
operations of NWL in Cambodia is subject to value-added tax of 10%.

(c) Amendment to the Law on Investment and Law of Taxation

Certain amendments to the existing Law on Investment (“LoI”) and LoT of Cambodia were 
promulgated in March 2003.

Under the amendments made to the LoI, profits tax exemption would be preserved for the 
term granted under the original investment incentives, and the concessionary 9% profits tax 
rate will be restricted to five years from the expiry of the tax exemption period and thereafter 
profits would be subject to the normal tax rate of 20%.

Under the previous LoT, dividends can be distributed to shareholders without further 
withholding taxes. For entities that enjoy profits tax exemption or a concessionary profits 
tax rate of 9%, the amendments to the LoT will impose an additional tax that effectively 
increases the profits tax rate to 20%, upon the distribution of dividends. In addition, under 
the amendments made to the LoT, distribution of dividends to non-residents will be subject 
to a withholding tax on the distribution net of 20% tax at a rate of 14%, resulting in a net 
distribution tax of 31.2%.

As explained above, the Casino Law in respect of casino taxes and licence fees is yet to be 
promulgated. NWL has written a letter to the MOEF to clarify whether the amendments of the 
LoI and LoT will apply to their gaming business and has received a reply dated 9 June 2003 
that the amendments of the LoI and LoT do not apply to casinos as they will be regulated by 
the Casino Administration Law which is yet to be enacted. However, the amendments to the 
LoI and LoT will apply to NWL Hotel and Entertainment Branch.

(d) Deferred taxation

No provision for deferred taxation has been recognised as there is no significant temporary 
difference at the end of the reporting period.
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11 Dividends payable to owners of the Company attributable to the 
year

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Interim dividend declared during the year:
 2015: US cents 2.67 per ordinary share – 60,612
 2016: US cents 2.77 per ordinary share 62,938 –
Final dividend proposed after the end of 
 reporting period:
 2015: US cents 1.89 per ordinary share – 42,962
 2016: US cent 0.82 per ordinary share 20,051 –

82,989 103,574

The interim dividend of $62,938,000 for the six-month period ended 30 June 2016 (six 
months ended 30 June 2015: $60,612,000) was declared in August 2016 and paid in 
September 2016.

As further detailed in note 22(c)(ii), distribution on Convertible Bonds will be equal to the 
dividends that would have been paid on the Conversion Shares. Proposed distribution 
on the Convertible Bonds after the end of the Year is $15,332,000. Total interim and final 
distributions on the Convertible Bonds for the Year amounted to $27,506,000 (2015: Nil).
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12 Earnings per Share
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the consolidated profit attributable 
to owners of the Company of $184,159,000 (2015: $172,623,000) and the weighted average 
number of shares of 2,334,273,452 (2015: 2,277,403,832 (re-presented)) in issue during the 
Year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the Year is based on the consolidated 
profit attributable to owners of the Company of $184,159,000 and the weighted average 
number of shares for the purpose of diluted earnings per share of 2,616,873,080.

Number of Shares
2016 2015

(Re-presented)

Weighted average number of shares in issue 
 during the year used in the basic earnings 
 per share calculation 2,334,273,452 2,277,403,832
Effect of dilution – weighted average 
 number of shares:
 – Convertible Bonds 282,599,628 –

Weighted average number of shares for 
 the purpose of diluted earnings per share 2,616,873,080 2,277,403,832

There were no dilutive potential Shares in existence during the year ended 31 December 
2015.

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2015 are 
re-presented to reflect the bonus element of the placing of Shares during the Year.



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in United States dollars)

142 NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

13 Segment information
The Group manages its businesses by segments, which comprise a mixture of business 
activities (casino, hotel and entertainment). The Group has identified the following two 
main reportable segments in a manner consistent with the way in which information is 
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management (the “SEM”) for the 
purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

• Casino operations: this segment comprises all gaming activities at NagaWorld.

• Hotel and entertainment operations: this segment comprises the operations of 
leisure, hotel and entertainment activities.

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities
The SEM monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable 
segment as follows:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible and current assets. Segment 
liabilities include trade creditors, other creditors, provision for unredeemed chips 
and other liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable segments with reference to 
revenue generated by those segments and expenses incurred by those segments 
or which would otherwise arise from the depreciation and amortisation of assets 
attributed to those segments.

Casino 
operations

Hotel and 
entertainment 

operations Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Segment revenue:

Year ended 31 December 2015 (restated)
Revenue from external customers 480,600 23,055 503,655
Inter-segment revenue (989) 34,144 33,155

Reportable segment revenue 479,611 57,199 536,810

Year ended 31 December 2016
Revenue from external customers 500,837 30,721 531,558
Inter-segment revenue (3,137) 31,744 28,607

Reportable segment revenue 497,700 62,465 560,165

Segment profit:

Year ended 31 December
2015 (restated) 211,899 31,926 243,825
2016 236,608 35,253 271,861
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13 Segment information (continued)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Casino 
operations

Hotel and 
entertainment 

operations Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Segment assets:

As at 31 December
2015 (restated) 666,743 143,838 810,581
2016 766,129 643,202 1,409,331

Segment liabilities:

As at 31 December
2015 (restated) (29,702) (96,544) (126,246)
2016 (28,645) (130,213) (158,858)

Net assets:

As at 31 December
2015 (restated) 637,041 47,294 684,335
2016 737,484 512,989 1,250,473

Other segment information
Capital expenditure:

Year ended 31 December
2015 (restated) 96,831 44,107 140,938
2016 71,885 444,674 516,559

Impairment loss on trade receivables

Year ended 31 December
2015 1,079 – 1,079
2016 2,082 – 2,082

Reversal of impairment loss on 
 trade receivables

Year ended 31 December
2015 (646) – (646)
2016 – – –
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13 Segment information (continued)
(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities (continued)

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities 
to revenue, profit or loss, assets and liabilities per the consolidated financial 
statements is as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

(restated)

Revenue
Reportable segment revenue 560,165 536,810
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (28,607) (33,155)

Consolidated revenue 531,558 503,655

Profit
Reportable segment profit 271,861 243,825
Other revenue 6 663
Depreciation and amortisation (47,859) (39,506)
Unallocated head office and corporate expenses (15,787) (15,964)

Consolidated profit before taxation 208,221 189,018

Assets
Reportable segment assets 1,409,331 810,581
Elimination of inter-segment assets (120,516) (90,682)

1,288,815 719,899

Unallocated corporate assets 1,844 3,071

Consolidated total assets 1,290,659 722,970

Liabilities
Reportable segment liabilities (158,858) (126,246)
Elimination of inter-segment payables 120,516 90,682

(38,342) (35,564)

Unallocated corporate liabilities (1,336) (830)

Consolidated total liabilities (39,678) (36,394)
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13 Segment information (continued)
(b) Geographical information

The Group’s operations and activities are mainly located in Cambodia. As at 31 
December 2016, the Group had non-current assets other than financial instruments 
and deferred tax assets located in Cambodia and Russia of $933,049,000 (2015: 
$488,221,000) and $64,025,000 (2015: $37,607,000), respectively.

14 Property, plant and equipment, and interest in leasehold lands held 
for own use under operating lease

Plant and
equipment Buildings

Capital
work-in-
progress

Renovations,
furniture

and fittings
Motor

vehicles Aircraft

Total
property,
plant and

equipment

Interest in
leasehold 

lands
held for 
own use 

under 
operating lease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

Cost:
At 1 January 2015 35,796 93,845 21,107 230,732 5,749 53,887 441,116 751
Additions 20,667 – 82,595 456 410 2,103 106,231 800
Disposal (5) – – – – – (5) –
Written off (167) – (493) – (9) – (669) –
Transfer 10,317 15,030 (50,977) 25,630 – – – –
Exchange adjustments (2) – – – (4) – (6) –

At 31 December 2015 66,606 108,875 52,232 256,818 6,146 55,990 546,667 1,551

At 1 January 2016 66,606 108,875 52,232 256,818 6,146 55,990 546,667 1,551
Acquisitions of 
 subsidiaries 
 (note 23) – 95,000 259,000 – – – 354,000 26,000
Additions 2,265 – 91,100 303 91 – 93,759 –
Disposal (644) – – – (633) – (1,277) –
Written off (1,503) – – – – – (1,503) –
Transfer 1,151 5,967 (35,768) 28,650 – – – –
Exchange adjustments – – – – 2 – 2 –

At 31 December 2016 67,875 209,842 366,564 285,771 5,606 55,990 991,648 27,551
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14 Property, plant and equipment, and interest in leasehold lands held 
for own use under operating lease (continued)

Plant and
equipment Buildings

Capital
work-in-
progress

Renovations,
furniture

and fittings
Motor

vehicles Aircraft

Total
Property,
plant and

equipment

Interest in
leasehold 

lands held 
for own

use under
operating lease

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
(note (i)) (note (ii))

Accumulated 
 depreciation/
 amortisation:
At 1 January 2015 18,250 9,375 – 70,040 3,299 2,921 103,885 143
Charge for the year 5,930 3,137 – 23,053 861 2,878 35,859 100
Disposal (4) – – – – – (4) –
Written off (139) – – – (9) – (148) –
Exchange adjustments (1) – – – (4) – (5) –

At 31 December 2015 24,036 12,512 – 93,093 4,147 5,799 139,587 243

At 1 January 2016 24,036 12,512 – 93,093 4,147 5,799 139,587 243
Charge for the year 9,256 2,523 – 28,777 892 2,822 44,270 42
Disposal (250) – – – (618) – (868) –
Written off (1,489) – – – – – (1,489) –
Exchange adjustments – – – – (1) – (1) –

At 31 December 2016 31,553 15,035 – 121,870 4,420 8,621 181,499 285

Net book value:
At 31 December 2016 36,322 194,807 366,564 163,901 1,186 47,369 810,149 27,266

At 31 December 2015 42,570 96,363 52,232 163,725 1,999 50,191 407,080 1,308
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14 Property, plant and equipment, and interest in leasehold lands held 
for own use under operating lease (continued)
Notes:

(i) Capital work-in-progress at net book value relates to the following assets under construction:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Hotel and casino complex 366,564 52,232

Capital work-in-progress is mainly incurred on the hotel and casino complex in Cambodia 
known as NagaWorld and TSCLK Complex which is constructed on land held under a lease 
expiring on 31 July 2095 and 14 December 2110 respectively.

(ii) Interest in leasehold lands held for own use under operating lease is located as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Cambodia 27,266 1,308

The Group has four leasehold lands which has a remaining leasehold period expiring on 31 
July 2095, 10 January 2038, 31 July 2066 and 14 December 2110 respectively.

In addition to the prepaid lease payments to acquire the interest in the leasehold lands, the 
Group was obliged to pay the annual operating lease charge of approximately $254,000 
(2015: $187,000), subject to increment for every 5 or 10 years, as shown in note 24 to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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15 Intangible assets
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Casino licence premium and extended exclusivity 
 premium:
Cost:
At 1 January and 31 December 108,000 108,000

Accumulated amortisation:
At 1 January 38,252 34,705
Charge for year 3,547 3,547

At 31 December 41,799 38,252

Net book value 66,201 69,748

On 12 August 2005, Ariston, a subsidiary of the Company, and the Cambodian Government 
entered into an Addendum Agreement which extended the exclusivity period of 
the Casino Licence within the Designated Area for the period to the end of 2035 in 
consideration for the surrender by Ariston of the rights and concessions granted under 
the SDA signed on 2 January 1995 and SSDA signed on 2 February 2000, both between 
Ariston and the Cambodian Government (except for the right to operate the casino within 
the Designated Area) including, but not limited to, the rights granted in respect of the 
development in O’Chhoue Teal, Naga Island and Sihanoukville International Airport (the 
“Assigned Assets”). The Assigned Assets had previously been assigned to Ariston Holdings 
Sdn. Bhd., a related company that is beneficially owned by the ultimate controlling 
shareholder of the Company, Dr Chen, on 30 August 2002. In order to fulfill its obligations 
under the Addendum Agreement, Ariston proposed to enter into an agreement with 
Ariston Holdings Sdn. Bhd., pursuant to which Ariston Holdings Sdn. Bhd. would surrender 
all rights, title, benefits and interests in and to the Assigned Assets to the Cambodian 
Government with an effective date of 12 August 2005 in consideration for $105 million.

The $105 million liability in respect of the extended exclusivity period has been settled as 
follows:

– On 11 May 2006, the Company issued 202,332,411 ordinary shares of $0.0125 each 
to Dr Chen pursuant to an agreement with, amongst others, Ariston and Ariston 
Holdings Sdn. Bhd. The fair value of the 202,332,411 ordinary shares was $50 million 
of which $2,529,155 was the par value of the ordinary shares issued and $47,470,845 
was the premium on the issue of the ordinary shares; and
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15 Intangible assets (continued)
– On 16 August 2006, the remaining $55 million due to Ariston Holdings Sdn. 

Bhd. was settled by way of a capital contribution of $55 million by the ultimate 
controlling shareholder of the Company.

Please refer to note 5 in respect of the Casino Licence.

16 Promissory Notes
The promissory notes (the “Promissory Notes”) in total amount of RUB469,100,000 
(approximately $8,647,000) (2015: $6,885,000) bought from a bank in Russia bear an 
interest of 6.6% per annum and the maturity date of which is 2,909 days from the date 
of issue, i.e. 30 January 2023. The Promissory Notes were pledged to the same bank for 
issuance of a bank guarantee amounting to RUB400,000,000 in favour of Primorsky Krai 
Development Corporation for the Group’s gaming and resort development project in 
Russia.

17 Trade and other receivables
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Trade receivables 32,319 13,864
Less: Allowance for impairment loss (4,344) (2,262)

27,975 11,602

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 44,584 34,397

72,559 45,999

Included in trade and other receivables are trade debts (net of impairment losses) with the 
following ageing analysis as at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Current to within 1 month 22,213 8,864
1 to 3 months 2,182 1,015
3 to 6 months 1,494 190
6 to 12 months 1,144 –
More than 1 year 942 1,533

27,975 11,602
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17 Trade and other receivables (continued)
The analysis of trade receivables which are past due but not impaired is as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Less than 1 month overdue 20,658 8,355
1 to 3 months overdue 375 1,015
3 to 6 months overdue 1,432 190
6 to 12 months 1,135 –
More than 1 year overdue 451 1,223

24,051 10,783

The balances which are past due but not impaired relate mostly to Junket VIP operators 
and local operators who have good track records with the Group, or were active during 
the Year.

The Group recognises impairment losses in accordance with the policy in note 4(e)(i). The 
Group’s credit policy is set out in note 27(c).

The following table reconciles the impairment loss of trade receivables for the year:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

At 1 January 2,262 1,829
Impairment loss recognised 2,082 1,079
Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised – (646)

At 31 December 4,344 2,262

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s trade receivables of $4,344,000 (2015: $2,262,000) 
were individually determined to be impaired. The impaired trade receivables relate to 
balances due to certain inactive junket operators which were expected to be irrecoverable 
as it had been long outstanding despite various collection actions taken.

The amounts due from related parties are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.
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18 Consumables
Consumables comprise food and beverage, diesel and sundry store items.

19 Prepayments for acquisition, construction and fitting-out of 
property, plant and equipment
As at the end of the Year, prepayments for construction and fitting-out relate to contractual 
advances made for various construction activities in NagaWorld, TSCLK Complex and other 
jurisdictions.

20 Cash and cash equivalents
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances 175,662 74,690

Fixed deposits 35,250 68,391

210,912 143,081

As at 31 December 2016, fixed deposits bear interest of 1.2% to 1.80% (2015: 0.12% to 
10.67%) per annum and mature at various times up to and including January 2017 (2015: 
mature at various times up to and including February 2016).

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposits rates.

The bank balances and fixed deposits are deposited with credit worthy banks with no 
recent history of default.

The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their fair values.
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21 Trade and other payables
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Trade payables (note) 2,624 2,624
Unredeemed casino chips 12,305 16,089
Deferred revenue 1,170 1,649
Deposits 339 718
Construction creditors 5,826 3,333
Accruals and other creditors 14,705 10,411

36,969 34,824

Note:

Included in trade and other payables are trade creditors with the following ageing analysis as at the 
end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Due within 1 month or on demand 2,463 2,606
Due after 1 month but within 3 months 31 –
Due after 3 months but within 6 months 47 –
Due after 6 months but within 1 year 65 –
Due after 1 year 18 18

Total 2,624 2,624



153NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

22 Capital and reserves
(a) Share capital

(i) Authorised:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

8,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 
 $0.0125 each 100,000 100,000

(ii) Issued and fully paid and held in treasury:

2016 2015
Number 

of shares $’000
Number 

of shares $’000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of $0.0125 each
At 1 January 2,269,988,875 28,375 2,282,078,875 28,526
Issue of shares under 
 placement (Note (c)) 190,000,000 2,375 – –
Cancellation of treasury 
 shares (Note (b)) – – (12,090,000) (151)

At 31 December 2,459,988,875 30,750 2,269,988,875 28,375

Treasury shares:
At 1 January – – (11,490,000) (9,004)
Purchase of own shares 
 (Note (a)) – – (600,000) (494)
Cancellation of treasury 
 shares (Note (b)) – – 12,090,000 9,498

At 31 December – – – –

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared 
from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the 
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s 
residual assets.
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22 Capital and reserves (continued)
(a) Share capital (continued)

(ii) Issued and fully paid and held in treasury (continued):
Note:

(a) During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company repurchased its own 
shares on the Stock Exchange as follows:

Month/year

Number of 
shares 

repurchased
Highest price 

paid per share
Lowest price 

paid per share
Aggregate 
price paid

HK$ HK$ $’000

January 2015 600,000 6.350 6.290 490

Transaction costs of $4,000 were incurred in 2015 for the repurchase.

(b) The 12,090,000 repurchased shares were cancelled in December 2015. The 
issued share capital of the Company was reduced by the nominal value of 
these shares. Pursuant to section 37(4) of the Companies Law of the Cayman 
Islands, an amount equivalent to the par value of the shares cancelled of 
$151,000 was transferred from share premium to the capital redemption 
reserves. The premium paid on the purchase of the shares of $9,347,000 was 
charged to share premium.

(c) On 9 September 2016, the Company allotted and issued 190,000,000 new 
ordinary shares of $0.0125 each at subscription price of HK$5 per share 
pursuant to the Placing and Subscription Agreement dated 1 September 2016. 
Transaction costs of $2,664,000 were incurred for the share issued.

(iii) Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

– to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that 
it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders; and

– to provide a return to shareholders by pricing services commensurately 
with the level of risk.
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22 Capital and reserves (continued)
(a) Share capital (continued)

(iii) Capital management (continued)
The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Debt – –
Cash and cash equivalents (210,912) (143,081)

Net debt (210,912) (143,081)

Equity 1,250,981 686,576

Net debt to equity ratio N/A N/A

The Capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners 
of the Company only, comprising share capital and reserves. Management 
may consider any opportunity of debt financing when necessary. The Group 
sets the amount of capital to reflect the perceived level of risk. The Group 
manages the capital structure and makes adjustments in the light of changes 
in economic and business conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets.

(b) Reserves
The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current 
and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on 
page 108 of the consolidated financial statements.
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22 Capital and reserves (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves

(i) Share premium
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the share premium 
account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders provided that 
immediately following that date on which the dividend is proposed to be 
distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay off its debts when they 
fall due in the ordinary course of business.

(ii) Convertible bonds
On 17 May 2016 and 30 December 2016, the Company issued Convertible 
Bonds with a principal amount of $94,000,000 and $275,000,000 on a 
perpetual basis with no maturity date in relation to the acquisition of 
TanSriChen (Citywalk) Inc. and TanSriChen Inc. respectively (as mentioned in 
note 23). The Convertible Bonds are denominated in United States dollars. 
The Convertible Bonds can be converted into Shares of the Company at the 
Bondholder’s option in accordance with terms of the Convertible Bonds. 
Based on the initial conversion price of HK$1.5301 (equivalent to $0.1962) of 
the Convertible Bonds, 1,881,019,166 new ordinary shares (the “Conversion 
Shares”) will be allotted and issued upon exercise of the conversion rights 
attached to the Convertible Bonds. Pursuant to the terms of the Convertible 
Bonds, the conversion price and the number of Conversion Shares in respect 
of the Convertible Bonds are subject to further adjustment in the event 
of any future capital restructuring. Distributions on the Convertible Bonds 
will be equal to the dividends that would otherwise have been paid on the 
Conversion Shares. Distributions shall be paid to the Bondholder on the date 
on which the relevant dividend is paid to the Shareholders.

On initial recognition, the total fair value of the Convertible Bonds amounting 
to $378,888,000 was determined by the fair value of the assets and liabilities 
acquired through acquisitions of subsidiaries at respective acquisition dates 
as detailed in note 23 and were included in equity.

The interim distribution of $12,174,000 (2015: Nil) for the six months period 
ended 30 June 2016 was declared in August 2016 and paid in September 
2016. Proposed distribution on the Convertible Bonds after the end of the 
Year amounted to $15,332,000. Total interim and final distributions on the 
Convertible Bonds for the Year amounted to $27,506,000 (2015: Nil).
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22 Capital and reserves (continued)
(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Merger reserve
The merger reserve relates to the pooling of interests under the share 
swap agreement between, amongst others, the former shareholders of the 
combined entities, the Company and the then sole ultimate controlling 
shareholder dated 6 June 2003. The amount represents the fair value of 
the share capital of the combined entities and the carrying value of assets 
and liabilities combined into the Group pursuant to the restructuring 
aforementioned.

(iv) Capital contribution reserve
The capital contribution reserve comprises the fair value of assets contributed 
to the Company by the ultimate controlling shareholder.

(v) Capital redemption reserve
The capital redemption reserve arose from cancellation of 12,090,000 treasury 
shares during the year ended 31 December 2015. Pursuant to section 37(4) 
of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, upon the cancellation, the par 
value of the cancelled treasury shares was transferred from share premium 
accounts.

(vi) Exchange reserve
The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from 
the translation of the financial statements of foreign entities.

(d) Distributable reserves
At 31 December 2016, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution 
to owners of the Company was $379,454,000 (2015: $278,218,000) within which 
$395,981,000 (2015: 278,438,000) related to the share premium of the new Shares 
issued under placement in past years and $55,000,000 (2015: $55,000,000) related 
to the capital contribution reserve, which the Directors have no current intention of 
distributing.

After the end of the reporting period, the Directors proposed a final dividend 
for Shareholder and distribution for the Bondholder of US cent 0.82 per Share/
Conversion Share (2015: US cents 1.89 per Share) amounting to $35.4 million (2015: 
$43.0 million). The dividend and distribution have not been recognised as a liability 
at the end of the reporting period.
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23 Acquisitions of assets and liabilities through acquisition of 
subsidiaries
On 17 May 2016 and 30 December 2016, the Group acquired 100% of the equity interest 
of TanSriChen (Citywalk) Inc. and its wholly-owned subsidiary (collectively the “Citywalk 
Group”) which is the owner of NagaCity Walk, an underground linkway connecting 
NagaWorld Hotel and Naga2 and TanSriChen Inc. which is the owner of TSCLK Complex, at 
a consideration of $94,000,000 and $275,000,000 respectively, which were satisfied by the 
issuance of the Convertible Bonds by the Company (note 22(c)(ii)). Dr. Chen was the sole 
shareholder of both TanSriChen (Citywalk) Inc. and TanSriChen Inc. before and at the time 
of the acquisitions.

The fair values of identifiable assets and liabilities of the Citywalk Group and TanSriChen 
Inc. as at the respective date of acquisitions were:

Citywalk 
Group

TanSriChen 
Inc. Total

$’000 $’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment (note 14) 95,000 259,000 354,000
Interest in leasehold lands held for own 
 use under operating lease (note 14) – 26,000 26,000
Deposit 20 – 20
Cash and cash equivalents – 234 234
Amount due from related parties – 137 137
Amount due to shareholders – (1,084) (1,084)
Amount due to a holding company (137) – (137)
Other payables (261) (21) (282)

94,622 284,266 378,888

The fair value of considerations transfer: $’000 $’000 $’000

Issuance of the Convertible Bonds at 
 fair value (Note 22(c)(ii)) 94,622 284,266 378,888

The acquisitions were considered as acquisition of assets and liabilities and the 
considerations were settled by the issuance of the Convertible Bonds. The fair values of the 
Convertible Bonds issued in connection with the acquisitions are determined based on the 
fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired which amounted to $94,622,000 
and $284,266,000 respectively.
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24 Leases
Operating lease – Lessee
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s total future minimum lease payments 
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2016 2015
In respect of: In respect of:

Land 
lease

Office, staff 
quarters and 

car park 
rental

Equipment 
rental

Gaming 
machines 

stations and 
tables 
games Total

Land 
lease

Office, staff 
quarters and 

car park 
rental

Equipment 
rental

Gaming 
machines 

stations and 
Tables 
games Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Within 1 year 307 760 1,536 969 3,572 225 1,124 1,536 1,001 3,886
1 to 5 years 1,237 730 1,062 960 3,989 944 1,434 2,598 1,310 6,286
After 5 years 24,816 522 – – 25,338 20,401 579 – – 20,980

     

26,360 2,012 2,598 1,929 32,899 21,570 3,137 4,134 2,311 31,152
     

The Group has entered into lease arrangements in respect of land in Phnom Penh, 
Cambodia which forms the site for the NagaWorld hotel and entertainment complex 
with integrated casino facilities currently under construction. The lease agreement is 
for a period of 99 years and does not include any provisions for renewal upon expiry 
or contingent rentals. Provisions for periodic adjustments to reflect market rentals are 
included in the lease agreement and in the commitments shown above.

The Group also entered into lease agreement in respect of land for the construction of 
Naga CityWalk between the Municipality of Phnom Penh and the TanSriChen Inc. for a term 
of 50 years. Under the terms of the lease agreement, upon the expiry of the initial lease 
term of 50 years, the lease shall be automatically renewed at the option of the Company 
for another term in accordance with the laws of Cambodia.

Please refer to note 14(ii) for further details in respect of the lands.
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24 Leases (continued)
Operating lease – Lessor
At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s total future minimum lease receivables 
under non-cancellable operating are as follows:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Within 1 year 1,633 –
1 to 5 years 9,390 –
After 5 years 10,818 –

21,841 –

The lease was negotiated for an original term of 10.5 years. The terms of the lease also 
provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market conditions. 
Rent is calculated at the higher of base rent or 8% on turnover generated from the tenant 
plus 5% on turnover generated from its licensee, operator or sub-tenant. No contingent 
rental was recognised during the Year (2015: Nil).

25 Capital commitments
The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the reporting period:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Hotel and casino complex
 – contracted but not incurred 370,234 224,829

The capital commitments relating to the hotel and casino complex are expected to be 
incurred over one year in accordance with phased construction plans.

26 Equity settled share-based transactions
The Company has adopted a share option scheme upon listing of the Company’s shares on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 19 October 2006 (the “Old Scheme”) which has 
expired on 18 October 2016. A new share option scheme was approved by the Shareholder 
on 20 April 2016 (the “Existing Scheme”). Under the Old Scheme and the Existing Scheme,  
the Directors are authorised, at their discretion, to invite employees of the Group, 
including directors of any company in the Group, to take up options at nil consideration to 
subscribe for shares of the Company.

The Company did not grant any share options during the Year (2015: Nil) and there are no 
outstanding share options at the end of the reporting period (2015: Nil).
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27 Risk management
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies

Exposures to political and economic risks, credit, interest rate and foreign currency 
risks arise in the normal course of the Group’s business. The Group has risk 
management policies and guidelines which set out its overall business strategies, its 
tolerance of risk and its general risk management philosophy and has established 
processes to monitor and control the hedging of transactions in a timely and 
accurate manner. Such policies are regularly reviewed by the Board and regular 
reviews are undertaken to ensure that the Group’s policy guidelines are adhered to.

(b) Political and economic risks
The Group’s activities are carried out in Cambodia, a country which, until recently, 
has had a history of political instability. While the political climate has been more 
stable in recent years, its political and legal frameworks are still evolving and the 
economic and legal environments may change significantly in the event of a change 
of government. Although the Cambodian Government has been pursuing reform 
policies in recent years, no assurance can be given that the Cambodian Government 
will continue to pursue such policies or that such policies may not be significantly 
altered. There is also no guarantee that the Cambodian Government’s pursuit 
of reforms will be consistent or effective. Changes in LoT and LoI and in policies 
affecting the industry in which the Group operates could have a significant negative 
effect on its operating results and financial condition.

(c) Credit risk
The credit policy on gaming receivables is five to thirty days (2015: five to thirty 
days) from the end of tour. The credit policy on non-gaming receivables is thirty 
days from end of month (2015: thirty days from end of month). Trade receivables 
relate mostly to Junket operators. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has 
a certain concentration of credit risk at 20% (2015: 18%) of the total trade and other 
receivables that were due from the five largest operators.

The Group recognises impairment losses on trade and other receivables in 
accordance with the policy in note 4(e)(i). The Group has a credit policy in place and 
the exposure to credit risk is monitored on a regular basis. The Group grants credit 
facilities, on an unsecured basis, to selected Junket VIP operators. Credit evaluations 
are performed on all customers requesting credit facilities.

The Group does not provide any guarantees which would expose the Group to 
credit risk.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(d) Liquidity risk

The contractual maturities of financial liabilities of the Group are shown as below:

2016 2015
$’000 $’000

Less than one year 36,969 34,824

(e) Interest rate risk
To date the Group’s funding requirements have largely been met by cash flows 
generated from its operations. In respect of income from monetary assets, effective 
interest rates and terms are as follows:

2016 2015
Effective Effective

interest One year interest One year
rate or less rate or less

% $’000 % $’000

Bank deposits
 – On demand 0.01 to 0.8 149,340 0.01 to 0.8 46,994
 – Fixed term of 7 days 
   or less N/A – 0.12 10,069
 – Within one year 1.20 to 1.80 35,250 1.60 to 10.67 58,322

  

184,590 115,385
Promissory Notes 6.6 8,647 6.6 6,885

  

193,237 122,270
  

The Group has no significant interest bearing assets except fixed rate bank deposits 
and the Promissory Notes detailed in notes 20 and 16 respectively. The Group policy 
is to manage its interest rate risk, working within an agreed framework, to ensure 
that there are no unduly exposures to significant interest rate movements and rates 
are approximately fixed when necessary. The directors considered that the Group’s 
cash flow interest rate risk is minimal.
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27 Risk management (continued)
(f) Foreign currency risk

The Group’s income is principally earned in United States dollars. The Group’s 
expenditure is principally paid in United States dollars and to a lesser extent in 
Cambodian Riels and Russian Ruble. The Group does not therefore have significant 
exposure to foreign currency risk. The Group does not enter into currency hedging 
transactions since it considers that the cost of such instruments outweigh the 
potential cost of exchange rate fluctuations.

(g) Fair values
Financial instruments not measured at fair value include Promissory Notes, cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables. The 
carrying values of these financial instruments approximately fair values.

28 Related party transactions
In addition to the information disclosed in the note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements, significant transactions entered into between the Group and its related parties 
are as follows:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Basic salaries, housing and other allowances and 
 benefits in kind 7,491 8,497
Bonus 893 792

 

8,384 9,289
 

(b) Others (note)
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Travel expenses – 36
Expenses paid on behalf of related companies – 118

 

Note: The Group transacted with related companies, the controlling beneficiary of which 
is Dr Chen, the ultimate controlling shareholder of the Company, for the provision of 
travel and tour services and hotel accommodation to the Group and expenses paid on 
behalf of the related companies.

As at 31 December 2016, amounts due from related companies of $263,000 (2015: 
$413,000) are included in trade and other receivables as disclosed in note 17 to 
the consolidated financial statements. The balance is unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand. The maximum balance during the Year was $413,000 (2015: 
$413,000).
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29 Ultimate controlling party
At 31 December 2016, Dr Chen owned equity interests in 958,945,297 ordinary shares out 
of the 2,459,988,875 issued ordinary shares of the Company, of which 7,150,000 ordinary 
shares were beneficially owned by Dr Chen and the remaining 951,795,297 ordinary shares 
were indirectly held by a discretionary trust named ChenLa Foundation. By virtue of being 
the founder of ChenLa Foundation, Dr Chen was taken to be interested in the 951,795,297 
ordinary shares held by ChenLa Foundation.

30 Possible impact of amendments and new or revised standards 
issued but not yet effective for the annual accounting year ended  
31 December 2016
Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements, the IASB has issued 
the following amendments and new or revised standards which are not yet effective for 
the annual accounting year ended 31 December 2016, potentially relevant to the Group’s 
financial statements, and have not been early adopted in these consolidated financial 
statements.

IFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements 2014-2016 Cycles5

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows1

Amendments to IAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 
 Unrealised Losses1

Amendments to IFRS 2 Classification and Measurement of 
 Share-Based Payment2

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments2

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers2

Amendments to IFRS 15 Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from 
 Contracts with Customers2

IFRS 16 Leases3

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture4

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and 
 Advance Consideration2

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019
4 The amendments were originally intended to be effective for periods beginning on or after 

1 January 2016. The effective date has now been deferred/removed. Early application of the 
amendments of the amendments continue to be permitted.

5 The amendments to IFRS 1 and IAS 28 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after  
1 January 2018; the amendment to IFRS 12 is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2017.
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30 Possible impact of amendments and new or revised standards 
issued but not yet effective for the annual accounting year ended 31 
December 2016 (continued)
Amendments to IAS 7 – Statement of Cash Flows
The amendments introduce an additional disclosure that will enable users of financial 
statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

Amendments to IAS 12 – Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses
The amendments relate to the recognition of deferred tax assets and clarify some of the 
necessary considerations, including how to account for deferred tax assets related to debt 
instruments measured of fair value.

Amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
The amendments provide requirements on the accounting for the effects of vesting and 
non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments; 
share-based payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax 
obligations; and a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-based payment that 
changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled.

IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. Debt instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is to hold 
assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (the business model test) and that have 
contractual terms that give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest on the principal amount outstanding (the contractual cash flow characteristics 
test) are generally measured at amortised cost. Debt instruments that meet the contractual 
cash flow characteristics test are measured at fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVTOCI”) if the objective of the entity’s business model is both to hold and 
collect the contractual cash flows and to sell the financial assets. Entities may make an 
irrevocable election at initial recognition to measure equity instruments that are not held 
for trading at FVTOCI. All other debt and equity instruments are measured at fair value 
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”).

IFRS 9 includes a new expected loss impairment model for all financial assets not 
measured at FVTPL replacing the incurred loss model in IAS 39 and new general hedge 
accounting requirements to allow entities to better reflect their risk management activities 
in financial statements.

IFRS 9 carries forward the recognition, classification and measurement requirements 
for financial liabilities from IAS 39, except for financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, 
where the amount of change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk of the 
liability is recognised in other comprehensive income unless that would create or enlarge 
an accounting mismatch. In addition, IFRS 9 retains the requirements in IAS 39 for 
derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities.
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30 Possible impact of amendments and new or revised standards 
issued but not yet effective for the annual accounting year ended 31 
December 2016 (continued)
IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with customers
The new standard establishes a single revenue recognition framework. The core principle 
of the framework is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to 
which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. IFRS 
15 supersedes existing revenue recognition guidance including IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 
Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

IFRS 15 requires the application of a 5 steps approach to revenue recognition:

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to each performance obligation
Step 5: Recognise revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied

IFRS 15 includes specific guidance on particular revenue related topics that may change 
the current approach taken under IFRS. The standard also significantly enhances the 
qualitative and quantitative disclosures related to revenue.

Amendments IFRS 15 – Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with 
customers
The amendments to IFRS 15 included clarifications on identification of performance 
obligations; application of principal versus agent; licenses of intellectual property; and 
transition requirements.



167NagaCorp Ltd. 2016 Annual Report

30 Possible impact of amendments and new or revised standards 
issued but not yet effective for the annual accounting year ended 31 
December 2016 (continued)
IFRS 16 – Leases
IFRS 16, which upon the effective date will supersede IAS 17 – Leases and related 
interpretations, introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to 
recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more 12 months, unless 
the underlying asset is of low value. Specifically, under IFRS 16, a lessee is required to 
recognise a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset 
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. Accordingly, a 
lessee should recognise depreciation of the right-of-use asset and interest on the lease 
liability, and also classifies cash repayments of the lease liability into a principal portion 
and an interest portion and presents them in the statement of cash flows. Also, the 
right-of-use asset and the lease liability are initially measured on a present value basis. The 
measurement includes non-cancellable lease payments and also includes payments to be 
made in optional periods if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise an option to extend 
the lease, or to exercise an option to terminate the lease. This accounting treatment is 
significantly different from the lessee accounting for leases that are classified as operating 
leases under the predecessor standard, IAS 17.

In respect of the lessor accounting, IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor 
accounting requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as 
operating leases or finance leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 – Sale or Contribution of Assets between an 
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments clarify the extent of gains or losses to be recognised when an entity 
sells or contributes assets to its associate or joint venture. When the transaction involves 
a business the gain or loss is recognised in full, conversely when the transaction involves 
assets that do not constitute a business the gain or loss is recognised only to the extent of 
the unrelated investors’ interests in the joint venture or associate.

Amendments to IFRIC 22 – Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration
IFRIC 22 clarifies the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the exchange 
rate to use on initial recognition of related asset, expense or income, when an entity has 
received or paid advance consideration in a foreign currency.
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31 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
(i) Impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts

The policy for impairment allowance for bad and doubtful debts on trade and 
other receivables of the Group is based on the evaluation of recoverability and 
outstanding period of accounts, and on management’s judgement. A considerable 
amount of judgement is required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these 
receivables, including the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of 
each customer, including Junket VIP operators and local operators. In determining 
whether impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the Group makes 
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a 
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from individual trade and 
other receivables. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the 
amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly.

(ii) Recognition of the 2016 EGM fee
Part of the Group’s income is generated from the 2016 EGM fee from an investor 
for placing gaming machines in NagaWorld (note 6). IFRS requires that recognition 
criteria are applied to separately identifiable components of a single transaction in 
order to reflect the substance of the transaction and the selling price is allocated 
to the identified components. In assessing the consideration being allocated to 
the 2016 EGM fee, management exercised judgement and estimates on identifying 
components in the transaction (including the 2016 EGM fee) based on the nature, 
terms and commercial substances of the transaction; and estimating the fair values 
of the total consideration and each of the identified components.

(iii) Measurement of a reliable estimate of such additional obligation payment
As mentioned in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements, Casino Law which 
is to cover taxation of gaming activities in Cambodia, has yet to be promulgated. 
Significant management judgement on measurement of a reliable estimate of 
additional obligation payment is required and is dependent on future development 
of this matter. The Group carefully evaluates tax exposure of transactions occurred 
during the Year and observes the development of the Casino Law to exercise such 
judgement.
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32 Contingent Liabilities
Based on the formula stated in Clause 3.3 of the service agreement entered into between 
the Company and Dr Chen, the CEO, the parties acknowledge and agree that Dr Chen will 
be entitled to the 2015 Bonus Entitlement of $8,051,000 and the 2016 Bonus Entitlement 
of $9,011,037 for the financial years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016.

Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 1 February 2016, the Board considered 
the matter relating to the payment of the 2015 Bonus Entitlement and resolved to appeal 
to the generosity and good judgement of Dr Chen to defer such obligation. The Company 
and Dr Chen agreed that it was in the interests of the Company to defer the 2015 Bonus 
Entitlement to subsequent years until the achievement of certain key performance 
indicators (the “KPIs”) set for the year ended 31 December 2016. The Company and Dr 
Chen agreed that subject to the achievement of the KPIs, the deferral of the 2015 Bonus 
Entitlement should be extended to the financial year ended 31 December 2016 and the 
financial year ending 31 December 2017 and beyond at the sole election of Dr Chen and 
that the parties shall negotiate in good faith a reasonable timeframe which is in the best 
interests of the Company. Pursuant to a resolution passed by the Board on 8 February 
2017, the Board further resolved to appeal to the generosity and good judgement of Dr 
Chen to defer the 2015 Bonus Entitlement. The Company and Dr Chen agreed that it is 
in the interests of the Company to further defer the 2015 Bonus Entitlement until the 
achievement of certain KPIs set for the year ending 31 December 2017.

Pursuant to the resolution passed by the Board on 8 February 2017, the Board also 
considered the matter relating to the 2016 Bonus Entitlement and resolved to appeal to 
the generosity and good judgement of Dr Chen to defer the 2016 Bonus Entitlement. The 
Company and Dr Chen agreed that it is in the interests of the Company to defer the 2016 
Bonus Entitlement to subsequent years until the achievement of certain KPIs set for the 
year ending 31 December 2017. The Company and Dr Chen agreed that subject to the 
achievement of the KPIs, the deferral of the 2016 Bonus Entitlement should be extended 
to the financial year ending 31 December 2017 and that the parties should negotiate 
in good faith a reasonable timeframe which is in the best interests of the Company. For 
record purposes, Dr Chen has foregone bonus of $18,600,000 from the financial years 2010 
to 2014.

Except for the above, and as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, 
there were no other contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2016.

33 Non-cash transaction
As detailed in note 23, certain assets and liabilities of the Citywalk Group and TanSriChen 
Inc. were acquired at the respective acquisition dates by the Group. The considerations 
of the acquisitions were satisfied by the issuance of the Convertible Bonds at fair value of 
$94,622,000 and $284,266,000 respectively.
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34 Statement of financial position of the Company
2016 2015

$’000 $’000

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 338 335
Investments in subsidiaries 394,391 15,503

394,729 15,838

Current assets

Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 724 657
Amounts due from subsidiaries 321,479 272,387
Cash and cash equivalents 73,160 18,267

395,363 291,311

Current liabilities

Accruals and other payables 947 553
Amounts due to subsidiaries 53 3

1,000 556

Net current assets 394,363 290,755

NET ASSETS 789,092 306,593

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Share capital (Note) 30,750 28,375
Reserves 758,342 278,218

TOTAL EQUITY 789,092 306,593

Approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 8 February 2017

Timothy Patrick McNally Philip Lee Wai Tuck
Chairman Chief Financial Officer
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34 Statement of financial position of the Company (continued)
Note:

Capital and reserves of the Company

Share
capital

Treasury
shares

Share
premium

Convertible
bonds

Capital
redemption

reserve

Capital
contribution

reserve
Accumulated

losses Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2015 28,526 (9,004) 287,936 – – 55,000 (41,320) 321,138
Purchase of own shares – (494) – – – – – (494)
Cancellation of 
 treasury shares (151) 9,498 (9,498) – 151 – – –
Profit for the year – – – – – – 94,486 94,486
Dividend declared 
 and paid – – – – – – (108,537) (108,537)

At 31 December 2015 28,375 – 278,438 – 151 55,000 (55,371) 306,593

At 1 January 2016 28,375 – 278,438 – 151 55,000 (55,371) 306,593
Issues of shares under 
 placement 2,375 – 120,207 – – – – 122,582
Share placement 
 expenses – – (2,664) – – – – (2,664)
Convertible bonds 
 issued – – – 378,888 – – – 378,888
Profit for the year – – – – – – 101,767 101,767
Dividend and 
 distribution declared 
 and paid – – – – – – (118,074) (118,074)

        

At 31 December 2016 30,750 – 395,981 378,888 151 55,000 (71,678) 789,092
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2012 2013 2014 2015 2016
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Consolidated statement of income
Revenue 278,762 344,946 404,298 503,655 531,558

Profit attributable to owners of 
 the Company 113,141 140,290 136,086 172,623 184,159

Basic Earnings per share (US cents) 5.43 6.28 5.96 7.58 7.89

Diluted Earnings per share (US cents) 5.43 6.28 5.96 7.58 7.04

Dividend
Interim dividend declared 31,438 43,996 47,334 60,612 62,938
Final dividend proposed after the end of 
 reporting period 53,172 54,207 47,925 42,962 20,051

Total dividend attributable to the year 84,610 98,203 95,259 103,574 82,989

Dividend per share (US cents) 3.84 4.31 4.18 4.56 3.59

Consolidated statement of financial 
 position
Property, plant and equipment and 
 interest in leasehold lands held for 
 own use under operating lease 238,200 270,731 337,839 408,388 837,415
Intangible assets 80,389 76,842 73,295 69,748 66,201
Other non-current assets 14,436 21,627 15,059 54,577 102,105
Net current assets 68,874 230,759 199,307 153,863 245,260

Employment of capital 401,899 599,959 625,500 686,576 1,250,981

Represented by:
Share capital 26,026 28,526 28,526 28,375 30,750
Treasury shares – – (9,004) – –
Reserves 375,873 571,433 605,978 658,201 1,220,231

Shareholders’ funds 401,899 599,959 625,500 686,576 1,250,981
Other non-current liabilities – – – – –

Capital employed 401,899 599,959 625,500 686,576 1,250,981

Net assets per share (US cents) 19.30 26.29 27.55 30.25 50.85
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the annual general meeting of NagaCorp Ltd. (the “Company”) 
will be held at Regus Conference Centre, 35/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong 
Kong on Tuesday, 25 April 2017 at 10:00 a.m. for the following:

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company 
and the reports of the directors and independent auditor for the year ended 31 December 
2016 (the “Year”).

2. To declare a final dividend in respect of the Year.

3. To re-elect the following retiring directors of the Company:

i. Mr. Chen Yepern as an executive director of the Company.

ii. Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir as an independent 
non-executive director of the Company.

iii. Mr. Lim Mun Kee as an independent non-executive director of the Company.

4. To approve the directors’ remuneration for the Year and to authorize the board of directors 
to fix the directors’ remuneration for the year ending 31 December 2017.

5. To re-appoint BDO Limited as independent auditor of the Company and to authorize the 
board of directors to fix its remuneration.

6. To consider and, if thought fit, pass with or without amendments, the following resolutions 
as ordinary resolutions:

(A) “That:

(i) subject to paragraph (A)(iii) below, the exercise by the directors of the 
Company (the “Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) 
of all powers of the Company to allot, issue or otherwise deal with additional 
shares of the Company (the “Shares”) or securities convertible into Shares, or 
options, warrants or similar rights to subscribe for Shares or such convertible 
securities of the Company and to make or grant offers, agreements and/or 
options (including bonds, warrants and debentures convertible into Shares) 
which may require the exercise of such powers, be and is hereby generally 
and unconditionally approved;

(ii) the approval in paragraph (A)(i) above shall be in addition to any other 
authorisation given to the Directors and shall authorise the Directors during 
the Relevant Period to make or grant offers, agreements and/or options 
which may require the exercise of such powers after the end of the Relevant 
Period;
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(iii) the aggregate number of Shares allotted or agreed conditionally or 
unconditionally to be allotted (whether pursuant to an option or otherwise) 
and issued by the Directors during the Relevant Period pursuant to paragraph 
(A)(i) above, otherwise than pursuant to (1) a Rights Issue (as hereinafter 
defined) or (2) the grant or exercise of any option under the option scheme 
of the Company or any other option, scheme or similar arrangement for the 
time being adopted for the grant or issue to officers and/or employees of the 
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries of shares or rights to acquire Shares; 
or (3) any scrip dividend or similar arrangement providing for the allotment of 
Shares in lieu of the whole or part of a dividend on Shares in accordance with 
the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) in 
force from time to time; or (4) any issue of Shares upon the exercise of rights 
of subscription or conversion under the terms of any existing convertible 
notes issued by the Company or any existing securities of the Company 
which carry rights to subscribe for or are convertible into Shares, shall not 
exceed 20% of the total number of issued Shares as at the date of passing 
this resolution and the said approval shall be limited accordingly; and

(iv) for the purpose of this resolution:

(a) “Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this resolution 
until whichever is the earliest of:

(1) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the 
Company;

(2) the expiration of the period within which the next annual 
general meeting of the Company is required by any applicable 
laws or the Articles of Association to be held; or

(3) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this 
resolution by an ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the 
Company in general meeting; and

(b) “Rights Issue” means an offer of Shares, or offer or issue of warrants, 
options or other securities giving rights to subscribe for Shares open 
for a period fixed by the Directors to holders of Shares whose names 
appear on the register of members on a fixed record date in proportion 
to their holdings of Shares (subject to such exclusion or other 
arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or expedient in 
relation to fractional entitlements or, having regard to any restrictions 
or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements of, or the expense 
or delay which may be involved in determining the exercise or extent 
of any restrictions or obligations under the laws of, or the requirements 
of, any jurisdiction applicable to the Company, any recognised 
regulatory body or any stock exchange applicable to the Company).”
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(B) “That:

(i) subject to paragraph (B)(ii) below, the exercise by the directors of the 
Company (the “Directors”) during the Relevant Period (as hereinafter defined) 
of all the powers of the Company to repurchase the issued shares of the 
Company (the “Shares”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”) or on any other stock exchange on which the Shares 
may be listed and recognized for this purpose by the Securities and Futures 
Commission of Hong Kong (the “Commission”) and the Stock Exchange and, 
subject to and in accordance with all applicable laws, the Code on Share Buy-
backs issued by the Commission and the requirements of the Rules Governing 
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, be and is hereby generally 
and unconditionally approved;

(ii) the aggregate number of the Shares, which the Company is authorised to 
repurchase pursuant to the approval in paragraph (B)(i) above shall not 
exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares at the date of passing of this 
resolution, and the said approval shall be limited accordingly;

(iii) subject to the passing of each of the paragraphs (B)(i) and (ii) of this 
resolution, any prior approvals of the kind referred to in paragraphs (B)(i) and 
(ii) of this resolution which had been granted to the Directors and which are 
still in effect be and are hereby revoked; and

(iv) for the purpose of this resolution:

 “Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this resolution until 
whichever is the earliest of:

(a) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company;

(b) the expiration of the period within which the next annual general 
meeting of the Company is required by any applicable laws or the 
articles of association of the Company to be held; or

(c) the revocation or variation of the authority given under this resolution 
by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the Company in general 
meeting.”
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(C) “That conditional upon the resolutions numbered 6(A) and 6(B) as set out in the 
notice convening this meeting being passed, the general mandate granted to the 
directors of the Company (the “Directors”) to exercise the powers of the Company to 
allot, issue and otherwise deal with additional shares of the Company (the “Shares”) 
and to make or grant offers, agreements and options which may require the exercise 
of such powers pursuant to the ordinary resolution numbered 6(A) above be and 
is hereby extended by the addition to the aggregate number of Shares which may 
be allotted by the Directors pursuant to such general mandate of the aggregate 
number of Shares repurchased by the Company under the authority granted 
pursuant to ordinary resolution numbered 6(B) as set out in the notice convening 
this meeting, provided that such amount shall not exceed 10% of the total number 
of issued Shares at the date of passing of this resolution.”

By Order of the Board of Directors
Timothy Patrick McNally

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2017

Registered Office: 
Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681
Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Principal Place of Business in Hong Kong: 
Suite 2806, 28/F
Central Plaza
18 Harbour Road
Wanchai
Hong Kong
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Notes:

(i) Resolution numbered 6(C) will be proposed to the shareholders for approval provided that ordinary 
resolutions numbered 6(A) and 6(B) are first passed by the shareholders of the Company (the 
“Shareholders”).

(ii) A Shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the above meeting is entitled to appoint another 
person as proxy to attend and, on a poll, vote in accordance with the articles of association of the 
Company. A proxy need not be a Shareholder.

(iii) In the case of joint holders, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, 
will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s); and for this purpose 
seniority shall be determined as the person so present whose name stands first on the register of 
members in respect of such share shall alone be entitled to vote in respect thereof.

(iv) In order to be valid, a form of proxy must be deposited at the Hong Kong share registrar of the 
Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong together with the power of attorney or other authority (if 
any) under which it is signed (or a certified copy thereof ) not later than 48 hours before the time 
appointed for the holding of the above meeting or any adjournment thereof. The completion and 
return of the form of proxy shall not preclude members of the Company from attending and voting 
in person at the above meeting (or any adjourned meeting thereof ) if they so wish.

(v) The Company’s register of members will be closed during the following period:

(a) on Monday, 24 April 2017 and Tuesday, 25 April 2017, both days inclusive, for the purpose of 
ascertaining the Shareholders’ entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. 
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the annual general meeting, all duly completed 
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for 
registration with the Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited located at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, 
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 
Friday, 21 April 2017; and
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(b) on Tuesday, 2 May 2017, for the purpose of ascertaining Shareholders’ entitlement to the final 
dividend. In order to qualify for the final dividend, all duly completed transfer documents 
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged for registration with the 
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong 
Kong Investor Services Limited located at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 28 April 2017. The 
Company’s shares will be traded ex-entitlement from and including Thursday, 27 April 2017.

(vi) In respect of the ordinary resolution numbered 6(A) above, the directors of the Company (the 
“Directors”) state that they have no immediate plans to issue any new shares of the Company. 
Approval is being sought from the Shareholders as a general mandate for the purposes of the 
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing 
Rules”).

(vii) In respect of ordinary resolution numbered 6(B) above, the Directors state that they will exercise the 
powers conferred by the general mandate to repurchase shares of the Company in circumstances 
which they deem appropriate for the benefits of Shareholders. The Explanatory Statement containing 
the information necessary to enable Shareholders to make an informed decision on whether to 
vote for or against the resolution to approve the repurchase by the Company of its own shares, as 
required by the Listing Rules, is set out in Appendix II to the accompanied circular dated 17 March 
2017.

As at the date of this notice, the Directors are:

Executive Directors
Tan Sri Dr Chen Lip Keong, Philip Lee Wai Tuck, Chen Yiy Fon and Chen Yepern

Non-executive Director
Timothy Patrick McNally

Independent Non-executive Directors
Tan Sri Datuk Seri Panglima Abdul Kadir Bin Haji Sheikh Fadzir, Lim Mun Kee and Michael Lai Kai Jin
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